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Forward-Looking Statements

In this report, the term “Company” refers to CaliberCos Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. The “Consolidated Funds” refers to the Companies consolidated variable
interest entities. The “Consolidated Company”, “Caliber”, “we”, “us”, and “our” refers to the Company and the Consolidated Funds collectively.

This annual report on Form 10-K includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. We have based these forward-looking statements
largely on our current expectations and projections about future events and financial trends affecting the operating results and financial condition of our business. Forward-
looking statements should not be read as a guarantee of future performance or results and will not necessarily be accurate indications of the times at, or by, which such
performance or results will be achieved. Forward-looking statements are based on information available at the time those statements are made and/or management’s good faith
belief as of that time with respect to future events and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual performance or results to differ materially from those
expressed in or suggested by the forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause such differences include, but are not limited to, statements about:

• estimates of our expenses, future revenues, capital requirements and our needs for additional financing;
• our estimates of the size of our market opportunities;
• our ability to effectively manage our growth;
• our ability to successfully enter new markets, manage our growth expansion and comply with any applicable laws and regulations;
• the effects of increased competition from our market competitors;
• significant disruption in, or breach in security of, our information technology systems and resultant interruptions in service and any related impact on our reputation;
• the attraction and retention of qualified employees and key personnel;
• the effectiveness of our internal controls;
• changes in laws and government regulation affecting our business;
• the impact of adverse economic conditions;
• the sufficiency of our cash and cash equivalents to meet our liquidity needs and service our indebtedness; and
• outcomes of legal or administrative proceedings.

In addition, in this report, the words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” “predict,” “potential” and similar expressions, as
they relate to our Company, our business and our management, are intended to identify forward-looking statements. In light of these risks and uncertainties, the forward-looking
events and circumstances discussed in this report may not occur and actual results could differ materially from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report. You should not put undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. We assume no obligation to
update forward-looking statements to reflect actual results, changes in assumptions or changes in other factors affecting forward-looking information, except to the extent
required by applicable laws. If we update one or more forward-looking statements, no inference should be drawn that we will make additional updates with respect to those or
other forward-looking statements.

You should read this report and the documents that we reference in this report and have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) as exhibits to this
report with the understanding that our actual future results, levels of activity, performance and events and circumstances may be materially different from what we expect.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

General

Over the past 15 years, Caliber has grown into a leading diversified alternative asset management firm, managing more than $3.1 billion in assets under management
(“AUM”) and assets under development (“AUD”). Caliber’s primary goal is to enhance the wealth of accredited investors seeking to make investments in middle-market assets.
We strive to build wealth for our clients by creating, managing, and servicing middle-market investment funds, private syndications, and direct investments. Through our funds,
we invest primarily in real estate, private equity, and debt facilities. We market and fundraise to private investors, family offices, and institutions (“Direct Channel”) and to
registered investment advisers and independent broker-dealers (“Wholesale Channel”).

We believe that we provide investors attractive risk-adjusted returns by offering a balance of (i) structured offerings and ease of ownership, (ii) a pipeline of investment
opportunities, primarily projects that range in value between $5.0 million and $50.0 million, and (iii) an integrated execution and processing platform. Our investment strategy
leverages the local market intelligence and real-time data we gain from our operations to evaluate current investments, generate proprietary transaction flow, and implement
various asset management strategies.

As an alternative asset manager, we offer a full suite of support services and employ a vertically integrated approach to investment management. Our asset management
activities are complemented with transaction and advisory services, including development and construction management, acquisition and disposition expertise, and fund
formation, which we believe differentiate us from other asset management firms. We earn the following fees from providing these services under our asset management
platform:

• Fund set-up fees are a one-time fee for the initial formation, administration, and set-up of fund products we distribute and manage. These fees are recognized at the point
in time when the performance under the contract is complete.

• Fund management fees are generally based on 1.0% to 1.5% of the unreturned capital contributions in a particular fund and include reimbursement for costs incurred on
behalf of the fund, including an allocation of certain overhead costs. These customer contracts require the Company to provide management services, representing a
performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time. With respect to the Caliber Hospitality Trust (as defined in Note 3 – VIEs), the Company earns an fund
management fee of 0.70% of the Caliber Hospitality Trust’s enterprise value and is reimbursed for certain costs incurred on behalf of the Caliber Hospitality Trust.

• Financing fees are earned for services the Company performs in securing third-party financing on behalf of our private equity real estate funds. These fees are recognized
at the point in time when the performance under the contract is complete, which is essentially upon closing of a loan. In addition, the Company earns fees for guarantying
certain loans, representing a performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time.

• Real estate development revenues are generally based on 4.0% of the total expected costs of the development or 4.0% of the total expected costs of the construction
project for services performed as the principal developer, which include managing and supervising third-party developers and general contractors with respect to the
development of the properties owned by the funds. Prior to the commencement of construction, development fee revenue is recognized at a point in time as the related
performance obligations are satisfied and the customer obtains control of the promised service, including negotiation, due diligence, entitlements, planning, and design
activities. During the construction period, development fee revenue is recognized over time as the performance obligations are satisfied.

• Brokerage fees are earned at a point in time at fixed rates for services performed related to acquisitions, dispositions, leasing, and financing transactions.
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• Performance allocations are an arrangement in which we are entitled to an allocation of investment returns, generated within the investment funds which we manage,
based on a contractual formula. We typically receive 15.0% to 35.0% of all cash distributions from (i) the operating cash flow of each fund, after payment to the related
fund investors of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns and repayment of preferred capital contributions; and (ii) the cash flow resulting from the sale or
refinance of any real estate assets held by each fund, after payment to the related fund investors of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns and repayment
of initial preferred capital contributions. Our funds’ preferred returns range from 6.0% to 12.0%, typically 6.0% for common equity or 10.0% to 12.0% for preferred
equity, which does not participate in profits. Performance allocations are related to services which have been provided and are recognized when it is determined that they
are no longer probable of significant reversal, which is generally satisfied when an underlying fund investment is realized or sold.

We have a number of development, redevelopment, construction, and entitlement projects that are underway or are in the planning stages, which we define as AUD. This
category includes projects to be built on undeveloped land and projects to be built and constructed on undeveloped lands, which are not yet owned by our funds but are under
contract to purchase. Completing these development activities may ultimately result in income-producing assets, assets we may sell to third parties, or both. As of December 31,
2023, we are actively developing 2,986 multifamily units, 2,386 single family units, 2.8 million square feet of commercial and industrial, and 1.3 million square feet of office
and retail. If all of these projects are brought to completion, the total cost capitalized to these projects, which represents total current estimated costs to complete the
development and construction of such projects by us or a third party, is $2.3 billion, which we expect would be funded through a combination of undeployed fund cash, third-
party equity, project sales, tax credit financing and similar incentives, and secured debt financing. We are under no obligation to complete these projects and may dispose of any
such assets at any time. There can be no assurance that AUD will ultimately be developed or constructed because of the nature of the cost of the approval and development
process and market demand for a particular use. In addition, the mix of residential and commercial assets under development may change prior to final development. The
development of these assets will require significant additional financing or other sources of funding, which may not be available.

Investment Process and Risk Management

We maintain a rigorous investment process across all our funds. Each fund has investment policies and procedures that generally contain investment parameters and
requirements, such as limitations relating to the types of assets, industries or geographic regions in which the fund will invest. An investment committee reviews and evaluates
investment opportunities in a framework that includes a qualitative and quantitative assessment of the key opportunities and risks of investments.

Our investment professionals are responsible for the full life cycle of an investment, from evaluation, through execution, to exit. Investment professionals generally submit
investment opportunities for review and approval by our investment committee. The investment committee is comprised of executives and senior leaders of the Company. When
evaluating investment opportunities, the investment committee may consider, without limitation and depending on the nature of the investment and its strategy, the quality of
the asset in which the fund proposes to invest, likely exit strategies, factors that could reduce the value of the asset at exit, and a range of economic and interest rate
environments, macroeconomic trends in the relevant geographic region or industry and the quality of the asset’s business operations. Our investment committee also
incorporates, to the extent appropriate, environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) factors into the investment decision-making process.

Existing investments are reviewed and monitored on a regular basis by investment and asset management professionals. In addition, our investment professionals and asset
managers work directly with our portfolio companies’ directors, executives and managers to drive operational efficiencies and growth.

Capital Invested In and Alongside Our Investment Funds

To further align our interests with those of investors in our investment funds, we have invested our own capital and that of certain of our personnel in the investment funds
that we sponsor and manage. Minimum general partner capital commitments to our investment funds are determined separately with respect to each of our investment funds and,
generally, are less than 5% of the limited partner commitments of any particular fund. We determine whether to make general partner capital commitments to our funds in
excess of the minimum required commitments based on, among other things, our anticipated liquidity, working capital and other capital needs.
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Investors in many of our funds also receive the opportunity to make additional “co-investments” with the investment funds. Our employees, as well as Caliber itself, also
have the opportunity to make investments, in or alongside our funds and other vehicles we manage, in some instances without being subject to management fees, carried interest
or incentive fees. In certain cases, limited partner investors may pay additional management fees or carried interest in connection with such co-investments.

Competition

The asset management industry is intensely competitive. We compete primarily on a regional, industry and asset class basis.

We face competition both in the pursuit of fund investors and investment opportunities. Generally, our competition varies across business lines, geographies, and financial
markets. We compete for outside investors based on a variety of factors, including investment performance, investor perception of investment managers’ drive, focus and
alignment of interest, quality of service provided to and duration of relationship with investors, business reputation, and the level of fees and expenses charged for services.

We compete for investment opportunities based on a variety of factors, including breadth of market coverage and relationships, access to capital, transaction execution
skills, the range of products and services offered, innovation, and price.

We compete with real estate funds, specialized funds, hedge fund sponsors, financial institutions, private equity funds, corporate buyers, and other parties. Many of these
competitors are substantially larger and have considerably greater financial, technical, and marketing resources than are available to us. Many of these competitors have similar
investment objectives to ours, which may create additional competition for investment opportunities. Some of these competitors may also have a lower cost of capital and access
to funding sources that are not available to us, which may create competitive disadvantages for us with respect to investment opportunities. In addition, some of these
competitors may have higher risk tolerances, different risk assessments or lower return thresholds, which could allow them to consider a wider variety of investments and to bid
more aggressively than us for investments that we want to make. Corporate buyers may be able to achieve synergistic cost savings with regard to an investment that may
provide them with a competitive advantage in bidding for an investment.

The alternative investment industry is highly competitive. Many of our competitors have greater financial resources and a broader market presence than we do. We
compete with respect to:

• Competitive fee structures on our asset management services; and

• Diversification of our revenue stream across the deal continuum, including asset management revenues which include brokerage fees on buying and selling assets,
construction management fees on repositioning assets, fund set up fees for the initial formation, administration, and set-up of fund products we distribute and manage.

Strategy and Competitive Strengths

We manage and administer investment vehicles that allow investors to diversify their holdings into asset classes that would not be readily accessible to them otherwise. We
typically distribute cash to fund investors where there is either: (i) sufficient distributable cash derived from the income of our investments (rents, etc.) or (ii) a capital event,
such as a sale of an asset or a cash-out refinance. Caliber’s approach is to offer investors, and their wealth managers, products managed by a team aligned with their success. We
believe our competitive strengths include:

• Extensive relationship and sourcing network. We leverage our relationships in order to source deals for our funds. In addition, our management has extensive
relationships with major industry participants in each of the markets in which we currently operate. Their local presence and reputation in these markets enables them to
cultivate key relationships with major holders of property inventory, in particular, financial institutions, throughout the real estate community.

• Targeted market opportunities.  We primarily focus on business and investment-friendly markets that have a long-term trend of population growth and income
improvement, in particular focus on Alaska, Arizona, Colorado, and Texas. We generally avoid engaging in direct competition in over-regulated and saturated markets.

• Structuring expertise and speed of execution. We believe we have developed a reputation of being able to quickly execute, as well as originate and creatively structure
acquisitions, dispositions and financing transactions. We have experience in a variety of investment strategies, including direct property investments, joint ventures,
participating loans and investments in performing and non-performing mortgages with the objective of long-term ownership.
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• Vertically integrated platform for operational enhancement. We believe in a hands-on approach to real estate investing and possess local expertise in brokerage,
development management, and investment sales, which we believe enable us to invest successfully in select submarkets. Our goal is to optimize the use of in-house
services for high margin, low volume tasks while using third-party services for high volume, low margin tasks.

• Focus on the middle market. We believe our focus on middle market opportunities offers our investors significant alternatives to active, equity investing. This focus has
allowed us to offer a diversified range of alternative investment opportunities, particularly for accredited investors.

• Risk protection and investment discipline. We underwrite our investments based upon an examination of investment economics and an understanding of market
dynamics and risk management strategies. We conduct an in-depth sensitivity analysis on each of our fund investments. This analysis applies various economic
scenarios that include, where appropriate, changes to rental rates, absorption periods, operating expenses, interest rates, exit values and holding periods.

Our Growth Strategy

We aim to continue building wealth for our investors by expanding our business with the following strategies:

• Organic growth with our existing high net worth investor base. We estimate that we currently service less than 1.0% of the current high net worth investor base in the
United States. Using our established direct sales method, we intend to attract additional high net worth individuals to expand our number of customers and our assets
under management.

• Expansion into additional distribution channels. We intend to expand Caliber’s recent, early success in accessing institutional channels by further expanding our
fundraising activities directed to registered investment advisers (RIA), broker-dealers, family offices, and boutique institutions.

• New funds and platforms. We intend to grow our assets under management (“AUM”) by expanding the number of available funds and platforms. We will look for
complementary products and vehicles that utilize our existing vertically integrated infrastructure to allow us to continue to capture attractive risk-adjusted returns. These
areas of investment could include private debt, venture capital and private equity. We expect these new funds and platforms will attract new investors, in addition to
leveraging our existing investor base.

• Accretive acquisitions. We plan to evaluate potential accretive acquisition opportunities to further grow our business. These acquisitions could include opportunities to
expand our distribution capabilities, product offerings or geographic reach.

Human Capital Management

Caliber’s core principles of accountability, respect, and transparency are at the heart of who we are and how we operate. Our employees are integral to Caliber’s culture of
transparency, integrity, professionalism, and excellence. Our employees adhere to these core principles leading to our continued success as an organization. Our professionals
have decades of institutional experience in commercial, real estate, capital markets, alternative investments, and mergers and acquisitions. We give our employees the
opportunities to develop their skills and encourage them to collaborate to achieve success.

As of December 31, 2023, we had 99 employees. None of our employees are currently covered by a collective bargaining agreement.

Talent Acquisition, Development and Retention

We face intense competition for qualified personnel. We believe the talent of our employees, in association with our rigorous investment process, has supported our growth
and investment performance over the past decade. We are focused on hiring, training, and developing the skills and careers of our people. We provide opportunities for growth
and development for our employees and support their personal and professional goals in an effort to retain the most talented individuals.

We value diversity and inclusion on our team. The opportunities we provide in conjunction with our reputation is what we believe makes us an attractive employer. We
seek to retain and incentivize the performance of our employees through our compensation structure. We enter into non-competition and non-solicitation agreements with
certain employees.
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Compensation and Benefits

Our compensation strategy is designed to attract qualified talent, retain team members, and stay competitive within the talent market. Caliber continually evaluates our
compensation structure to ensure it aligns with the market and continues to be an attractive component of joining our team. Compensation includes incentives for individual
performance as well as overall success in meeting the Company’s goals. We believe these additional incentives encourage team members to perform at a high level.

We provide our team members with competitive health and retirement offerings, as well as a variety of quality-of-life benefits, including flexible time-off, an employee
assistance program at no cost to the employee, a Company match for retirement plan contribution, tuition reimbursement, and overall support for well-being and family planning
resources.

Regulatory and Compliance Matters

Our businesses, as well as the financial services industry generally, are subject to extensive regulation, including periodic examinations, by governmental agencies and self-
regulatory organizations or exchanges in the jurisdictions in which we operate relating to, among other things, anti-money laundering laws, and privacy laws with respect to
client information, and some of our funds invest in businesses that operate in highly regulated industries. Each of the regulatory bodies with jurisdiction over us oversee many
aspects of financial services, including the authority to grant, and in specific circumstances to revoke, permissions to engage in particular activities. Any failure to comply with
these rules and regulations could expose us to liability and/or reputational damage. The SEC and various self-regulatory organizations, state securities regulators, and
international securities regulators have in recent years increased their regulatory activities, including regulation, examination, and enforcement in respect of asset management
firms. Additional legislation, increasing regulatory oversight of fundraising activities, changes in rules promulgated by self-regulatory organizations or exchanges or changes in
the interpretation or enforcement of existing laws and rules may directly affect our mode of operation and profitability.

We intend to continue to conduct our operations so that neither we nor any subsidiaries we own nor ones we may establish will be required to register as an investment
company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (“Investment Company Act”). The loss of our exclusion from regulation pursuant to the Investment
Company Act could require us to restructure our operations, sell certain of our assets, or abstain from the purchase of certain assets, which could have an adverse effect on our
financial condition and results of operations. If we were deemed an “investment company” under the Investment Company Act, applicable restrictions could make it impractical
for us to continue our business as conducted and could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Website and Available Information

We file annual, quarterly and current reports; proxy and information statements and other information with the SEC. We also make our annual report on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all related amendments, available free of charge through our website at www.caliberco.com as soon as
reasonably practical after they have been filed with the SEC. We also provide to anyone, without charge, copies of the documents upon written request. Requests should be
directed to the attention of the Corporate Secretary at our address on the cover page of this Form 10-K.

We are an electronic filer. The SEC maintains an internet website at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding
issuers, such as us, that file electronically with the SEC.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our Class A common stock involves a high degree of risk and investors should carefully consider the following risk factors, as well as the other information in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, in evaluating the Company and our business. If any of the following risks actually occurs, our business, results of operations and financial
condition could be materially adversely affected. In this case, the trading price of our Class A common stock would likely decline, and investors might lose part or all their
investment in our Class A common stock.

Risks Related to Our Business

Our business depends in large part on our ability to raise capital for our funds from investors. If we were unable to raise such capital, we may be unable to grow our
asset management revenues. The inability to deploy such capital into investments, may materially reduce our revenues and cash flows and adversely affect our financial
condition.

We depend on the capital markets to grow our assets under management, (“AUM”) and we depend on third-party equity and debt financings to acquire properties for our
funds. We intend to continue to raise a significant amount of equity and debt to acquire various alternative investments for our funds in the ordinary course of our business. Our
debt financing depends on a combination of seller financing, the assumption of existing loans, government agencies, and financial institutions. We depend on equity financing
from equity partners, which may include public or private companies, pension funds, family offices, financial institutions, endowments, high net worth individuals, and money
managers. Our access to capital funding for our funds is uncertain. Our inability to raise additional capital for our funds on terms reasonably acceptable to us could jeopardize
the future growth of our business.

Our ability to raise capital from investors in our funds depends on several factors, including many that are outside our control. Investors may downsize their investment
allocations to alternative asset managers, including private funds and hedge funds, to rebalance a disproportionate weighting of their overall investment portfolio among asset
classes. Poor performance of our funds could also make it more difficult for us to raise new capital. Our investors and potential investors continually assess our funds’
performance independently and relative to market benchmarks and our competitors, and our ability to raise capital for existing and future funds depends on our funds’
performance. The financial markets are affected by many factors, such as U.S. and foreign economic conditions and general trends in business and finance that are beyond our
control, which could be adversely affected by changes in the equity or debt marketplaces, unanticipated changes in currency exchange rates, interest rates, inflation rates, the
yield curve, financial crises, changes in regulation, war, terrorism, natural disasters and other factors that are difficult to predict. The markets continue to be affected by inflation
in the United States, global health pandemics, the imposition of sanctions and the escalation of hostilities between Russia and Ukraine, the Israel-Hamas conflict, and the
recession in the United Kingdom. In the event that the U.S. or international financial markets suffer a severe or prolonged downturn or increased volatility, our funds’
investments may lose value and investors may choose to withdraw assets from our funds and use the assets to pay expenses or transfer them to investments that they perceive to
be more secure, such as bank deposits and Treasury securities. If economic and market conditions deteriorate, we may be unable to raise sufficient capital to support the
investment activities of future funds. If we are unable to successfully raise capital, our revenues and cash flows would be reduced, and our financial condition would be
adversely affected.

Changes in prevailing interest rates may reduce our profitability, and we may not be able to adequately anticipate and respond to changes in market interest rates.

The majority of our funds’ assets are monetary in nature and subject to risk from changes in interest rates. Our earnings and cash flows depend to a great extent upon the
difference between the interest our funds pay on loans and borrowings and the value of fixed-rate debt investments made by our funds. Depending on the terms and maturities of
our assets and liabilities, a significant change in interest rates could have a material adverse effect on our profitability. In addition, rising interest rates, coupled with periods of
significant equity and credit market volatility may potentially make it more difficult for us to find attractive opportunities for our funds to exit and realize value from their
existing investments.
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Interest rates remained at relatively low levels on a historical basis and the U.S. Federal Reserve maintained the federal funds target range at 0.0% to 0.25% for much of
2020 and 2021. The Federal Reserve raised interest rates by an aggregate of 525 basis points from January 1, 2022 through January 31, 2024. Additionally, the current
geopolitical environment in Europe provides yet another layer of uncertainty around the actions that the Federal Reserve might take. Market interest rates are affected by many
factors outside of our control, including governmental monetary policies, domestic and international economic conditions, inflation, deflation, recession, changes in
unemployment, the money supply, international disorder and instability in domestic and foreign financial markets. Rising interest rates create downward pressure on the price of
real estate, increase the cost and reduce the availability of debt financing for the transactions our funds pursue and decrease the value of fixed-rate debt investments made by our
funds, each of which may have an adverse impact on our business.

Increased costs of borrowing could also cause us to reconsider the purchase of certain real estate assets, the terms of any such purchase or the mix of debt and equity we
employ in connection with such purchase. Such issues are expected to be more prevalent in a continued rising interest rate environment. A higher interest rate environment may
lead to a significant contraction or weakening in the market for debt financing or have other adverse changes relating to the terms of debt financing (such as, for example, higher
equity requirements and/or more restrictive covenants), particularly in the area of acquisition financings for private equity and real estate transactions, which could have a
material adverse impact on our business. In a rising interest rate environment, the financing of acquisitions or the operations of our funds’ portfolio companies with debt may
also become less attractive due to the cost of capital or limitations on the deductibility of corporate interest expense. If our funds are unable to obtain committed debt financing
for potential acquisitions, can only obtain debt financing at an increased interest rate or on unfavorable terms, or the ability to deduct corporate interest expense is substantially
limited, our funds may face increased competition from strategic buyers of assets who may have an overall lower cost of capital or the ability to benefit from a higher amount of
cost savings following an acquisition, or may have difficulty completing otherwise profitable acquisitions or may generate profits that are lower than would otherwise be the
case, each of which could lead to a decrease in our revenues.

In addition, if our funds are unable to obtain committed debt financing for potential acquisitions or can only obtain debt financing at an increased interest rate or on
unfavorable terms, this would require us to employ a higher mix of equity to acquire real estate assets. The cost of equity in a rising interest rate environment may also become
more expensive, and we may be required to offer a higher rate of return on equity in order to finance such assets. This in turn would adversely affect our profitability from such
assets. While to date our funds’ borrowing costs have not substantially increased, as rates continue to increase, our ability to use leverage as a financing tool or to pass along any
increased costs of borrowing or financing will become more difficult, all of which could have an adverse effect on our profitability.

Inflation can have an adverse impact on our business and on our customers.

Inflation risk is the risk that the value of assets or income from investments will be worth less in the future as inflation decreases the value of money. The annual inflation
rate in the United States increased to 9.1% in June 2022, the highest rate since November 1981, but decreased to 3.4% in December 2023. As a result, from January 1, 2022
through January 31, 2024, the Federal Reserve increased the federal funds rate by 525 basis points. For project execution, inflation has increased the cost of nearly all building
materials and labor types, increasing the cost of construction and renovation of our funds’ assets. Furthermore, third parties we do business with, such as developers and
contractors, are also affected by inflation and the rising costs of goods and services used in their businesses. A significant and continued increase in interest rates and inflation
would be expected to have a negative impact on their ability to do business with us, which would affect our profitability.
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Adverse developments affecting the financial services industry, such as actual events or concerns involving liquidity, defaults, or non-performance by financial
institutions or transactional counterparties, could adversely affect our current and projected business operations and our financial condition and results of operations.

Actual events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other adverse developments that affect financial institutions, transactional counterparties or other
companies in the financial services industry or the financial services industry generally, or concerns or rumors about any events of these kinds or other similar risks, have in the
past and may in the future lead to market-wide liquidity problems. For example, on March 10, 2023, Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”) was closed by the California Department of
Financial Protection and Innovation, which appointed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) as receiver. Similarly, on March 12, 2023, Signature Bank and
Silvergate Capital Corp. (“Silvergate Capital”), and then on May 1, 2023, First Republic Bank, were each swept into receivership. Although a statement by the Department of
the Treasury, the Federal Reserve and the FDIC indicated that all depositors of SVB would have access to all of their money after only one business day of closure, including
funds held in uninsured deposit accounts, borrowers under credit agreements, letters of credit and certain other financial instruments with any financial institution that is placed
into receivership by the FDIC may be unable to access undrawn amounts thereunder. Although we are not a borrower or party to any such instruments with SVB, Signature
Bank, First Republic Bank or any other financial institution currently in receivership, if any of our lenders or counterparties to any such instruments were to be placed into
receivership, we may be unable to access such funds. In addition, if any of our customers, suppliers or other parties with whom we conduct business are unable to access funds
pursuant to such instruments or lending arrangements with such a financial institution, such parties’ ability to pay their obligations to us or to enter into new commercial
arrangements requiring additional payments to us could be adversely affected. In this regard, counterparties to SVB, Signature Bank or First Republic Bank credit agreements
and arrangements, and third parties such as beneficiaries of letters of credit (among others), may experience direct impacts from the closures of SVB, Signature Bank and First
Republic Bank and uncertainty remains over liquidity concerns in the broader financial services industry. Similar impacts have occurred in the past, such as during the 2008-
2010 financial crisis. We hold no deposits or securities with SVB, Signature Bank, First Republic Bank or Silvergate Capital.

A decline in the pace of growth or size of investment made by our funds may adversely affect our revenues.

Revenues we derive from our asset management and related services are driven in part by the pace at which our funds make investments and the size of those investments.
A decline in the pace or the size of such investments may reduce our revenues. The pace of our investments could decline due to, among other factors, the market environment
for private equity transactions, which has at times been characterized by relatively high prices, and such market changes make the deployment of capital more difficult. In
addition, many other factors could cause a decline in the pace of investment, including the inability of our investment professionals to identify attractive investment
opportunities, competition for such opportunities among other potential acquirers, decreased availability of capital on attractive terms, and our failure to consummate identified
investment opportunities because of business, regulatory or legal complexities or uncertainty and adverse developments in the U.S. or global economy or financial markets. In
addition, if our funds are unable to deploy capital at a pace that is sufficient to offset the pace of realizations, our fee revenues could decrease.

Our revenue, earnings, net income, and cash flows can all vary materially, which may make it difficult for us to achieve steady earnings growth on a quarterly basis
and may cause the price of our Class A common stock to decline.

We have in the past and may in the future experience fluctuations in our results, including our revenue and net income, from quarter to quarter due to a number of other
factors, including timing of realizations, changes in the amount of distributions or interest paid in respect of investments, changes in our operating expenses, the degree to which
we encounter competition and general economic and market conditions. Achieving steady growth in net income and cash flow on a quarterly basis may be difficult, which could
in turn lead to large adverse movements or general increased volatility in the price of our Class A common stock. We also do not provide any guidance regarding our expected
quarterly and annual operating results. The lack of near term guidance may affect the expectations of public market analysts and could cause increased volatility in our Class A
common stock price.

We have incurred operating losses and negative operating cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2023, and may incur operating losses and negative cash flows in
future periods. In response to these conditions, and the absence of sufficient cash to satisfy the debt obligations referenced below under “- We have an amount of total liabilities
which may be considered significant for a company of our size which could adversely affect our financial condition and our ability to react to changes in our business”,
management plans to i) negotiate extensions of such loans or refinance such debt, ii) obtain new financing, iii) reduce operating costs, iv) collect receivables and return
investments from our Consolidated Funds, and/or v) increase capital raise through continued expansion of fundraising channels.
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Our revenue, net income, and cash flows can all vary materially due to performance allocations (income earned with respect to our carried interest is recorded as
performance allocations) in any fiscal period. Performance allocations depend on our funds’ performance and opportunities for realizing gains, which may be limited. Our cash
flow may fluctuate significantly due to the fact that we receive performance allocations from our carry funds only when portfolio companies make distributions in excess of
preferred return hurdles, or when investments are realized and achieve a minimum preferred return. It takes a substantial period of time to identify attractive investment
opportunities, to raise all the funds needed to make an investment, to manage the performance of the investment, and then to realize the cash value (or other proceeds) of an
investment through a sale, public offering, recapitalization or other exit. Even if an investment proves to be profitable, it may be several years before any profits can be realized
in cash (or other proceeds). We cannot predict with certainty exactly when, or if, any performance allocations will or may occur.

In addition, upon the realization of a profitable investment by any of our funds and prior to our receiving any performance allocations in respect of that investment, 100%
of the net proceeds from such realization must generally be paid to the investors in that fund until they have achieved a certain return on all realized investments by that fund. A
particular realization event may have a significant impact on our results for that particular quarter that may not be replicated in subsequent quarters. We recognize revenue on
investments in our investment funds based on our allocable share of realized gains (or losses) reported by such investment funds, and a decline in gains, or an increase in losses,
would adversely affect our revenue and possibly cash flow, which could further increase the volatility of our quarterly results. Because our carry funds have preferred return
thresholds to investors that need to be met prior to our receiving any performance allocations, substantial declines in the carrying value of the investment portfolios of a fund
can significantly delay or eliminate any performance allocations paid to us in respect of that fund since the value of the assets in the fund would need to recover to their
aggregate cost basis plus the preferred return over time before we would be entitled to receive any performance allocations from that fund.

The timing and receipt of performance allocations also varies with the life cycle of our funds. During periods in which a relatively large portion of our assets under
management are attributable to funds and investments in their “optimized” period, our funds would make larger distributions than in the fundraising or investment periods that
precede the optimized period. During periods in which a significant portion of our assets under management is attributable to funds that are not in their optimized periods, we
may receive substantially lower performance allocations.

We could lose part or all of our investments, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

There is an inherent risk that we could lose all or part of our investment in certain assets. Our investments are generally illiquid, which may affect our ability to change our
asset mix in response to changes in economic and other conditions. The value of our investments can also be diminished by:

• civil unrest, acts of war and terrorism and acts of God, including earthquakes, hurricanes, and other natural disasters (which may result in uninsured or underinsured
losses);

• the impact of present or future legislation (including environmental regulation, changes in laws concerning foreign ownership of property, changes in tax rates, changes
in zoning laws and laws requiring upgrades to accommodate disabled persons) and the cost of compliance with these types of legislation; and

• liabilities relating to claims, to the extent insurance is not available or is inadequate.

We have an amount of total liabilities which may be considered significant for a company of our size which could adversely affect our financial condition and our
ability to react to changes in our business.

The Company had individual corporate notes aggregating $36.4 million at December 31, 2023 for which the maturity dates of the majority of these notes are within the 12-
month period subsequent to when the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 were issued. We currently do not have sufficient cash on hand to satisfy such
obligations.

We believe this is an amount of total liabilities which may be considered significant for a company of our size and current revenue base. Our substantial total liabilities
could have important consequences to us. For example, it could:

• require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations to make payments on our debt, which would reduce the availability of our cash flows from
operations to fund working capital, capital expenditures or other general corporate purposes;
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• increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions, including interest rate fluctuations;

• place us at a competitive disadvantage to our competitors with proportionately less debt for their size;

• limit our ability to refinance our existing debt or borrow additional funds in the future;

• limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changing conditions in our business; and

• limit our ability to react to competitive pressures or make it difficult for us to carry out capital spending that is necessary or important to our growth strategy.

Any of the foregoing impacts of our substantial total liabilities could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our debt or refinance our obligations and may be forced to take other actions to satisfy our obligations
under such indebtedness, which may not be successful.

We require cash to (a) provide capital to facilitate the growth of our existing businesses, (b) co-investment into our funds, if any, (c) service our debt and (d) pay operating
expenses and other obligations as they arise. There is no guarantee that in the future we will generate enough working capital to support our business. Our ability to repay our
total liabilities, including our ability to make scheduled payments on our debt or to refinance our obligations under our debt agreements, will depend on our financial and
operating performance, which, in turn, will be subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to the financial and business risk factors we face as described in
this section, many of which may be beyond our control. If the global economy and conditions in the financing markets worsen, our fund investment performance could suffer,
resulting in, for example, the payment of less or no performance allocations to us. This could materially and adversely affect the amount of cash we have on hand.

If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to repay our total liabilities, including the ability to fund our debt service obligations, we may be forced to reduce or
delay capital expenditures or planned growth objectives, seek to obtain additional equity capital or restructure our debt. We may also need additional cash resources in the future
if we find and wish to pursue opportunities for investment, acquisition, capital expenditures or similar actions. If we determine that our cash requirements exceed the amount of
cash and cash equivalents we have on hand at the time, we may seek to issue additional equity or debt securities or obtain credit facilities. If we issue additional equity securities
to raise funds, whether to existing investors or others, the ownership percentage of our existing stockholders would be reduced. New investors may demand rights, preferences,
or privileges senior to those of existing holders of common stock. We may also be limited as to the amount of funds we can raise pursuant to SEC rules and the continued listing
requirements of Nasdaq. The incurrence of indebtedness would result in increased fixed obligations and could result in operating covenants that would restrict our operations.
We cannot assure you that financing will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all.

In the future, our cash flows and capital resources may not be sufficient for payments of interest on and principal of our debt, and such alternative measures may not be
successful and may not permit us to meet scheduled debt service obligations. In addition, the recent worldwide credit crisis could make it more difficult for us to repay our total
liabilities, including the ability to refinance our debt on favorable terms, or at all. In the absence of positive operating results and/or sufficient cash resources, we may be
required to dispose of material assets to repay our total liabilities, including the ability to meet our debt service obligations. We may not be able to consummate those sales, or,
if we do, we will not control the timing of the sales or whether the proceeds that we realize will be adequate to repay our total liabilities, including the ability to meet debt
service obligations when due.

The historical returns attributable to our funds should not be considered as indicative of the future results of our funds or of our future results or of any returns
expected on an investment in our Class A common stock.

An investment in our Class A common stock is not an investment in any of our funds. You should not conclude that positive performance of our funds will necessarily
result in positive returns on an investment in our Class A common stock. The historical performance of our funds is relevant to us primarily insofar as it is indicative of asset
management revenues and performance allocations we have earned in the past and may earn in the future and our reputation and ability to raise new funds.

In addition, the historical returns of our funds may not be indicative of any future returns of these or from any future funds we may raise due to several factors including:

• market conditions during previous periods may have been more favorable for generating positive performance than the market conditions we may experience in the
future; and
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• our funds’ returns may have previously benefited from investment opportunities and general market conditions that may not recur, and we may not be able to achieve the
same returns or profitable investment opportunities or deploy capital as quickly.

We may be subject to litigation risks and may face liabilities and damage to our professional reputation as a result of investment decisions on behalf of investors in our
funds.

We make investment decisions on behalf of investors in our funds that could result in substantial losses. This may subject us to the risk of legal liabilities or actions
alleging negligent misconduct, breach of fiduciary duty, or breach of contract. Further, we may be subject to third-party litigation arising from allegations that we improperly
exercised control or influence over portfolio investments.

These and other legal liabilities could have a material adverse effect on our businesses, financial condition, our results of operations, or cause reputational harm to us,
which could harm our businesses. We depend, to a large extent, on our business relationships and our reputation for integrity and professional services to attract and retain
investors and to pursue investment opportunities for our funds. As a result, allegations of improper conduct by private litigants or regulators, whether the ultimate outcome is
favorable or unfavorable to us, as well as negative publicity and press speculation about us, our investment activities, or the investment industry in general, whether or not valid,
may harm our reputation, which may be damaging to our businesses.

Actions of any joint venture partners that we may have could reduce the returns on joint venture investments.

At times we enter joint ventures or partnerships to acquire and develop properties. Such investments may involve risks not otherwise present with other methods of
investment, including:

• that our co-venturer, or partner in an investment could become insolvent or bankrupt;

• that such co-venturer, or partner may at any time have economic or business interests or goals that are or that become inconsistent with our business interests or goals;

• that such co-venturer, or partner may be in a position to take action contrary to our instructions, requests or our policies or objectives; or

• that disputes between us and our co-venturer, or partner, may result in litigation or arbitration that would increase expenses.

Any of the above might subject a property to liabilities in excess of those contemplated and thus reduce our returns on that investment.

Our reliance on third parties to operate and to develop certain of our properties may harm our business.

In some instances, we rely on third-party property managers and hotel operators to manage our properties. These third parties are directly responsible for the day-to-day
operation of our properties with limited supervision by us, and they often have potentially significant decision-making authority with respect to those properties. These third
parties may fail to manage our properties effectively or in accordance with their agreements with us, may be negligent in their performance and may engage in criminal or
fraudulent activity. If any of these events occur, we could incur losses or face liabilities from the loss or injury to our property or to persons at our properties. In addition,
disputes may arise between us and these third-party managers and operators, and we may incur significant expenses to resolve those disputes or terminate the relevant
agreement with these third parties and locate and engage competent and cost-effective service providers to operate and manage the relevant properties.

In addition, we are also parties to hotel management agreements. If any of these events occur, our relationships with any franchisors may be damaged, we may be in breach
of our franchise agreement, and we could incur liabilities resulting from loss or injury to our property or to persons at our properties. From time to time, disputes may arise
between us and our third-party managers regarding their performance or compliance with the terms of the hotel management agreements, which in turn could adversely affect
us. If we are unable to resolve such disputes through discussions and negotiations, we may choose to terminate our management agreement, litigate the dispute or submit the
matter to third-party dispute resolution, the expense of which may be material and the outcome of which may harm our business, operating results or prospects.

Changes in relevant tax laws, regulations, treaties, or an adverse interpretation of these items by tax authorities could adversely impact our effective tax rate and tax
liability.
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Our effective tax rate and tax liability is based on the application of current income tax laws, regulations and treaties. These laws, regulations and treaties are complex, and
the manner which they apply to us and our funds is sometimes open to interpretation. Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income
taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against our net deferred tax assets. Although management believes its application of current
laws, regulations and treaties to be correct and sustainable upon examination by the tax authorities, the tax authorities could challenge our interpretation resulting in additional
tax liability or adjustment to our income tax provision that could increase our effective tax rate. In particular, changes in legislation or regulation relating to opportunity zones
could adversely affect our ability to form new opportunity zone funds or to acquire assets for our existing opportunity zone funds, thereby diminishing our ability to generate
revenue from those activities.

Conflicts of interest exist between our Company and related parties.

Conflicts of interest exist and may arise in the future as a result of the relationships between our Company and its affiliates and divisions and our officers, directors and
owners, on the one hand, and our funds and its investors, on the other hand. We earn fees from our funds, including our carried interest which value is a direct result from the
performance of our funds. There may be instances where the interests of our funds and the investors in such funds diverge from those of our Company which could result in
conflicts of interest. In resolving these conflicts, our board of directors and executive officers have a fiduciary duty to our stockholders. In addition, as we operate as a fund
manager through a wholly owned subsidiary, our Company has a fiduciary duty to investors in the funds we manage. Unless the resolution of a conflict is specifically provided
for in the operating agreements of such funds, our board of directors may consider a wide range of factors they determine to be in good faith when resolving a conflict. An
independent third party is not required to evaluate the resolution. As a result of the foregoing, there may be instances where any such conflicts are resolved in a manner which
favors the interests of our funds and their investors over our stockholders.

Risk management activities may adversely affect the return on our funds’ investments.

When managing our exposure to market risks, we may (on our own behalf or on behalf of our funds) from time to time use forward contracts, options, swaps, caps, collars
and floors, or pursue other strategies or use other forms of derivative instruments to limit our exposure to changes in the relative values of investments that may result from
market developments, including changes in prevailing interest rates, currency exchange rates and commodity prices. The success of any hedging or other derivative transactions
generally will depend on our ability to correctly predict market changes, the degree of correlation between price movements of a derivative instrument, the position being
hedged, the creditworthiness of the counterparty and other factors. As a result, while we may enter into a transaction in order to reduce our exposure to market risks, the
transaction may result in poorer overall investment performance than if it had not been executed. Such transactions may also limit the opportunity for gain if the value of a
hedged position increases.

While such hedging arrangements may reduce certain risks, such arrangements themselves may entail certain other risks. These arrangements may require the posting of
cash collateral at a time when a fund has insufficient cash or illiquid assets such that the posting of the cash is either impossible or requires the sale of assets at prices that do not
reflect their underlying value. Moreover, these hedging arrangements may generate significant transaction costs, including potential tax costs, that reduce the returns generated
by a fund. Finally, the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the “CFTC”) may in the future require certain foreign exchange products to be subject to mandatory clearing,
which could increase the cost of entering into currency hedges.

Our real estate funds are subject to the risks inherent in the ownership, development, and operation of real estate.

Investments in our real estate funds will be subject to the risks inherent in the ownership and operation of real estate and real estate-related businesses and assets, including
the deterioration of real estate fundamentals. These risks include, but are not limited to, those associated with the burdens of ownership of real property, general and local
economic conditions, changes in supply of and demand for competing properties in an area (as a result, for instance, of overbuilding), fluctuations in the average occupancy and
room rates for hotel properties, operating income, the financial resources of tenants, changes in building, environmental, zoning and other laws, casualty or condemnation
losses, energy and supply shortages, various uninsured or uninsurable risks, natural disasters, climate change related risks (including climate-related transition risks and acute
and chronic physical risks), changes in government regulations (such as rent control), changes in real property tax rates, changes in income tax rates, changes in interest rates,
the reduced availability of mortgage funds which may render the sale or refinancing of properties difficult or impracticable, increased mortgage defaults, increases in borrowing
rates, changes to the taxation of business entities and the deductibility of corporate interest expense, negative developments in the economy that depress travel activity,
environmental liabilities, contingent liabilities on disposition of assets, acts of god, terrorist attacks, war and other factors that are beyond our control. In addition, if our real
estate funds acquire direct or indirect interests in undeveloped land or underdeveloped
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real property, which may often be non-income producing, they will be subject to the risks normally associated with such assets and development activities, including risks
relating to the availability and timely receipt of zoning and other regulatory or environmental approvals, the cost and timely completion of construction (including risks beyond
the control of our fund, such as weather, labor conditions, or material shortages), and the availability of both construction and permanent financing with favorable terms. In
addition, our real estate funds may also make investments in residential real estate projects and/or otherwise participate in financing opportunities relating to residential real
estate assets or portfolios thereof from time to time, which may be more susceptible to adverse changes in prevailing economic and/or market conditions and present additional
risks relative to the ownership and operation of commercial real estate assets.

Investments by our investment funds may rank junior to investments made by others.

In most cases, the companies in which our investment funds invest will have indebtedness or equity securities or may be permitted to incur indebtedness or to issue equity
securities that rank senior to our investment. By their terms, such instruments may provide that their holders are entitled to receive payments of dividends, interest or principal
on or before the dates on which payments are to be made in respect of our investment. Also, in the event of insolvency, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or bankruptcy of
a company in which an investment is made, holders of securities ranking senior to our investment would typically be entitled to receive payment in full before distributions
could be made in respect of our investment. After repaying senior security holders, the company may not have any remaining assets to use for repaying amounts owed in
respect of our investment. To the extent that any assets remain, holders of claims that rank equally with our investment would be entitled to share on an equal and ratable basis
in distributions that are made out of those assets. Also, during periods of financial distress or following an insolvency, the ability of our investment funds to influence a
company’s affairs and to take actions to protect their investments may be substantially less than that of the senior creditors.

Rapid growth of our businesses may be difficult to sustain and may place significant demands on our administrative, operational, and financial resources.

Our assets under management have grown significantly in the past, and we are pursuing further growth in the near future, both organically and through acquisitions. Our
rapid growth has placed, and planned growth, if successful, will continue to place, significant demands on our legal, accounting and operational infrastructure, and has increased
expenses. The complexity of these demands, and the expense required to address them, is a function not simply of the amount by which our assets under management has
grown, but of the growth in the variety and complexity of, as well as the differences in strategy between, our different funds. In addition, we are required to continuously
develop our systems and infrastructure in response to the increasing sophistication of the investment management market and legal, accounting, regulatory, and tax
developments.

Our future growth will depend in part on our ability to maintain an operating platform and management system sufficient to address our growth and will require us to incur
significant additional expenses and to commit additional senior management and operational resources.

We depend on our founders, senior professionals, and other key personnel, and our ability to retain them and attract additional qualified personnel is critical to our
success and our growth prospects.

We depend on the diligence, skill, judgment, business contacts and personal reputations of our founders, senior professionals and other key personnel. Our future success
will depend upon our ability to attract and retain senior professionals and other personnel. Our executives have built highly regarded reputations in the alternative investment
industry. Our executives attract business opportunities and assist both in negotiations with lenders and potential joint venture partners and in the representation of large and
institutional clients. If we lost their services, our relationships with lenders, joint ventures, and clients would diminish significantly.

In addition, some of our officers have strong regional reputations, and they aid in attracting business, identifying opportunities, and negotiating for us and on behalf of our
clients. As we continue to grow, our success will largely depend on our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel in all areas of business. We may be unable to continue to
hire and retain a sufficient number of qualified personnel to support or keep pace with our planned growth.
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We may expand into new investment strategies, geographic markets and businesses, each of which may result in additional risks and uncertainties in our businesses.

We intend, if market conditions warrant, to grow our businesses by increasing assets under management in existing businesses and expanding into new investment
strategies, geographic markets and businesses. We may pursue growth through acquisitions of critical business partners or other strategic initiatives, which may include entering
into new lines of business.

Attempts to expand our businesses involve a number of special risks, including some or all of the following:

• the required investment of capital and other resources;

• the diversion of management’s attention from our core businesses;

• the assumption of liabilities in any acquired business;

• the disruption of our ongoing businesses;

• entry into markets or lines of business in which we may have limited or no experience;

• increasing demands on our operational and management systems and controls;

• compliance with additional regulatory requirements;

• potential increase in investor concentration; and

• the broadening of our geographic footprint, increasing the risks associated with conducting operations in certain jurisdictions where we currently have no experience.

Entry into certain lines of business may subject us to new laws and regulations with which we are not familiar, or from which we are currently exempt, and may lead to
increased litigation and regulatory risk. If a new business does not generate sufficient revenues or if we are unable to efficiently manage our expanded operations, our results of
operations will be adversely affected. Our strategic initiatives may include joint ventures, in which case we will be subject to additional risks and uncertainties in that we may be
dependent upon, and subject to liability, losses or reputational damage relating to systems, controls and personnel that are not under our control. Because we have not yet
identified these potential new investment strategies, geographic markets or lines of business, we cannot identify all of the specific risks we may face and the potential adverse
consequences on us and their investment that may result from any attempted expansion.

We may not be successful in competing with companies in the asset management industry and alternative investment industries, some of which may have substantially
greater resources than we do.

The asset management industry and alternative investment industries are intensely competitive. We compete primarily on a regional, industry, and asset class basis.

We face competition both in the pursuit of fund investors and investment opportunities. Generally, our competition varies across business lines, geographies, and financial
markets. We compete for outside investors based on a variety of factors, including investment performance, investor perception of investment managers’ drive, focus and
alignment of interest, quality of service provided to and duration of relationship with investors, business reputation, and the level of fees and expenses charged for services.

We compete for investment opportunities based on a variety of factors, including breadth of market coverage and relationships, access to capital, transaction execution
skills, the range of products and services offered, innovation, and price.
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We compete with real estate funds, specialized funds, hedge fund sponsors, financial institutions, private equity funds, corporate buyers, and other parties. Many of these
competitors are substantially larger and have considerably greater financial, technical, and marketing resources than are available to us. Many of these competitors have similar
investment objectives to ours, which may create additional competition for investment opportunities. Some of these competitors may also have a lower cost of capital and access
to funding sources that are not available to us, which may create competitive disadvantages for us with respect to investment opportunities. In addition, some of these
competitors may have higher risk tolerances, different risk assessments or lower return thresholds, which could allow them to consider a wider variety of investments and to bid
more aggressively than us for investments that we want to make. Corporate buyers may be able to achieve synergistic cost savings with regard to an investment that may
provide them with a competitive advantage in bidding for an investment.

If we are unable to maintain and protect our intellectual property, or if third parties assert that we infringe their intellectual property rights, our business could suffer.

Our business depends, in part, on our ability to identify and protect proprietary information and other intellectual property such as our client lists and information and
business methods. We rely on a combination of trade secrets, confidentiality policies, non-disclosure and other contractual arrangements and copyright and trademark laws to
protect our intellectual property rights. However, we may not adequately protect these rights, and their disclosure to, or use by, third parties may harm our competitive position.
Our inability to detect unauthorized use of, or to take appropriate or timely steps to enforce, our intellectual property rights may harm our business.

Also, third parties may claim that our business operations infringe on their intellectual property rights. These claims may harm our reputation, cost us money to defend,
distract the attention of our management and prevent us from offering some services.

Confidential intellectual property is increasingly stored or carried on mobile devices, such as laptop computers, which increases the risk of inadvertent disclosure where the
mobile devices are lost or stolen and the information has not been adequately safeguarded or encrypted. This also makes it easier for someone with access to our systems, or
someone who gains unauthorized access, to steal information and use it to our disadvantage. Advances in technology, which permit increasingly large amounts of information to
be stored on mobile devices or on third-party “cloud” servers, may exacerbate these risks.

Security risks and attacks are common, increasing globally, and may result in significant liabilities.

Our business and our internal corporate information technology systems have in the past been, and will in the future be, subject to cybersecurity-attacks, credential stuffing,
account takeover attacks, denial or degradation of service attacks, phishing attacks, ransomware attacks, malicious software programs, supply chain attacks, and other
cybersecurity security risks (collectively, “cybersecurity risks”). Further, we engage service providers to store and otherwise process some of our and our investor’s data,
including sensitive and personal information, and these service providers are also targets of cybersecurity risks.

Cybersecurity risks have been increasing in frequency and sophistication globally and may be accompanied by demands for payment in exchange for resolution, restoration
of functionality, or return of data. Sources of cybersecurity risks range from individuals to sophisticated organizations, including state-sponsored actors and organizations. These
attackers use a wide variety of methods to exploit vulnerabilities and gain access to corporate assets, including networks, information, or credentials. The types and methods of
cybersecurity risks are constantly evolving and becoming more complex, and we may not be able to detect, combat, or successfully defend against all cybersecurity risks.
Attackers initiating cybersecurity risks may gain access to our corporate assets. Vulnerabilities in our infrastructure or the success of any cybersecurity attacker against us may
not be discovered in a timely fashion or at all, and the impact may be exacerbated the longer they remain undetected. While we utilize security measures and architecture
designed to protect the integrity of our business and corporate information technology environment, we remain subject to ongoing and evolving cybersecurity risks, and we
anticipate that we will need to continue expending resources in an effort to protect against cybersecurity risks. There is a risk that we may not be able to deploy, allocate, or
retain sufficient resources to keep pace with the persistent and evolving Cybersecurity threat landscape.

Moreover, several of our employees work remotely, and many of our vendors and other third parties we engage utilize remote workers in various jurisdictions throughout
the world, which may increase the risk of and susceptibility to cybersecurity risks. We cannot guarantee that remote work environments and electronic connections to our work
environment and information technology systems have the same security profile as those deployed in our physical offices.
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Further, our ability to monitor the data security of our vendors is limited, and bad actors may successfully circumvent our vendors’ security measures, resulting in the
unauthorized access to, or misuse, disclosure, loss, or destruction of our Company and/or our investor’s data. Any actual or perceived failure by us or our vendors to prevent or
defend against cybersecurity risks, actual or perceived vulnerabilities or unauthorized access to corporate data or systems may lead to claims against us and may result in
significant data loss, significant costs and liabilities, and could reduce our revenue, harm our reputation, and compromise our competitive position.

Our failure to sufficiently secure our business and services may result in unauthorized access to investor data, a negative impact on our investor attraction and
retention, and significant liabilities.

Our business systems and services involve the storage, transmission, and processing of our Company and investors’ sensitive and proprietary information. Our failure to
sufficiently secure our business and services may result in unauthorized access to investor data, a negative impact on our investor attraction and retention, and significant
liabilities. Even if our security measures are appropriately engineered and implemented to secure our business and services against external risks, we may be subject to
inadvertent disclosures because of inappropriate employee actions or system misconfigurations. Unauthorized use of or access to investor data could result in the loss and/or
compromise of our or our investors’ sensitive information, which could lead to litigation, regulatory investigations and claims, indemnity obligations, reputational harm, and
other liabilities.

Our agreements with third parties, including investors, contain contractual commitments related to our information security practices and data privacy compliance. If we
experience an incident that triggers a breach of these contractual commitments, we could be exposed to significant liability or cancellation of service under these agreements.
The damages payable to the counterparty could be substantial and create loss of business. There can be no assurance that any limitation of liability provisions in our contracts
will be enforceable or adequate or will otherwise protect us from these liabilities or damages with respect to any claim.

Many U.S. and foreign laws and regulations require companies to provide notice of data security breaches or incidents involving certain types of personal data. Security
compromises experienced by competitors and others may lead to public disclosures, leading to widespread negative publicity. Such a security compromise in our industry,
whether actual or perceived, could harm our reputation; erode investor confidence and negatively affect our ability to attract new investors; cause existing investors to divest,
any or all of which could adversely affect our business and operating results. Even the perception of inadequate security may damage our reputation and negatively impact our
ability to win new investors and retain existing investors.

Additionally, we could be required to expend significant capital and other resources to investigate and address any actual or suspected data security incident or breach. We
cannot be sure that insurers will not deny coverage as to any claim, and some security breaches may be outside the scope of our coverage, including if they are considered force
majeure events. Security breaches may result in increased costs for cybersecurity insurance and could have an adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial
condition.

We depend on various cloud service providers operated by third parties, and any service outages, delays, or disruptions in these operations could harm our business
and operating results.

In our business we use various cloud service providers (“Cloud Providers”) operated by third parties. As a result, we are vulnerable to service interruptions, delays, and
outages attributable to their platforms. Our Cloud Providers may experience events such as natural disasters, fires, power loss, telecommunications failures, or similar events.
The systems, infrastructure, and services of our Cloud Providers may also be subject to human or software errors, viruses, cybersecurity risks, fraud, spikes in usage, break-ins,
sabotage, acts of vandalism, acts of terrorism, and other misconduct. The occurrence of any of the foregoing events could result in lengthy interruptions or delays in and may
impact us via service outages and noncompliance with our contractual obligations or business requirements.

Further, we have experienced in the past, and may experience in the future, periodic interruptions, delays, and outages in service and availability with our Cloud Providers
due to a variety of factors, including Internet connectivity failures, infrastructure changes, human or software errors, website hosting disruptions, and capacity constraints.
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If we are unable to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our Class A common stock may decline.

As a public company, we are required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to report any material weaknesses in such internal control. In addition, in the
future, we will be required to furnish a report by management on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act beginning with our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024. We are in the process of designing, implementing, and testing our
internal control over financial reporting required to comply with this obligation, which is time consuming, costly, and complicated. In addition, our independent registered
public accounting firm may be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting beginning with our annual report on Form 10-K following
the date on which we are no longer an “emerging growth company,” which may be up to five full years following the date of our initial public offering. If we identify material
weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, if we are unable to comply with the requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner or assert that our internal control
over financial reporting is not effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to express an opinion as to the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting when required, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our Class A common
stock could be negatively affected, and we could become subject to investigations by the stock exchange on which our securities are listed, the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial and management resources.

Risks Related to Our Organizational Structure

The consolidation of investment funds or operating businesses of our portfolio companies could make it more difficult to understand the operating performance of the
Company and could create operational risks for the Company.

Under applicable generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”), we may be required to consolidate certain of our funds, limited
liability companies, partnerships or operating businesses if we determine that these entities are variable interest entities (“VIEs”) and where we determine that the Company is
the primary beneficiary of the VIE. The consolidation of such entities could make it difficult for an investor to differentiate the assets, liabilities, and results of operations of the
Company apart from the assets, liabilities, and results of operations of the consolidated VIEs. The assets of the consolidated VIEs are not available to meet our liquidity
requirements. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, total assets of our consolidated VIEs reflected in our consolidated balance sheets were $258.4 million and $254.8 million,
respectively, and as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, total liabilities of our consolidated VIEs reflected in our consolidated balance sheets were $169.9 million and $166.0
million, respectively.

Our Bylaws have an exclusive forum for adjudication of disputes provision which limits the forum to the Delaware Court of Chancery for certain stockholder litigation
matters actions against the Company, which may limit an investor’s ability to seek what they regard as a favorable judicial forum for disputes with the Company or its
directors, officers, employees, or stockholders.

Section 7.06(a) of Article VII of our Bylaws dictates that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Delaware Court of Chancery (or, if the
Delaware Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the State of Delaware) is, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the sole and exclusive forum
for certain actions including derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company; an action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty owed by an officer, director,
employee or to the stockholders of the Company; any claim arising under Delaware corporate law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and
restated bylaws; and any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of
capital stock of the Company shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to the provisions of Section 7.06 of Article VII of our Bylaws.

However, Section 7.06(a) of Article VII of our Bylaws will not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. To the extent that any such claims may be based upon federal law claims, Section
27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations
thereunder.
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Furthermore, unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America will be the
exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder. We note, however, that Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all suits brought to
enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. There is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce this provision and
that investors cannot waive compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.

A Delaware corporation is allowed to mandate in its corporate governance documents a chosen forum for the resolution of state law-based stockholder class actions,
derivative suits and other intra-corporate disputes. With respect to such state law claims, the Company’s management believes limiting state law-based claims to Delaware will
provide the most appropriate outcomes as the risk of another forum misapplying Delaware law is avoided, Delaware courts have a well-developed body of case law and limiting
the forum will preclude costly and duplicative litigation and avoids the risk of inconsistent outcomes. Additionally, Delaware Chancery Courts can typically resolve disputes on
an accelerated schedule when compared to other forums.

The choice of forum provisions contained in the Company’s Bylaws may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes
with the Company or any of its directors, officers, other employees or stockholders, which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims. Alternatively, the enforceability
of similar choice of forum provisions in other issuers’ bylaws and certificates of incorporation has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that in connection
with any applicable action brought against the Company, a court could find the choice of forum provisions contained in the Company’s Bylaws to be inapplicable or
unenforceable in such action. As a result, the Company could incur additional costs associated with resolving such actions in other jurisdictions, which could harm the
Company’s business, operating results and financial condition.

If we were deemed to be an “investment company” under the Investment Company Act, applicable restrictions could make it impractical for us to continue our
businesses as conducted and could have a material adverse effect on our businesses.

An entity will generally be deemed to be an “investment company” for purposes of the Investment Company Act if:

• it is or holds itself out as being engaged primarily, or proposes to engage primarily, in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities; or

• absent an applicable exemption, it owns or proposes to acquire investment securities having a value exceeding 40% of the value of its total assets (exclusive of U.S.
government securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis.

• Our exemptions from the registration requirements of an investment company under the Investment Company Act are threefold:

• Our parent company does not meet the asset test component of the definition of “investment company” under the Investment Company Act as summarized above;

• Our investment subsidiaries qualify under the exemption afforded by Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the Investment Company Act; and

• Our intermediate subsidiaries qualify under the exemption afforded by Section 3(c)(6) of the Investment Company Act.

We are engaged primarily in the business of investing in and providing services for real estate and real estate-related assets and not primarily in the business of investing,
reinvesting, or trading in securities. We hold ourselves out as a vertically integrated alternative asset management firm and do not propose to engage primarily in the business of
investing, reinvesting or trading in securities. Accordingly, we do not believe that we are required to register as an investment company for purposes of the Investment Company
Act. Furthermore, we have no material assets other than interests in certain wholly owned subsidiaries (within the meaning of the Investment Company Act), which in turn will
have either direct interests in real estate assets or limited liability company member or limited partner partnership interests in affiliated funds. We do not believe that, based on
current rules and interpretations, the equity interests in our wholly owned subsidiaries or the limited liability company member interests consolidated, or unconsolidated
affiliated funds qualify as investment securities under the Investment Company Act.
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The Investment Company Act and the rules thereunder contain detailed parameters for the organization and operation of investment companies. Among other things, the
Investment Company Act and the rules thereunder limit or prohibit transactions with affiliates, impose limitations on the issuance of debt and equity securities, generally
prohibit the issuance of options and impose certain governance requirements. We intend to conduct our operations so that we will not be deemed to be an investment company
under the Investment Company Act. If anything were to happen that would cause us to be deemed to be an investment company under the Investment Company Act,
requirements imposed by the Investment Company Act, including limitations on capital structure, the ability to transact business with affiliates and the ability to compensate
senior employees, could make it impractical for us to continue our businesses as currently conducted, impair the agreements and arrangements between and among us, our funds
and our senior management, or any combination thereof, and have a material adverse effect on our businesses, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, we may
be required to limit the amount of investments that we make as a principal or otherwise conduct our businesses in a manner that does not subject us to the registration and other
requirements of the Investment Company Act.

Extensive regulation of our businesses affects our activities and creates the potential for significant liabilities and penalties. The possibility of increased regulatory
focus could result in additional burdens on our business. Changes in tax law and other legislative or regulatory changes could adversely affect us.

Our fund management and ancillary businesses are subject to extensive regulation. We are subject to regulation, including periodic examinations, by governmental and self-
regulatory organizations in the jurisdictions in which we operate. Many of these regulators are empowered to conduct investigations and administrative proceedings that can
result in fines, suspensions of personnel or other sanctions, including censure, the issuance of cease-and-desist orders or the suspension or expulsion of a broker-dealer or
investment adviser from registration or membership. Even if an investigation or proceeding did not result in a sanction or the sanction imposed against us or our personnel by a
regulator were small in monetary amount, the adverse publicity relating to the investigation, proceeding or imposition of these sanctions could harm our reputation and cause us
to lose existing clients or fail to gain new fund management or financial advisory clients.

In addition, we regularly rely on exemptions from various requirements of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, or
the Investment Company Act, and the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, in conducting our fund management activities. These exemptions
are sometimes highly complex and may in certain circumstances depend on compliance by third parties whom we do not control. If for any reason these exemptions were to
become unavailable to us, we could become subject to regulatory action or third-party claims and our business could be materially and adversely affected. If we were deemed an
“investment company” under the Investment Company Act, applicable restrictions could make it impractical for us to continue our business as conducted and could have a
material adverse effect on our business.

In addition, we may be adversely affected by new or revised legislation or regulations imposed by governmental regulatory authorities or self-regulatory organizations that
supervise the financial markets. We also may be adversely affected by changes in the interpretation or enforcement of existing laws and rules by these governmental authorities
and self-regulatory organizations. It is impossible to determine the extent of the impact of any new laws, regulations or initiatives that may be proposed, or whether any of the
proposals will become law. Compliance with any new laws or regulations could make compliance more difficult and expensive and affect the manner in which we conduct
business.

Risks Related to the Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock

The dual class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting control with our executive officers, which will limit your ability to influence the
outcome of important transactions.

Our Class B common stock has 10 votes per share and our Class A common stock has one vote per share. John C. Loeffler, II, our Chief Executive Officer, and Jennifer
Schrader, our President and Chief Operating Officer, own all of our outstanding shares of Class B common stock. Together Mr. Loeffler and Ms. Schrader currently exercise
approximately 84.2% voting control over the Company as of December 31, 2023. As a result, if they act together, these stockholders will be able to exercise significant
influence over all matters submitted to our stockholders for approval, including the election of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions, such as (i) making
changes to our articles of incorporation whether to issue additional common stock and preferred stock, (ii) employment decisions, including compensation arrangements; and
(iii) whether to enter into material transactions with related parties. This control may adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock.
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We may not be able to maintain a listing of our Class A common stock on Nasdaq.

Our Class A common stock is listed on Nasdaq, and we must meet certain financial and liquidity criteria to maintain such listing. If we violate Nasdaq’s listing
requirements, or if we fail to meet any of Nasdaq’s listing standards, our Class A common stock may be delisted. In addition, our board of directors may determine that the cost
of maintaining our listing on a national securities exchange outweighs the benefits of such listing. A delisting of our Class A common stock from Nasdaq may materially impair
our stockholders’ ability to buy and sell our Class A common stock and could have an adverse effect on the market price of, and the efficiency of the trading market for, our
Class A common stock. The delisting of our Class A common stock could significantly impair our ability to raise capital and the value of your investment.

Our share price has in the past and may in the future fluctuate substantially.

The market price of our Class A common stock has in the past and could in the future be extremely volatile. From the date of our initial public offering in May 2023 to
March 1, 2024, the high and low prices of our common stock as quoted on the Nasdaq Capital Market was $13.00 and $1.02, respectively. The future market price of our
common stock may be significantly affected by many risk factors listed in this section, and others beyond our control, including:

• actual or anticipated fluctuations in our financial condition and operating results, including fluctuations in our quarterly and annual results;

• overall conditions in our industry and the markets in which we operate or in the economy as a whole;

• changes in laws or regulations applicable to our operations;

• actual or anticipated changes in our growth rate relative to our competitors;

• announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments;

• additions or departures of key personnel;

• issuance of new or updated research or reports by securities analysts;

• fluctuations in the valuation of companies perceived by investors to be comparable to us;

• litigation matters;

• announcement or expectation of additional financing efforts;

• sales of our Class A common stock by us or our stockholders;

• share price and volume fluctuations attributable to inconsistent trading volume levels of our shares;

• the expiration of contractual lock-up agreements with our executive officers, directors and stockholders; and

• general economic and market conditions.

Furthermore, the stock markets have experienced price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market prices of equity securities of many
companies. These fluctuations often have been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. These broad market and industry fluctuations, as
well as general economic, political, and market conditions such as recessions, interest rate changes or international currency fluctuations, may negatively impact the market
price of our Class A common stock. In the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been subject to securities class action
litigation. We may be the target of this type of litigation in the future. Securities litigation against us could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention from
other business concerns, which could seriously harm our business.
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Future sales and issuances of our Class A common stock or rights to purchase Class A common stock, including pursuant to our equity incentive plans, could result in
additional dilution of the percentage ownership of our stockholders and could cause the stock price of our Class A common stock to decline.

In the future, we may sell Class A common stock, convertible securities or other equity securities in one or more transactions at prices and in a manner that we determine.
We also expect to issue Class A common stock to employees, consultants, and directors pursuant to our equity incentive plans. If we sell common stock, convertible securities
or other equity securities in subsequent transactions, or Class A common stock is issued pursuant to equity incentive plans, investors may be materially diluted. New investors
in such subsequent transactions could gain rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of holders of our Class A common stock.

Our disclosure controls and procedures may not prevent or detect all errors or acts of fraud.

As a public company, we are subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Exchange Act. We designed our disclosure controls and procedures to provide reasonable
assurance that information we must disclose in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, and recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC. We believe that any disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well-
conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.

These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake.
Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by an unauthorized override of the controls.
Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in our control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

If we fail to implement and maintain an effective system of internal control, we may be unable to accurately report our operating results, meet our reporting
obligations, or prevent fraud.

As a public company, Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires that we include a report of management on our internal control over financial reporting in
our annual report on Form 10-K, beginning with our annual report for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024. In addition, once we cease to be an “emerging growth
company” as such term is defined under the JOBS Act, our independent registered public accounting firm may be required to attest to and report on the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting. Our management may conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is not effective. Moreover, even if our management
concludes that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, our independent registered public accounting firm, after conducting its own independent testing, may
issue a report that is qualified if it is not satisfied with our internal controls or the level at which our controls are documented, designed, operated or reviewed, or if it interprets
the relevant requirements differently from us. In addition, as a public company, our reporting obligations may place a significant strain on our management, operational and
financial resources and systems for the foreseeable future. We may be unable to timely complete our evaluation testing and any required remediation.

During the course of documenting and testing our internal control procedures, in order to satisfy the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we
may identify other weaknesses and deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting. In addition, if we fail to maintain the adequacy of our internal control over
financial reporting, as these standards are modified, supplemented, or amended from time to time, we may not be able to conclude on an ongoing basis that we have effective
internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Generally, if we fail to achieve and maintain an effective internal
control environment, we could suffer material misstatements in our financial statements and fail to meet our reporting obligations, which would likely cause investors to lose
confidence in our reported financial information. This could in turn limit our access to capital markets and harm our results of operations. Additionally, ineffective internal
control over financial reporting could expose us to increased risk of fraud or misuse of corporate assets and subject us to potential delisting from the stock exchange on which
we list, regulatory investigations, and civil or criminal sanctions.
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We are an emerging growth company, and we cannot be certain if the reduced reporting requirements applicable to emerging growth companies will make our Class A
common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an emerging growth company, as defined in the JOBS Act. For as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we may take advantage of exemptions
from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies, including not being required to comply with the
auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in proxy statements and
exemptions from the requirements of holding nonbinding advisory votes on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously
approved. We could be an emerging growth company until 2028, although circumstances could cause us to lose that status earlier. We will remain an emerging growth
company until the earlier of (i) the last day of the fiscal year (a) following the fifth anniversary of the completion of our initial public offering, (b) in which we have total annual
gross revenue of at least $1.235 billion or (c) in which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer, which requires the market value of our common stock that is held by non-
affiliates to exceed $700.0 million as of the prior June 30th, and (ii) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during the prior three-year
period.

Even after we no longer qualify as an emerging growth company, we may still qualify as a “smaller reporting company” which would allow us to take advantage of many
of the same exemptions from disclosure requirements including not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
and reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock
less attractive because we may rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our
common stock, and our stock price may be more volatile.

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can also delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as those standards apply to private
companies. We have elected to avail ourselves of this exemption and, therefore, we are not subject to the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies
that are not emerging growth companies. As a result, changes in rules of U.S. generally accepted accounting principles or their interpretation, the adoption of new guidance or
the application of existing guidance to changes in our business could significantly affect our financial position and results of operations.

We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the listing rules of Nasdaq and, as a result, can rely on exemptions from certain corporate governance
requirements that provide protection to stockholders of other companies.

John C. Loeffler, II, our Chief Executive Officer, and Jennifer Schrader, our President and Chief Operating Officer, through ownership of all our outstanding shares of
Class B common stock, control a majority of the voting power of our outstanding common stock. As a result, are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the corporate
governance standards of Nasdaq. Under these rules, a company of which more than 50% of the voting power is held by an individual, group or another company is a “controlled
company” but may elect not to comply with certain corporate governance requirements, including:

• the requirement that a majority of our Board of Directors consist of “independent directors”;

• the requirement that we have a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the committee’s purpose
and responsibilities; and

• the requirement that we have a nominating and corporate governance committee that is composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the
committee’s purpose and responsibilities.

Although we do not intend to rely on the “controlled company” exemptions to Nasdaq’s corporate governance rules, we could elect to rely on these exemptions in the
future. If we elected to rely on the “controlled company” exemptions, a majority of the members of our board of directors might not be independent directors, our nominating
and corporate governance and compensation committees might not consist entirely of independent directors, and you would not have the same protection afforded to
shareholders of companies that are subject to Nasdaq’s corporate governance rules.
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If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish unfavorable research about our business, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our Class A common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us or our business. If one
or more of these analysts ceases coverage of our Company or fails to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause
our stock price or trading volume to decline. Moreover, if our operating results do not meet the expectations of the investor community, one or more of the analysts who cover
our Company may change their recommendations regarding our Company, and our stock price could decline.

We have never paid dividends on our common stock, and we do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future. Consequently, any gains from an investment in
our Class A common stock will likely depend on whether the price of our Class A common stock increases.

We have never declared or paid any dividends on our common stock and do not intend to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future. We anticipate that we will retain all
of our future earnings for use in the operation of our business and for general corporate purposes. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of
our board of directors. Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of their Class A common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any
future gains on their investments.

Our charter documents and Delaware law and the voting control exercised by our founders could prevent a takeover that stockholders consider favorable and could
also reduce the market price of our stock.

Our third amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change in control of our
Company. These provisions could also make it more difficult for stockholders to elect directors and take other corporate actions. These provisions include:

• authorizing our board of directors to issue preferred stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could discourage a takeover attempt or delay changes in control;

• prohibiting stockholder action by written consent;

• limiting the persons who may call special meetings of stockholders; and

• requiring advance notification of stockholder nominations and proposals.

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to
replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management. In addition, the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware
General Corporate Law (“DGCL”) govern us. These provisions may prohibit large stockholders, in particular those owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock, from
merging or combining with us for a certain period of time without the consent of our board of directors.

These and other provisions in our third amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws and under Delaware law, together with the
voting control possessed by our founders, could discourage potential takeover attempts, reduce the price investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our
common stock and result in the market price of our common stock being lower than it would be without these provisions.
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Claims for indemnification by our directors and officers may reduce our available funds to satisfy successful third-party claims against us and may reduce the amount
of money available to us.

Our third amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that we will indemnify our directors and officers, in each case to the
fullest extent permitted by Delaware law.

In addition, as permitted by Section 145 of the DGCL, our amended and restated bylaws and our indemnification agreements that we have entered into with our directors
and officers provide that:

• we will indemnify our directors and officers for serving us in those capacities or for serving other business enterprises at our request, to the fullest extent permitted by
Delaware law. Delaware law provides that a corporation may indemnify such person if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed
to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the registrant and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such person’s conduct was
unlawful;

• we may, in our discretion, indemnify employees and agents in those circumstances where indemnification is permitted by applicable law;

• we are required to advance expenses, as incurred, to our directors and officers in connection with defending a proceeding, except that such directors or officers shall
undertake to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification;

• we will not be obligated pursuant to our amended and restated bylaws to indemnify a person with respect to proceedings initiated by that person against us or our other
indemnitees, except with respect to proceedings authorized by our board of directors or brought to enforce a right to indemnification;

• the rights conferred in our amended and restated bylaws are not exclusive, and we are authorized to enter into indemnification agreements with our directors, officers,
employees and agents and to obtain insurance to indemnify such persons; and

• we may not retroactively amend our amended and restated bylaw provisions to reduce our indemnification obligations to directors, officers, employees and agents.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Companies utilizing technology are subject to threats to or failures of any or all aspects of their cybersecurity programs, collectively cybersecurity risks. We take a
comprehensive approach to cybersecurity risk management and take securing customer, employee and other data entrusted to us seriously. We have established standards,
policies, procedures and practices for assessment, identification, and effective management of material cybersecurity risks. We devote significant resources to implement and
maintain security measures appropriate to regulatory requirements and customer expectations, and we will continue making appropriate investments to maintain the security of
our data.

We can provide no guarantee that our cybersecurity program, policies, and procedures will be completely effective in every instance, especially when it comes to the
constantly evolving nature of cybersecurity threats. Our Risk Factors include further detail about the cybersecurity risks we face on an ongoing basis. We believe that risks from
prior cybersecurity threats, including previous cybersecurity incidents, have not materially affected our business to date. We can provide no assurance that there will not be
cybersecurity incidents in the future or that they will not materially affect us, including our business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition.
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Risk Management and Strategy

Our approach for assessing, identifying, and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats are integrated into our overall risk management strategy and are based on
commonly accepted frameworks established by the International Organization for Standardization (“ISO”), the National Institute of Standards and Technology (“NIST”), and
other applicable industry standards. Our cybersecurity program focuses on the following key areas:

Collaboration

Cybersecurity risks are identified and addressed comprehensively in a cross-functional approach. Key security, risk, and compliance stakeholders meet regularly to develop
strategies for preserving the confidentiality, integrity and availability of Company and customer information. We have controls and procedures in place to ensure prompt
escalation of certain cybersecurity incidents so that decisions regarding public disclosure and reporting of such incidents can be made by management and the Board in a timely
manner.

Risk Assessment

We monitor and assess cybersecurity risks using the same cross-functional approach and since our cybersecurity program relies on certain third parties, these third parties
are included in the assessment of cybersecurity risks. This approach drives alignment on the prioritization of initiatives to maintain our security controls.

Technical Safeguards

We deploy technical safeguards designed to protect our information systems from cybersecurity threats. Such safeguards are regularly evaluated, adjusted and improved
based on vulnerability assessments, cybersecurity threat intelligence and incident response experience.

Incident Response and Recovery Planning

We maintain appropriate incident response and recovery plans and periodically perform tests to evaluate the effectiveness of these plans. Our incident response and
recovery plans include guidance to our employees, management, and the Board on response to cybersecurity incidents.

Third-Party Risk Management

We have appropriate controls designed to identify and mitigate cybersecurity risks associated with the use of third-party service providers. Such providers are subject to
security risk assessments at the time of onboarding, contract renewal, and upon detection of an increase in risk profile. We require our providers to meet appropriate security
requirements, and we investigate security incidents that have impacted our third-party providers, as appropriate.

Education and Awareness

Employees are regularly reminded of the importance of handling and protecting customer and Company data. Employees receive appropriate policies and annual privacy
and security training to enhance awareness and reinforce desired behaviors.

External Assessments

Our cybersecurity policies, standards, processes and practices are regularly assessed by third-party business partners, consultants and external auditors.

Vulnerability Assessments

We use third-party consultants who specialize in identifying and validating potential cybersecurity vulnerabilities to test our systems, networks, and applications. These
may include penetration testing exercises to simulate real-world attack scenarios.

Expertise from Business Partners

We utilize business partners who possess deep cybersecurity expertise. They contribute to risk assessments, help refine our security architecture, and provide valuable
insights into industry best practices.
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Governance

Board Oversight

Our Board, through the Audit Committee, has oversight of our cybersecurity risk management program. The Audit Committee receives regular updates from management
on cybersecurity risks and progress of risk reduction initiatives, and from external auditor feedback and relevant business partners.

Management’s Role

Our Chief Operating Officer, who serves as the Company’s designated chief information security officer (“CISO”) and our Director of Technology have primary
responsibility for managing the Company’s cybersecurity program on an ongoing basis.

Our Director of Technology has served in various roles in information technology and information security for over 15 year. He holds an undergraduate degree in
Computer Science. Our Chief Operating Officer and designated CISO has served in various roles in information technology and information security for over 20 years,
including serving as the Chief Information Security Officer and/or Chief Security Officer at other publicly traded technology companies.

Item 2. Properties

Our principal executive offices are located in Scottsdale, Arizona, where we own our headquarters office building. We also lease office space in Bryan, Texas. We consider
these facilities to be suitable and adequate for the management and operation of our business.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are, from time to time, party to various claims and legal proceedings arising out of our ordinary course of business, but we do not believe that any of these claims or
proceedings will have a material effect on our business, consolidated financial condition or results of operations.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information

The CaliberCos Inc. Class A common stock trades on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “CWD”.

Holders of Record

As of March 21, 2024, there were 1,552 holders of record of our Class A common stock and two holders of record of our Class B common stock. This does not include the
number of stockholders that hold shares in “street name” through brokers and other nominees.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our Class A common stock. We currently intend to retain all of our future earnings, if any, to finance the growth and
development of our business. In addition, the terms of any future debt agreements may preclude us from paying dividends. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our shares
of Class A common stock will be your sole source of gain for the foreseeable future.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.

Share Repurchases

None.

Item 6. Reserved
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and
related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition to historical information, this discussion and analysis contains forward-looking
statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially from these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors. For a
complete discussion of such risk factors, see the section in this report entitled “Risk Factors”.

Overview

Over the past 15 years, Caliber has grown into a leading diversified alternative asset management firm, managing more than $3.1 billion in AUM and AUD. Caliber’s
primary goal is to enhance the wealth of accredited investors seeking to make investments in middle-market assets. We strive to build wealth for our clients by creating,
managing, and servicing middle-market investment funds, private syndications, and direct investments. Through our funds, we invest primarily in real estate, private equity, and
debt facilities. We market and fundraise to Direct Channels and to Wholesale Channels.

We believe that we provide investors attractive risk-adjusted returns by offering a balance of (i) structured offerings and ease of ownership, (ii) a pipeline of investment
opportunities, primarily projects that range in value between $5.0 million and $50.0 million, and (iii) an integrated execution and processing platform. Our investment strategy
leverages the local market intelligence and real-time data we gain from our operations to evaluate current investments, generate proprietary transaction flow, and implement
various asset management strategies.

An alternative asset manager, we offer a full suite of support services and employ a vertically integrated approach to investment management. Our asset management
activities are complemented with transaction and advisory services including development and construction management, acquisition and disposition expertise, and fund
formation, which we believe differentiate us from other asset management firms. We earn the following fees from providing these services under our asset management
platform:

• Fund set-up fees are a one-time fee for the initial formation, administration, and set-up of fund products we distribute and manage. These fees are recognized at the point
in time when the performance under the contract is complete.

• Fund management fees are generally based on 1.0% to 1.5% of the unreturned capital contributions in a particular fund and include reimbursement for costs incurred on
behalf of the fund, including an allocation of certain overhead costs. These customer contracts require the Company to provide management services, representing a
performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time. With respect to the Caliber Hospitality Trust (as defined in Note 3 – VIEs), the Company earns an fund
management fee of 0.70% of the Caliber Hospitality Trust’s enterprise value and is reimbursed for certain costs incurred on behalf of the Caliber Hospitality Trust.

• Financing fees are earned for services the Company performs in securing third-party financing on behalf of our private equity real estate funds. These fees are recognized
at the point in time when the performance under the contract is complete, which is essentially upon closing of a loan. In addition, the Company earns fees for guarantying
certain loans, representing a performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time.

• Real estate development revenues are generally based on 4.0% of the total expected costs of the development or 4.0% of the total expected costs of the construction
project for services performed as the principal developer, which include managing and supervising third-party developers and general contractors with respect to the
development of the properties owned by the funds. Prior to the commencement of construction, development fee revenue is recognized at a point in time as the related
performance obligations are satisfied and the customer obtains control of the promised service, including negotiation, due diligence, entitlements, planning, and design
activities. During the construction period, development fee revenue is recognized over time as the performance obligations are satisfied.

• Brokerage fees are earned at a point in time at fixed rates for services performed related to acquisitions, dispositions, leasing, and financing transactions.
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• Performance allocations are an arrangement in which we are entitled to an allocation of investment returns, generated within the investment funds which we manage,
based on a contractual formula. We typically receive 15.0% to 35.0% of all cash distributions from (i) the operating cash flow of each fund, after payment to the related
fund investors of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns and repayment of preferred capital contributions; and (ii) the cash flow resulting from the sale or
refinance of any real estate assets held by each fund, after payment to the related fund investors of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns and repayment
of initial preferred capital contributions. Our funds’ preferred returns range from 6.0% to 12.0%, typically 6.0% for common equity or 10.0% to 12.0% for preferred
equity, which does not participate in profits. Performance allocations are related to services which have been provided and are recognized when it is determined that they
are no longer probable of significant reversal, which is generally satisfied when an underlying fund investment is realized or sold.

Historically, the Company’s operations were organized into three reportable segments: fund management, development, and brokerage. During the three months ended
December 31, 2023, the Company reevaluated its reportable segments, considering (i) the evolution of the Company after closing its initial public offering and how the
Company’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, assesses performance and allocates resources, (ii) changes to the budgeting
process and in key personnel driven by the Company’s growth initiatives, and (iii) how management reports ongoing company performance to the Board of Directors. With the
evolution and growth of the Company, the Company’s CODM assesses performance and resource allocation on an aggregate basis under the Company’s asset management
platform, and no longer reviews operating results for development or brokerage activity separately. As such, management concluded that the Company operates through one
operating segment.

The Company’s CODM assesses revenue, operating expenses and key operating statistics to evaluate performance and allocate resources on a basis that eliminates the
impact of the consolidated investment funds (intercompany eliminations required by U.S. GAAP) and noncontrolling interests. Management concluded that the consolidated
investment funds do not meet the requirements in ASC 280, Segment Reporting, of operating segments, as the Company’s CODM does not review the operating results of these
investment funds for the purposes of allocating resources, assessing performance or determining whether additional investments or advances will be made to these funds. The
investment funds are consolidated based on the requirement in ASC 810, Consolidation, as the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary of each of these variable
interest entities since it has the power to direct the activities of the entities and the right to absorb losses, generally in the form of guarantees of indebtedness that are significant
to the individual investment funds.

Caliber was originally founded as Caliber Companies, LLC, an Arizona limited liability company, organized under the laws of Arizona, and commenced operations in
January 2009. In November 2014, the Company was reorganized as a Nevada corporation and in June 2018, we reincorporated in the state of Delaware. On our website we
make available, free of charge, information about the Company and its’ investments. None of the information on our website is deemed to be part of this report.

Trends Affecting Our Business

Our business is driven by trends which affect the following:

1) Capital formation: any trend which increases or decreases investors’ knowledge of alternative investments, desire to acquire them, access to acquire them, and
knowledge and appreciation of Caliber as a potential provider, will affect our ability to attract and raise new capital. Capital formation also drives investment
acquisitions, which contribute to Caliber’s revenues.

2) Investment acquisition: any trend which increases or decreases the supply of middle-market real estate projects or loans, the accessibility of developments or
development incentives, or enhances or detracts from Caliber’s ability to access those projects will affect our ability to generate revenue. Coincidentally, investment
acquisitions, or the rights to acquire an investment, drive capital formation – creating a flywheel effect for Caliber.

3) Project execution: any trend which increases or decreases the costs of execution on a real estate project, including materials pricing, labor pricing, access to materials,
delays due to governmental action, and the general labor market, will affect Caliber’s ability to generate revenues.
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Our business depends in large part on our ability to raise capital for our funds from investors. Since our inception, we have continued to successfully raise capital into our
funds with our total capital raised through December 31, 2023 of approximately $660.0 million. Our success at raising new capital into our funds is impacted by the extent to
which new investors see alternative assets as a viable option for capital appreciation and/or income generation. Since our ability to raise new capital into our funds is dependent
upon the availability and willingness of investors to direct their investment dollars into our products, our financial performance is sensitive in part to changes in overall
economic conditions that affect investment behaviors. The demand from investors is dependent upon the type of asset, the type of return it will generate (current cash flow,
long-term capital gains, or both) and the actual return earned by our fund investors relative to other comparable or substitute products. General economic factors and conditions,
including the general interest rate environment and unemployment rates, may affect an investor’s ability and desire to invest in real estate. For example, a significant interest rate
increase could cause a projected rate of return to be insufficient after considering other risk exposures. Additionally, if weakness in the economy emerges and actual or expected
default rates increase, investors in our funds may delay or reduce their investments; however, we believe our approach to investing and the capabilities that Caliber manages
throughout the deal cycle will continue to offer an attractive value proposition to investors.

In June 2023, the United States of America’s House of Representatives unanimously approved legislation that would increase the number of investors who can participate
in private offerings of securities by expanding the accredited investor criteria. The Fair Investment Opportunities for Professional Experts Act would expand the definition of
accredited investor to include people with certain licenses, education or professional experience. The Accredited Investor Definition Review Act would give the SEC discretion
to determine the certifications, designations or credentials investors must possess to be accredited and directs the SEC to review the accredited investor definition every five
years. We believe these government actions will increase the size of our potential investor base significantly, however we cannot yet assess the number of newly accredited
investors that would have the ability or interest to invest in a Caliber fund.

While we have had historical successes, there can be no assurance that fundraising for our new and existing funds will experience similar success. If we were unable to raise
such capital, we would be unable to deploy such capital into investments, which would materially reduce our revenues and cash flow and adversely affect our financial
condition.

We remain confident about our ability to find, identify, and source new investment opportunities that meet the requirements and return profile of our investment funds
despite headwinds associated with increased asset valuations, competition and increased overall cost of credit. We continue to identify strategic acquisitions on off-market terms
and anticipate that this trend will continue. We are at a point in our investment cycle where some of our funds have begun to exit significant parts of their portfolios while other
are approaching a potential harvesting phase. We have complemented these cycles with other newer funds that will maintain management fees while providing continued
sources of activity.

In February 2023, we expanded our access to institutional capital by entering into an agreement with Skyway Capital Markets to serve as a managing broker-dealer for our
primary investment products. The agreement designates Skyway to assist us to raise capital primarily from third-party broker-dealers and registered investment advisors, many
of which have an existing business relationship with Skyway. Skyway will assist us in our efforts to hire, train and manage a national wholesaling team, secure selling
agreements, and provide appropriate due diligence to advisors distributing our funds. Our current managing broker-dealer will remain engaged with us to supervise and manage
our existing private client sales team and to join Skyway as a selling group member.

Acquiring new assets includes being able to negotiate favorable loans on both a short and long-term basis. We strive to forecast and project our returns using assumptions
about, among other things, the types of loans that we might expect the market to extend for a particular type of asset. This becomes more complex when the asset also requires
construction financing. We may also need to refinance existing loans that are due to mature. Factors that affect these arrangements include the interest rate and economic
environment, the estimated fair value of real property, and the profitability of the asset’s historical operations. These capital market conditions may affect the renewal or
replacement of our credit agreements, some of which have maturity dates occurring within the next 12 months. Obtaining such financing is not guaranteed and is largely
dependent on market conditions and other factors.
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The advancement of real estate investment-oriented technology, sometimes referred to as “proptech”, offers Caliber the benefit of new and innovative technologies to better
execute on capital formation strategies, investment acquisition strategies, and investment management strategies. In recent years, Caliber has added to its technology stack with
systems that we believe lead the market in their specific ability to enhance execution on our projects. Several of these technologies seek to incorporate investments in artificial
intelligence, which we believe will be a prevailing trend in helping Caliber to enhance its project execution going forward.

Regional conflicts and instability, such as those in Israel and Ukraine, can have significant impacts on global markets and economies and investor perception and tolerance
for risk. These conflicts could lead to increased volatility in financial markets, disrupt supply chains, and change investor appetite for investments in alternative assets.

Business Environment

Global markets are experiencing significant volatility driven by concerns over inflation, rising interest rates, slowing economic growth and geopolitical uncertainty. The
annual inflation rate in the United States increased to 9.1% in June 2022, the highest rate since November 1981, but decreased to 3.4% in December 2023. As a result, from
January 1, 2022 through January 31, 2024, the Federal Reserve increased the federal funds rate by 525 basis points. The rising interest rates, coupled with periods of significant
equity and credit market volatility may potentially make it more difficult for us to find attractive opportunities for our funds to exit and realize value from their existing
investments. Historically, inflation has tended to favor new capital formation for Caliber’s funds, as investors seek opportunities that can hedge against rising costs, such as real
estate investments. In addition, the increase in interest rates has put pressure on owners of existing real estate to sell assets as their loans mature. Combined with a shrinking
pool of buyers, the commercial and residential real estate markets in our favored geographies are moving away from a seller’s market and closer to a buyer’s market. It remains
to be seen if a stressed or distressed market may emerge, similar to Caliber’s early years of operations. In both a buyer’s market and a stressed or distressed market, Caliber
expects its business model to outperform, as our direct access to investor capital and our ability to invest in a variety of asset classes allows Caliber to move with the market and
take advantage of potentially attractive prices. For project execution, inflation has increased the cost of nearly all building materials and labor types, increasing the cost of
construction and renovation of our funds’ assets.

Key Financial Measures and Indicators

Our key financial measures are discussed in the following pages. Additional information regarding these key financial measures and our other significant accounting
policies can be found in Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the notes to our accompanying consolidated financial statements included herein.

Total Revenue

We generate the majority of our revenue in the form of asset management revenues and performance allocations. Included within our consolidated results are the related
revenues of certain consolidated VIEs.

Total Expenses

Total expenses include operating costs, general and administrative, marketing and advertising and depreciation and amortization. Included within our consolidated results
are the related expenses of consolidated VIEs.

Other Income (Expenses)

Other income (expenses) include interest expense and interest income.
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Results of Operations

Comparison of the Consolidated Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

The following table and discussion provide insight into our consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):
Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 $ Change % Change
Revenues

Asset management revenues $ 10,571 $ 15,344 $ (4,773) (31.1)%
Performance allocations 3,639 2,543 1,096 43.1 %
Consolidated funds – hospitality revenues 68,905 59,564 9,341 15.7 %
Consolidated funds – other revenues 7,822 6,505 1,317 20.2 %

Total revenues 90,937 83,956 6,981 8.3 %

Expenses
Operating costs 21,311 14,609 6,702 45.9 %
General and administrative 6,770 6,679 91 1.4 %
Marketing and advertising 1,052 1,179 (127) (10.8)%
Depreciation and amortization 550 58 492 848.3 %
Consolidated funds – hospitality expenses 80,669 60,667 20,002 33.0 %
Consolidated funds – other expenses 9,162 9,213 (51) (0.6)%

Total expenses 119,514 92,405 27,109 29.3 %

Consolidated funds - gain on sale of real estate investments 4,976 21,530 (16,554) (76.9)%

Other income, net 374 326 48 14.7 %
Gain on extinguishment of debt — 1,421 (1,421) (100.0)%
Interest income 350 178 172 96.6 %
Interest expense (4,717) (1,055) (3,662) 347.1 %

Net (loss) income before income taxes (27,594) 13,951 (41,545) (297.8)%
Benefit from income taxes — — — 0.0 %

Net (loss) income (27,594) 13,951 (41,545) (297.8)%
Net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interests (14,891) 11,931 (26,822) (224.8)%

Net (loss) income attributable to CaliberCos Inc. $ (12,703) $ 2,020 $ (14,723) (728.9)%

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, total revenues were $90.9 million and $84.0 million, respectively, representing a period-over-period increase of 8.3%.
This increase was primarily due to an increase in revenues in our consolidated fund hotel assets resulting from increased occupancy rates and higher average daily rates and
from revenues from Hilton Tucson East, which became a consolidated entity during the year ended December 31, 2023, offset by a decrease in asset management revenues.
Asset management revenues consist of fees earned for fund set-up and formation, asset management, financing, development and construction, and brokerage services. The
decrease in asset management revenues was primarily due to fund set-up fees earned for services performed in conjunction with the formation of Caliber Tax Advantaged
Opportunity Zone Fund II, LLC during the year ended December 31, 2022.
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For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, total expenses were $119.5 million and $92.4 million, respectively, representing a period-over-period increase of 29.3%.
The increase was primarily due to an increase in consolidated fund related expenses due to rising labor costs and variable costs associated with increased revenue, such as
management and franchise fees and loyalty program costs, and from operating expenses from Hilton Tucson East, which became a consolidated entity during the year ended
December 31, 2023. In addition, there was an increase in operating costs from (i) additional payroll associated with increased headcount and cost of human capital driven by the
Company’s growth initiatives, as the Company looks to enhance its capabilities across all lines of service, and (ii) an increase in stock compensation expense for restricted stock
units that vested upon the closing of the Company’s initial public offering.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, consolidated funds – gain on sale of real estate investments includes the $5.0 million gain recognized on the sale of Northsight
Crossing, a commercial property with a cost basis of $21.7 million. For the year ended December 31, 2022, consolidated funds – gain on sale of real estate investments includes
the $21.5 million gain recognized on the sale of GC Square Apartments, a multi-family property with a cost basis of $9.1 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, other income, net includes rental income of $1.6 million related to space leased to third parties in Caliber’s headquarters office
building, offset by a $1.3 million loss of estimated amounts due to investors of the Caliber Residential Advantage Fund, LP (“CRAF”) upon redemption of their investment and
payment of any accrued and unpaid preferred return related to the disposal of the last single-family residential home owned by the fund (“Loss on CRAF Investment
Redemption”). There was no comparable activity during the year ended December 31, 2022.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, interest expense was $4.7 million and $1.1 million, respectively. The increase was primarily due to the increase in
corporate notes outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the same period in 2022. In addition, there was one real estate note outstanding during
the year ended December 31, 2023 with no comparable real estate notes outstanding during the same period in 2022.

Comparison of the Unconsolidated Results of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

The following table and discussion provide insight into our unconsolidated results of operations of the asset management platform for the year ended December 31, 2023
and 2022 (in thousands). Unconsolidated revenues and expenses are presented on a basis that deconsolidates our consolidated funds (intercompany eliminations) and eliminates
noncontrolling interest. As a result, unconsolidated revenues are different than those presented on a consolidated basis in accordance with U.S. GAAP because fee revenue is
eliminated in consolidation when it is derived from a consolidated fund and due to the exclusion of the fund revenue recognized by the consolidated funds. Furthermore,
unconsolidated expenses are also different than those presented on a consolidated U.S. GAAP basis due to the exclusion of fund expenses that are paid by the consolidated
funds. See the Non-GAAP Measures section below for reconciliations of the unconsolidated results to the most comparable U.S. GAAP measure.
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Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 $ Change % Change

Revenues
Asset management revenues $ 16,982 $ 21,575 $ (4,593) (21.3)%
Performance allocations 3,656 2,543 1,113 43.8 %

Total revenues 20,638 24,118 (3,480) (14.4)%

Expenses
Operating costs 21,808 14,609 $ 7,199 49.3 %
General and administrative 6,807 6,742 65 1.0 %
Marketing and advertising 1,053 1,179 (126) (10.7)%
Depreciation and amortization 551 44 507 1,152.3 %

Total expenses 30,219 22,574 7,645 33.9 %

Other income (loss), net 649 256 $ 393 153.5 %
Gain on extinguishment of debt — 1,421 (1,421) (100.0)%
Interest income 1,863 177 1,686 952.5 %
Interest expense (4,716) (1,056) (3,660) 346.6 %

Net (loss) income before income taxes (11,785) 2,342 (14,127) (603.2)%
Provision for income taxes — — — 0.0 %

Net (loss) income $ (11,785) $ 2,342 $ (14,127) (603.2)%

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, total revenues were $20.6 million and $24.1 million, respectively, representing a period-over-period decrease of 14.4%.
The table below compares the revenues earned for providing services under the Company’s asset management platform as described in the Revenue Recognition section of Note
2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for the year ended December 31, 2023 to the revenues earned for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 $ Change % Change

Fund set-up fees $ 523 $ 6,160 $ (5,637) (91.5)%
Fund management fees 9,597 8,347 1,250 15.0 %
Financing fees 629 1,128 (499) (44.2)%
Development and construction fees 4,984 3,492 1,492 42.7 %
Brokerage fees 1,249 2,448 (1,199) (49.0)%

Total asset management 16,982 21,575 (4,593) (21.3)%
Performance allocations 3,656 2,543 1,113 43.8 %

Total unconsolidated revenue $ 20,638 $ 24,118 $ (3,480) (14.4)%

The decrease in fund set-up fees relates to services performed in conjunction with the formation of Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Zone Fund II, LLC during the year
ended December 31, 2022. In addition, the Company is transitioning from fund formation fees that are recognized as capital is raised into a fund to fund set-up fees that are a
one-time fee not conditional on capital raise, resulting in a decrease in fund set-up fees of $0.9 million from the year ended December 31, 2022 to the year ended December 31,
2023.

The increase in development and construction fees is primarily due the execution of development agreements related to eight projects, partially offset by completing
construction at three projects during the year ended December 31, 2023.

The decrease in brokerage fees is primarily due to a decrease in brokerage transactions, which were $57.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to
$117.5 million in the same period in 2022.
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For the year ended December 31, 2023 performance allocations were $3.7 million, which represents the carried interest earned related to the contribution of the hospitality
assets to Caliber Hospitality, LP in March 2023, the disposition of one commercial property located in Scottsdale, Arizona, and 80 acres of land located in Johnstown, Colorado.
For the year ended December 31, 2022 performance allocations were $2.5 million, which represents the carried interest earned related to the sale of the GC Square Apartments
multi-family property in March 2022.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, total expenses were $30.2 million and $22.6 million, respectively, representing a period-over-period increase of 33.9%.
The increase was primarily due to an increase in operating costs from (i) additional payroll associated with increased headcount and cost of human capital driven by the
Company’s growth initiatives, as the Company looks to enhance its capabilities across all lines of service, and (ii) an increase in stock compensation expense for restricted stock
units that vested upon the closing of the Company’s initial public offering. The increase in depreciation and amortization was primarily due to the acquisition of the Company’s
headquarters office building during the year ended December 31, 2023.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, other income, net includes rental income of $1.6 million related to space leased to third parties in Caliber’s headquarters office
building, offset by a $1.3 million loss of estimated amounts due to investors of the Caliber Residential Advantage Fund, LP upon redemption of their investment and payment of
any accrued and unpaid preferred return related to the disposal of the last single-family residential home owned by the fund. There was no comparable activity during the year
ended December 31, 2022.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, interest expense was $4.7 million and $1.1 million, respectively. The increase was primarily due to the increase in
corporate notes outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the same period in 2022. In addition, there was one real estate note outstanding during
the year ended December 31, 2023 with no comparable real estate notes outstanding during the same period in 2022.

Investment Valuations

The investments that are held by our funds are generally considered to be illiquid and have no readily ascertainable market value. We value these investments based on our
estimate of their fair value as of the date of determination. We estimate the fair value of our fund’s investments based on a number of inputs built within forecasting models
which are either developed by a third-party or by our internal finance team. The models generally rely on discounted cash flow analysis and other techniques and may include
independently sourced market parameters. The material estimates and assumptions used in these models include the timing and expected amounts of cash flows, income and
expenses for the property, the appropriateness of discount rates used, overall capitalization rate, and, in some cases, the ability to execute, estimated proceeds and timing of
expected sales and financings. The majority of our assets utilize the income approach to value the property. Where appropriate, management may obtain additional supporting
evidence of values from methods generally utilized in the real estate investment industry, such as appraisal reports and broker price opinion reports.

With respect to the underlying factors that led to the change in fair value in the current year, we identify assets that are undervalued and/or underperforming at the time of
acquisition. Such assets generally undergo some form of repositioning soon after our acquisition in order to help drive increased appreciation and operating performance. Once
the repositioning is complete, we focus on increasing the asset’s net operating income, thereby further increasing the value of the asset. By making these below-market
acquisitions, adding value through development activities, and increasing free cash flow with proper management all represent a material component to our core business model.

A unique feature of Caliber’s funds is the discretion given to Caliber’s management team to decide when to sell assets and when to hold them. We believe this discretion
allows Caliber to avoid selling properties that, while their business plan may have matured, the market will not pay an attractive price in the current environment. Avoiding
selling at a time of disruption, such as all of 2020, is critical to preserving the value of our assets, our carried interest, our ongoing revenues, and our clients’ capital. While this
is management’s expectation, there can be no assurance these outcomes will occur.
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Assets Under Management

Assets under management, or “AUM,” refers to the assets we manage or sponsor. We monitor two types of information with regard to our AUM:

i. Managed Capital – we define this as the total capital raised from investors and invested in our funds, including capital raised from investors in CaliberCos Inc. through
corporate note issuances that was further invested in or loaned to our funds. We use this information to monitor, among other things, the amount of ‘preferred return’
that would be paid at the time of a distribution and the potential to earn a performance fee over and above the preferred return at the time of the distribution. Our fund
management fees are based on a percentage of managed capital or a percentage of assets under management, and monitoring the change and composition of managed
capital provides relevant data points for Caliber management to further calculate and predict future earnings.

ii. Fair Value (“FV”) AUM – we define this is as the aggregate fair value of the real estate assets we manage and from which we derive management fees, performance
revenues and other fees and expense reimbursements. We estimate the value of these assets quarterly to help make sale and hold decisions and to evaluate whether an
existing asset would benefit from refinancing or recapitalization. This also gives us insight into the value of our carried interest at any point in time. We also utilize FV
AUM to predict the percentage of our portfolio which may need development services in a given year, fund management services (such as refinance), and brokerage
services. As we control the decision to hire for these services, our service income is generally predictable based upon our current portfolio AUM and our expectations
for AUM growth in the year forecasted. As of December 31, 2023, we had total FV AUM of approximately $741.2 million.

Although we believe we are utilizing generally accepted methodologies for our calculation of managed capital and FV AUM, it may differ from our competitors, thereby
making these metrics non-comparable to our competitors.

Managed Capital

The table below summarizes the activity of the managed capital for the year ended December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Managed Capital
Balances as of December 31, 2021 $ 306,899 

Originations 85,574 
Redemptions (9,284)

Balances as of December 31, 2022 383,189 
Originations 74,857 
Redemptions (22,962)
Other  2,541 

Balances as of December 31, 2023 $ 437,625 

___________________________________________
(1) Other represents the inclusion of an investment of one of our funds upon the completion of an equity swap during the year ended December 31, 2023.

(1)
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The following table summarizes managed capital for our investment fund portfolios as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Real Estate   

Hospitality $ 114,407 $ 102,071 
Residential 74,224 62,819 
Commercial 155,004 128,210 

Total Real Estate  343,635 293,100 
Credit  84,588 74,766 
Other  9,402 15,323 

Total $ 437,625 $ 383,189 

___________________________________________
(1) Beginning during the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company includes capital raised from investors in CaliberCos Inc. through corporate note issuances that was

further invested in our funds in Managed Capital. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company had invested $18.3 million and $5.4 million, respectively,
in our funds.

(2) Credit managed capital represents loans made to Caliber’s investment funds by the Company and our diversified credit fund. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had
loaned $8.5 million to our funds. As of December 31, 2022, no amounts had been loaned to our funds from the Company.

(3) Other managed capital represents undeployed capital held in our diversified funds.

Managed capital for our hospitality funds increased by $12.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2023, representing: (i) the $6.7 million purchase of Caliber
Hospitality Trust’s Class A non-voting preferred stock and (ii) $1.2 million purchase of Caliber Hospitality Trust’s Class B non-voting preferred stock, which was offset by (iii)
a $6.0 million decrease when hotel operations ceased at the Four Points by Sheraton hotel, as the Company is converting the property into a multi-family residential asset. The
Company also invested $10.4 million into our hospitality funds through corporate notes.

Managed capital for our residential investment funds increased by $11.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2023: representing (i) $7.1 million in capital raised
into our residential assets offset by $4.3 million of redemptions, and (ii) $5.1 million contributed by our diversified funds offset by $2.5 million of redemptions by diversified
funds. Additionally, there was an additional $6.0 million due to the planned conversion of the Four Points by Sheraton hotel discussed above.

Managed capital for our commercial investment funds increased $26.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2023, representing: (i) $10.7 million in capital raised
into our commercial assets offset by $9.8 million of redemptions, (ii) $2.5 million due to the inclusion of an investment of one of our funds upon the completion of an equity
swap, and (iii) $25.7 million contributed by our diversified funds offset by $2.3 million of redemptions, to support four commercial ground-up builds and acquisitions in
Arizona and one commercial ground-up build and acquisition in Colorado. The scope of investments included tenant improvements, land development, and acquiring existing
operating commercial properties.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we raised $21.0 million of new capital into Caliber Fixed Income Fund III, LP (“CFIF III”) and deployed it into our various real
estate investments, which was offset by $19.4 million of repayments of the notes receivable. We also deployed $24.8 million directly into new investments in the form of notes
receivable, which was offset by $16.6 million of repayments of the notes receivable.

As of December 31, 2023, we held $9.4 million of other managed capital, which included a $3.2 million private equity investment in a local start-up business and $5.3
million of undeployed cash and pursuit costs, compared to $15.3 million of other managed capital, which included a $6.2 million private equity investment in a local start-up
business and $12.1 million of undeployed cash and pursuit costs held as of December 31, 2022.

(1)

(2)

(3)
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FV AUM

Our fair value AUM decreased primarily due to asset sales, partially offset by asset purchases. The table below details the activities that had an impact on our FV AUM,
during the year ended December 31, 2023 (in thousands).

Balances as of December 31, 2022 $ 745,514 
Assets acquired  29,384 
Construction and net market appreciation 9,129 
Assets sold or disposed (52,710)
Credit 9,822 
Other  51 

Balances as of December 31, 2023 $ 741,190 

The following table summarizes FV AUM of our investment fund portfolios as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Real Estate   

Hospitality $ 268,800 $ 319,300 
Residential 138,000 86,900 
Commercial 240,400 255,197 

Total Real Estate 647,200 661,397 
Credit 84,588 74,766 
Other 9,402 9,351 

Total $ 741,190 $ 745,514 

___________________________________________
(1) Assets acquired during the year ended December 31, 2023 include one development asset in Colorado, our headquarters office building, and two multi-family residential

assets in Arizona.
(2) Assets sold during the year ended December 31, 2023 include lot sales related to a development asset in Colorado, one development asset in Colorado, nine homes from our

residential fund, and one commercial asset in Arizona.
(3) Credit FV AUM represents loans made to Caliber’s investment funds by our diversified credit fund.
(4) Other FV AUM represents undeployed capital held in our diversified funds.

Non-GAAP Measures

We use non-GAAP financial measures to evaluate operating performance, identify trends, formulate financial projections, make strategic decisions, and for other
discretionary purposes. We believe that these measures enhance the understanding of ongoing operations and comparability of current results to prior periods and may be useful
for investors to analyze our financial performance because they provides investors a view of the performance attributable to CaliberCos Inc. When analyzing our operating
performance, investors should use these measures in addition to, and not as an alternative for, their most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in
accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our presentation of non-GAAP measures may not be comparable to similarly identified measures of other companies because not all companies
use the same calculations. These measures may also differ from the amounts calculated under similarly titled definitions in our debt instruments, which amounts are further
adjusted to reflect certain other cash and non-cash charges and are used by us to determine compliance with financial covenants therein and our ability to engage in certain
activities, such as incurring additional debt and making certain restricted payments.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(2)

(3)
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Fee-Related Earnings and Related Components

Fee-Related Earnings is a supplemental non-GAAP performance measure used to assess our ability to generate profits from fee-based revenues, focusing on whether our
core revenue streams, are sufficient to cover our core operating expenses. Fee-Related Earnings represents the Company’s net income (loss) before income taxes adjusted to
exclude depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, interest expense and extraordinary or non-recurring revenue and expenses, including performance allocation
revenue and gain (loss) on extinguishment of debt, public registration direct costs related to aborted or delayed offerings and our Reg A+ offering, the share repurchase costs
related to the Company’s Buyback Program, litigation settlements, and expenses recorded to earnings relating to investment deals which were abandoned or closed. Fee-Related
Earnings is presented on a basis that deconsolidates our consolidated funds (intercompany eliminations) and eliminates noncontrolling interest. Eliminating the impact of
consolidated funds and noncontrolling interest provides investors a view of the performance attributable to CaliberCos Inc. and is consistent with performance models and
analysis used by management.

Distributable Earnings

Distributable Earnings is a supplemental non-GAAP performance measure equal to Fee-Related Earnings plus performance allocation revenue and less interest expenses
and provision for income taxes. We believe that Distributable Earnings can be useful as a supplemental performance measure to our GAAP results assessing the amount of
earnings available for distribution.

Caliber Adjusted EBITDA

Caliber Adjusted EBITDA represents the Company’s Distributable Earnings adjusted for interest expense, the share repurchase costs related to the Company’s Buyback
Program, other income (expense), and provision for income taxes on a basis that deconsolidates our consolidated funds (intercompany eliminations), Loss on CRAF Investment
Redemption, Gain on extinguishment of Payroll Protection Program loans, and eliminates noncontrolling interest. Eliminating the impact of consolidated funds and
noncontrolling interest provides investors a view of the performance attributable to CaliberCos Inc. and is consistent with performance models and analysis used by
management.

Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA

Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA represents the Company’s and the consolidated funds’ earnings before net interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization,
further adjusted to exclude stock-based compensation, transaction fees, expenses and other public registration direct costs related to aborted or delayed offerings and our Reg
A+ offering, the share repurchase costs related to the Company’s Buyback Program, litigation settlements, expenses recorded to earnings relating to investment deals which
were abandoned or closed, any other non-cash expenses or losses, as further adjusted for extraordinary or non-recurring items.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of net (loss) income attributable to CaliberCos Inc. to Fee-Related Earnings, Distributable Earnings, Caliber Adjusted
EBITDA, and Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Net (loss) income attributable to CaliberCos Inc. $ (12,703) $ 2,020 
Net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interests (14,891) 11,931 

Net (loss) income (27,594) 13,951 
Provision for income taxes — — 

Net (loss) income before income taxes (27,594) 13,951 
Depreciation and amortization 551 58 
Consolidated funds’ impact on fee-related earnings 14,020 (11,551)
Stock-based compensation 3,726 460 
Severance 19 — 
Legal costs — 525 
Public registration costs — 779 
Performance allocations (3,639) (2,543)
Other income, net (374) (326)
Gain on extinguishment of debt — (1,421)
Interest expense, net 4,367 877 

Fee-Related Earnings (8,924) 809 
Performance allocations 3,639 2,543 
Interest expense, net (4,367) (877)
Provision for income taxes — — 

Distributable Earnings (9,652) 2,475 
Interest expense 4,717 1,055 
Share buy-back 183 313 
Other income, net 374 326 
Provision for income taxes — — 
Loss on CRAF Investment Redemption 1,339 — 
Gain on extinguishment of Payroll Protection Program loans — 1,421 
Consolidated funds’ impact on Caliber Adjusted EBITDA 1,788 (71)

Caliber Adjusted EBITDA (1,251) 5,519 
Consolidated funds' EBITDA Adjustments 11,419 31,220 

Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA $ 10,168 $ 36,739 
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The following tables present a reconciliation of unconsolidated revenues, expenses and net income to the most comparable GAAP measure for the years ended December
31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2023

Unconsolidated
Impact of Consolidated

Funds Consolidated
Revenues

Asset management $ 16,982 $ (6,411) $ 10,571 
Performance allocations 3,656 (17) 3,639 
Consolidated funds – hospitality revenue — 68,905 68,905 
Consolidated funds – other revenue — 7,822 7,822 

Total revenues 20,638 70,299 90,937 

Expenses
Operating costs 21,808 (497) $ 21,311 
General and administrative 6,807 (37) 6,770 
Marketing and advertising 1,053 (1) 1,052 
Depreciation and amortization 551 (1) 550 
Consolidated funds – hospitality expenses — 80,669 80,669 
Consolidated funds – other expenses — 9,162 9,162 

Total expenses 30,219 89,295 119,514 

Consolidated funds – gain on sale of real estate investments — 4,976 $ 4,976 

Other income (loss), net 649 (275) $ 374 
Gain on extinguishment of debt — — — 
Interest income 1,863 (1,513) 350 
Interest expense (4,716) (1) (4,717)

Net loss before income taxes (11,785) (15,809) (27,594)
Provision for income taxes — — — 

Net loss (11,785) (15,809) (27,594)
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests — (14,891) (14,891)

Net (loss) income attributable to CaliberCos Inc. $ (11,785) $ (918) $ (12,703)
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Year Ended December 31, 2022

Unconsolidated
Impact of Consolidated

Funds Consolidated
Revenues

Asset management $ 21,575 $ (6,231) $ 15,344 
Performance allocations 2,543 — 2,543 
Consolidated funds – hospitality revenue — 59,564 59,564 
Consolidated funds – other revenue — 6,505 6,505 

Total revenues 24,118 59,838 83,956 

Expenses
Operating costs 14,609 — 14,609 
General and administrative 6,742 (63) 6,679 
Marketing and advertising 1,179 — 1,179 
Depreciation and amortization 44 14 58 
Consolidated funds – hospitality expenses — 60,667 60,667 
Consolidated funds – other expenses — 9,213 9,213 

Total expenses 22,574 69,831 92,405 

Consolidated funds – gain on sale of real estate investments — 21,530 21,530 

Other income, net 256 70 326 
Gain on extinguishment of debt 1,421 — 1,421 
Interest income 177 1 178 
Interest expense (1,056) 1 (1,055)

Net income before income taxes 2,342 11,609 13,951 
Provision for income taxes — — — 

Net income 2,342 11,609 13,951 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests — 11,931 11,931 

Net income (loss) attributable to CaliberCos Inc. $ 2,342 $ (322) $ 2,020 

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have incurred operating losses and negative operating cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2023, and may incur operating losses and negative cash flows in
future periods. We had individual corporate notes aggregating $36.4 million at December 31, 2023 for which the maturity dates of the majority of these notes are within the 12-
month period subsequent to when the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 were issued.

In response to these conditions, and the absence of sufficient funds to satisfy the debt obligations referenced above, management plans to i) negotiate extensions of such
loans or refinance such debt, ii) obtain new financing, iii) reduce operating costs, iv) collect receivables and return investments from the Consolidated Funds, and/or v) increase
capital raise through continued expansion of fundraising channels. The Company has commenced discussions with the various lenders in pursuit of extending or refinancing its
loans. As of the date of these financial statements, management was able to extend $12.3 million of corporate notes for an additional 13 months (see Note 6 – Notes Payable).
Management’s plans include timely collection on the Company’s outstanding accounts and notes receivable from affiliated entities for which management has influence and
control and implementing strategies to reduce costs. As a result, the Company has concluded that management’s plans are probable of being achieved to alleviate substantial
doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Each of our funds and the related assets that are acquired or own equity interest in those funds are established as separate legal entities with limited liability. Therefore, the
cash flows generated by these entities, whether through operations or financing, are unavailable for general corporate purposes, except as payment to the Company for services
performed by the Company.
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We have historically financed our operations primarily through a combination of operating cash flows, private offerings of our equity securities, and secured and unsecured
debt. In addition, due to the consolidation of CFIF III, we recognize a revolving line of credit with a maximum borrowing amount of $4.5 million.

We hold our excess unrestricted cash in bank accounts with several high-quality financial institutions.

Equity Financing

On May 19, 2023, the Company closed its initial public offering of 1,200,000 shares of Class A common stock at a public offering price of $4.00 per share, for aggregate
gross proceeds of $4.8 million before deducting underwriting discounts, commissions, and other offering expenses.

Corporate Debt

As of December 31, 2023, we have issued and outstanding unsecured promissory notes of $37.8 million with an average outstanding principal balance of $0.2 million, a
weighted average interest rate of 11.42%, and maturity dates ranging from January 2024 to March 2025. The purpose of this financing program is to provide the Company with
flexible, short-term capital to be used to grow its assets under management and assist funds in a fast-moving acquisition or investment, as well as general corporate purposes.
Additionally, the program provides customers of Caliber’s funds access to a short-term lending opportunity. Management actively manages each relationship to determine if the
respective customer would like to redeem upon maturity or extend for an additional period of time. Management has historically been successful at extending these note
programs and, as a result, continues to expect similar outcomes. This outstanding debt resulted in $4.0 million and $1.0 million of interest expense for the year ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Cash Flows Analysis

The section below discusses in more detail the Company’s primary sources and uses of cash and primary drivers of cash flows within the Company’s consolidated
statements of cash flows (in thousands).

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 $ Change

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ (18,720) $ (7,429) $ (11,291)
Investing activities (5,364) (31,752) 26,388 
Financing activities 25,790 38,583 (12,793)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents $ 1,706 $ (598) $ 2,304 
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The assets of our consolidated funds, on a gross basis, can be substantially larger than the assets of our core business and, accordingly could have a substantial effect on the
accompanying statements of cash flows. The table below summarizes our consolidated statements of cash flow by activity attributable to the Company and to our consolidated
funds (in thousands).

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 $ Change

Net cash used in the Company's operating activities $ (7,153) $ (5,435) $ (1,718)
Net cash used in the consolidated funds' operating activities (11,567) (1,994) (9,573)
Net cash used in the Company's operating activities (18,720) (7,429) (11,291)
Net cash used in the Company's investing activities (3,487) (810) (2,677)
Net cash used in the consolidated funds' investing activities (1,877) (30,942) 29,065 
Net cash used in the Company's investing activities (5,364) (31,752) 26,388 
Net cash provided by the Company's financing activities 24,706 8,452 16,254 
Net cash provided by the consolidated funds' financing activities 1,084 30,131 (29,047)
Net cash provided by the Company's financing activities 25,790 38,583 (12,793)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents $ 1,706 $ (598) $ 2,304 

Operating Activities

Our net cash flows from operating activities are generally comprised of asset management revenues and performance allocations, less cash used for operating expenses,
including interest paid on our debt obligations. The increase in net cash flows used in operating activities of the Company during the year ended December 31, 2023, as
compared to the same period in 2022, was primarily related to increased interest payments related to the Company’s corporate notes. The increase in net cash flows used in
operating activities of the consolidated funds during the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the net cash flows provided by operating activities during the same
period in 2022, was primarily due to increased interest payments related to the consolidated funds notes payable.

Investing Activities

The increase in net cash flows used in investing activities of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the same period in 2022, primarily relates
to an increase in the acquisition of real estate assets. The decrease in net cash flows used in investing activities of the consolidated funds is primarily due to the decrease in the
acquisition of real estate assets and the net impact of the consolidation and deconsolidation of VIEs, offset by a decrease in proceeds from the sale of real estate investments.

Financing Activities

The increase in net cash flows provided by financing activities of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the same period in 2022, was
primarily due to an increase of $13.7 million of net proceeds on notes payable and an increase of $2.6 million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock, net of equity
issuance costs during the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the same period in 2022. The decrease in net cash flows provided by financing activities of the
consolidated funds is primarily due to a decrease in the net proceeds from notes payable and notes payable – related parties of our consolidated funds of $12.9 million, an
increase in deferred financing costs paid of $2.3 million, and an increase in distributions to noncontrolling interest holders of $5.7 million during the year ended December 31,
2023 as compared to the same period in 2022.
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Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates are made and evaluated on an ongoing basis using
information that is currently available as well as various other assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from those estimates,
perhaps in adverse ways, and those estimates could be different under different assumptions or conditions.

Accounting Estimates of the Company

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect the Company’s more significant estimates and judgements used in the preparation of our consolidated financial
statements.

Revenue Recognition

In accordance with the Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”), management applies the five-step
framework in determining the timing and amount of revenue to recognize. This framework requires an entity to: (i) identify the contract(s) with customers, (ii) identify the
performance obligations within the contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations within the contract, and
(v) recognize revenue when or as the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Revenues from contracts with customers includes fixed fee arrangements with related party affiliates to provide certain associated activities which are ancillary to and
generally add value to the assets we manage, such as set-up and fund formation services associated with marketing, soliciting, and selling member interests in the affiliated
limited partnerships, brokerage services, construction and development management services, loan placement and guarantees. The recognition and measurement of revenue is
based on the assessment of individual contract terms. For performance obligations satisfied at a point in time, there are no significant judgments made in evaluating when the
customer obtains control of the promised service.

For performance obligations satisfied over time, significant judgment is required to determine how to allocate transaction prices where multiple performance obligations
are identified; when to recognize revenue based on appropriate measurement of the Company’s progress under the contract; and whether constraints on variable consideration
should be applied due to uncertain future events. Transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance
obligation is satisfied. Variable consideration is included in the estimated transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue
recognized will not occur or when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved. The Company’s estimates of variable consideration and determination
of whether to include estimated amounts in transaction price are based largely on an assessment of its anticipated performance and all information that is reasonably available to
the Company. Revenues are recognized when control of the promised services is transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be
entitled to in exchange for those services.

The following describes revenue recognition for the fees the Company earns from providing services under its asset management platform:

Fund set-up fees are a one-time fee for the initial formation, administration, and set-up of the private equity real estate fund. These fees are recognized at the point in time
when the performance under the contract is complete and are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Fund set-up
fees replaced fund formation fees that are earned at a point in time at a fixed rate based on the amount of capital raised into certain managed funds.

Fund management fees are generally based on 1.0% to 1.5% of the unreturned capital contributions in a particular fund and include reimbursement for costs incurred on
behalf of the fund, including an allocation of certain overhead costs. These customer contracts require the Company to provide management services, representing a
performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time. With respect to the Caliber Hospitality Trust (as defined in Note 3 – VIEs), the Company earns a fund
management fee of 0.70% of the Caliber Hospitality Trust’s enterprise value and is reimbursed for certain costs incurred on behalf of the Caliber Hospitality Trust. These
revenues are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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Financing fees are earned for services the Company performs in securing third-party financing on behalf of our private equity real estate funds. These fees are recognized at
the point in time when the performance under the contract is complete, which is essentially upon closing of a loan. In addition, the Company earns fees for guarantying certain
loans, representing a performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time. These revenues are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations.

Development and construction revenues from contracts with customers include fixed fee arrangements with related party affiliates to provide real estate development
services as their principal developer, which include managing and supervising third-party developers and general contractors with respect to the development of the properties
owned by the funds. Revenues are generally based on 4.0% of the total expected costs of the development or 4.0% of the total expected costs of the construction project. Prior to
the commencement of construction, development fee revenue is recognized at a point in time as the related performance obligations are satisfied and the customer obtains
control of the promised service, including negotiation, due diligence, entitlements, planning, and design activities. During the construction period, development fee revenue is
recognized over time as the performance obligations are satisfied. These revenues are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations.

Brokerage fees are earned at a point in time at fixed rates for services performed related to acquisitions, dispositions, leasing, and financing transaction, and are included in
asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Performance allocations are an arrangement in which we are entitled to an allocation of investment returns, generated within the investment funds which we manage, based
on a contractual formula. We typically receive 15.0% to 35.0% of all cash distributions from (i) the operating cash flow of each fund, after payment to the related fund investors
of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns and repayment of preferred capital contributions; and (ii) the cash flow resulting from the sale or refinance of any real
estate assets held by each fund, after payment to the related fund investors of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns and repayment of initial preferred capital
contributions. Our funds’ preferred returns range from 6.0% to 12.0%, typically 6.0% for common equity or 10.0% to 12.0% for preferred equity, which does not participate in
profits. Performance allocations are related to services which have been provided and are recognized when it is determined that they are no longer probable of significant
reversal, which is generally satisfied when an underlying fund investment is realized or sold. These revenues are included in performance allocations in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method in accordance with ASC 740, Accounting for Income Taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are determined based on temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are measured by applying enacted tax rates and laws and are released in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to be recovered or
settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances are
provided against deferred tax assets when it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

A valuation allowance is required to reduce the balance of a deferred tax asset if it is determined that it is more-likely-than-not that all or some portion of the deferred tax
asset will not be realized due to the lack of sufficient taxable income or other limitation on the Company’s ability to utilize the loss carryforward.

We recognize the impact of an income tax position, if that position is more-likely-than-not of being sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position.
Related interest and penalties are classified as income taxes in the financial statements.

Accounting Estimates of Consolidated Funds

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect the consolidated funds’ more significant estimates and judgements used in the preparation of our consolidated
financial statements.
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Consolidated Fund Revenues

In accordance with ASC 606, our consolidated funds apply the five-step framework in determining the timing and amount of revenue to recognize. This framework requires
an entity to: (i) identify the contract(s) with customers, (ii) identify the performance obligations within the contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the
transaction price to the performance obligations within the contract, and (v) recognize revenue when or as the entity satisfies a performance obligation. Our consolidated funds’
revenues primarily consist of hospitality revenues, rental income and interest income.

Consolidated funds – hospitality revenue

Hospitality revenues are comprised of charges for room rentals, food and beverage sales, and other hotel operating activities. Revenues are recognized as earned, which is
defined as the date upon which a guest occupies a room or utilizes the hotel’s services. Revenues are recorded net of sales tax.

Our consolidated funds have performance obligations to provide accommodations and other ancillary services to hotel guests. As compensation for such goods and services,
the consolidated funds are typically entitled to a fixed nightly fee for an agreed upon period and additional fixed fees for any ancillary services purchased. These fees are
generally payable at the time the hotel guest checks out of the hotel. The consolidated funds generally satisfy the performance obligations over time and recognize the revenue
from room sales and from other ancillary guest services on a daily basis, as the rooms are occupied, and the services have been rendered.

For food and beverage, revenue is recognized upon transfer of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the consolidated
funds received in exchange for those services, which is generally when payment is tendered at the time of sale.

The consolidated funds receive deposits for events and rooms. Such deposits are deferred and included in other liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
The deposits are credited to consolidated funds – hospitality revenue when the specific event takes place.

Consolidated funds – other revenue

Consolidated funds – other revenue primarily consists of rental revenue of $4.0 million and $3.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
Rental revenue includes the revenues generated primarily by the rental operations of the residential (multi-family and single-family) and commercial properties of our
consolidated funds.

Consolidated Fund Expenses

Consolidated fund expenses consist primarily of costs, expenses and fees that are incurred by, or arise out of the operation and activities of or otherwise related to, our
consolidated funds, including, without limitation, operating costs, depreciation and amortization, interest expense on debt held by our consolidated funds, gain on
extinguishment of debt, gain on derivative instruments, insurance expenses, professional fees and other costs associated with administering and supporting those funds.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of financial instruments is disclosed in accordance with ASC 825, Financial Instruments. The fair value of our financial instruments is estimated using
available market information and established valuation methodologies. The estimates of fair value are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the consolidated funds could
realize on disposition of the financial instruments. The use of different market assumptions and/or valuation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair
value amounts.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market Risk

The market risk associated with financial instruments and derivative financial instruments is the risk of loss from adverse changes in market prices or interest rates. Our
market risk arises primarily from interest rate risk relating to variable-rate borrowings. To meet our short and long-term liquidity requirements, we borrow funds at a
combination of fixed and variable rates. Our interest rate risk management objectives are to limit the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows and to manage
our overall borrowing costs. To achieve these objectives, from time to time, we may enter into interest rate hedge contracts such as swaps, caps, collars, treasury locks, options
and forwards in order to mitigate our interest rate risk with respect to various debt instruments. We would not hold or issue these derivative contracts for trading or speculative
purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

As of December 31, 2023, our debt included fixed-rate debt with a fair value and carrying value of $96.0 million and $103.9 million, respectively. Changes in market
interest rates on our fixed rate debt impact the fair value of the debt, but they have no impact on interest incurred or cash flow. For instance, if interest rates rise 100 basis points,
and the fixed rate debt balance remains constant, we expect the fair value of our debt to decrease, the same way the price of a bond declines as interest rates rise.

As of December 31, 2023, our debt included variable-rate debt with a fair value and carrying value of $81.6 million. The sensitivity analysis related to our variable-rate
debt assumes an immediate 100 basis point move in interest rates from their December 31, 2023 levels, with all other variables held constant. A 100 basis point increase or
decrease in variable interest rates on our variable-rate debt would increase or decrease our interest expense by $0.8 million annually.

Credit Risk

Substantially all of the Company’s revenues are generated from the management, ownership and/or operations of real estate assets located in Alaska, Arizona, Colorado,
and Texas. The Company mitigates the associated risk by:

• diversifying our investments in real estate assets across multiple asset types, including hospitality, commercial, single-family, multi-family, and self-storage properties;
• diversifying our investments in real estate assets across multiple geographic locations including different markets and sub-markets in which our real estate assets are

located;
• diversifying our investments in real estate assets across assets at differing points of stabilization, and in varying states of cash flow optimization; and
• maintaining financing relationships with a diversified mix of lenders (differing size and type), including large national banks, local community banks, private equity

lenders, and insurance companies.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by Item 8 is hereby incorporated by reference to our consolidated financial statements beginning on page F-1 of this document.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures

None.

51



Table of Contents

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“the Exchange Act”)) that are
designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, we
recognize that no controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide absolute assurance of achieving the desired control objectives.

In accordance with Rules 13a-15(b) and 15d-15(b) of the Exchange Act, management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2023 and determined that the disclosure
controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance level as of that date.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

This report does not include a report on management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting or an attestation report of our registered public
accounting firm due to a transition period established by the SEC for newly public companies.

Because we are an “emerging growth company” under the JOBS Act, our independent public accounting firm will not be required to attest to the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting for so long as we are an emerging growth company.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

No change occurred in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) during the three months ended
December 31, 2023 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdiction that Prevent Inspections.

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item will be included in our Proxy Statement, to be filed within 120 days following the end of our fiscal year, and is incorporated herein
by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item will be included in our Proxy Statement, to be filed within 120 days following the end of our fiscal year, and is incorporated herein
by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owner and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item will be included in our Proxy Statement, to be filed within 120 days following the end of our fiscal year, and is incorporated herein
by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item will be included in our Proxy Statement, to be filed within 120 days following the end of our fiscal year, and is incorporated herein
by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item will be included in our Proxy Statement, to be filed within 120 days following the end of our fiscal year, and is incorporated herein
by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements

The Financial Statements are included herein at pages F-3 through F-7.

Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC are not required under the related instructions, the
required information is contained elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, or the schedules are inapplicable and have therefore been omitted.

Exhibits

The following exhibits are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 (and are numbered in accordance with Item 601 of
Regulation S-K):

Exhibit No. Description

3.1
Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of CaliberCos Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of CaliberCos Inc.’s
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 19, 2023

3.2
Amended and Restated Bylaws of CaliberCos Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of CaliberCos Inc.’s Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on May 19, 2023)

4.1* Description of Securities

4.2
Form of Class A common stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-
1/A, filed with the SEC on October 28, 2022 (File No. 333-267657))

4.3

Amended and Restated Stockholders’ Agreement dated March 22, 2023, by and among the Company, John C. Loeffler, Jennifer Schrader
and Donnie Schrader (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A, filed with the SEC
on March 22, 2023 (File No. 333-267657))

4.3.1
Stock Purchase Agreement dated September 21, 2018, by and among the Company and Donnie Schrader (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 of CaliberCos Inc.’s offering statement on Form 1-A (File No.024-11016), filed with the SEC on June 13, 2019)

10.1†
CaliberCos Inc. Amended and Restated 2017 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of CaliberCos Inc.’s Form S-8
(File No. 333-272078), filed with the SEC on May 19, 2023)

10.2

Loan Agreement, dated as of January 20, 2023, among 47th Street Phoenix Airport LLC, CHPH Holding, LLC, and 44th and McDowell
Holding, LLC, as Borrower and Trimont Real Estate Advisors, LLC, as Agent for BP Holdings SIGMA LLC, as Lender (Incorporated by
reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-04321), filed with the SEC on June 23, 2023)

10.3

Guaranty of Recourse Obligations dated January 20, 2023, by John C. Loeffler, II, Jennifer Schrader,CDIF, LLC, Caliber Diversified
Opportunity Fund II, LP, and CaliberCos Inc. for the benefit of BP Holdings Sigma, LLC(Incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-04321), filed with the SEC on June 23, 2023)

10.4

Loan Agreement dated as of October 17, 2019 between Pollock Gateway II DE LLC, as borrower and Barclays Capital Real Estate Inc., as
lender (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-04321), filed with the SEC on June 23,
2023)

10.5

Assumption Agreement dated January 25, 2023 by and among Pollock Gateway II DE LLC, original borrower, Gateway II Holdco, LLC,
new borrower, Guila Pollock and Vita Piazza, trustees of The James and Guila Pollock Trust dated June 27, 2006, original guarantor,
CaliberCos Inc., new guarantor, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee for the benefit of the registered holders of BBCMS
Mortgage Trust 2019-C5, Commercial Mortgage Pass Through Certificates, Series 2019-C5, lender (Incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-04321), filed with the SEC on June 23, 2023)

10.6†
Executive Employment Agreement dated January 1, 2019 by and among CaliberCos Inc. and Jennifer Schrader (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 6.5 of CaliberCos Inc.’s offering statement on Form 1-A (File No.024-11016), filed with the SEC on August 19, 2019)

54

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000110465923062737/tm2316200d1_ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000110465923062737/tm2316200d1_ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000110465923062737/tm2316200d1_ex3-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000110465923062737/tm2316200d1_ex3-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000110465922112555/tm2228946d1_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000110465922112555/tm2228946d1_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000110465923035668/tm2230806d13_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000110465923035668/tm2230806d13_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000114420419030743/tv515450_ex3-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000114420419030743/tv515450_ex3-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000110465923062652/tm2232225d2_ex99-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000110465923062652/tm2232225d2_ex99-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000162728223000012/ex102_loanagreementxairp.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000162728223000012/ex102_loanagreementxairp.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000162728223000012/ex-103guarantyofrecourse.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000162728223000012/ex-103guarantyofrecourse.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000162728223000012/ex-104gatewayloan.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000162728223000012/ex-104gatewayloan.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000162728223000012/ex-105assumptionagreemen.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000162728223000012/ex-105assumptionagreemen.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000114420419040575/tv527915_ex6-5.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627282/000114420419040575/tv527915_ex6-5.htm


Table of Contents

10.7†

Executive Employment Agreement dated January 1, 2019 by and among CaliberCos Inc. and John C. Loeffler II (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 6.6 of CaliberCos Inc.’s offering statement on Form 1-A (File No.024-11016), filed with the SEC on August 19,
2019)

10.8†
Executive Employment Agreement dated January 1, 2019 by and among CaliberCos Inc. and Roy Bade (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 6.7 of CaliberCos Inc.’s offering statement on Form 1-A (File No.024-11016), filed with the SEC on August 19, 2019)

10.9†
Executive Employment Agreement dated January 1, 2019 by and among CaliberCos Inc. and Jade Leung (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 6.8 of CaliberCos Inc.’s offering statement on Form 1-A (File No.024-11016), filed with the SEC on August 19, 2019)

10.10
Form of Indemnification Agreement between CaliberCos Inc. and its directors and officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to
the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A, filed with the SEC on November 23, 2022 (File No. 333-267657))

10.11

Form of Escrow Agreement by and among CaliberCos Inc., SI Securities, LLC and The Bryn Mawr Trust Company of Delaware
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 8.1 of CaliberCos Inc.’s offering statement on Form 1-A (File No.024-11016), filed with the SEC on
January 3, 2020)

10.12

Caliber/ Encore Opportunistic Growth Fund Limited Liability Company Agreement dated May 1, 2022 by and between CaliberCos Inc.
and Encore Caliber Holdings, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A,
filed with the SEC on April 12, 2023 (File No. 333-267657))

10.13

Form of Managing Dealer Agreement by and among CaliberCos Inc., Skyway Capital Markets, LLC and Issuer (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A, filed with the SEC on April 12, 2023 (File No. 333-
267657))

10.14

Sponsor Consulting Agreement dated December 1, 2022 by and among CaliberCos Inc. and Skyway Capital Markets, LLC (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A, filed with the SEC on April 12, 2023 (File No.
333-267657))

10.15
Contribution Agreement dated June 30, 2023 (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 024-
11016), filed with the SEC on July 7, 2023)

14.1* Code of Ethics
19.1* Insider Trading Policy
21.1* Subsidiaries
23.1* Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP
31.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a)
31.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a)

32.1** Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
32.2** Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
97.1* Clawback Policy

101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance
101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels
101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

_____________________________

* Filed herewith
** In accordance with Item 601(b)(32) of Regulation S-K, this Exhibit is not deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to

the liabilities of that section. Such certifications will not be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act,
except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.

† Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

Not Applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in Scottsdale, Arizona, on April 15, 2024.

CALIBERCOS INC.

By: /s/ John C. Loeffler, II
Name: John C. Loeffler, II
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

As required under the Securities Act of 1934, as amended, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed below by the following persons in the capacities and on the
dates indicated:

Signature Title Date

/s/ John C. Loeffler, II Chairman and Chief Executive Officer April 15, 2024
John C. Loeffler, II  (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Jade Leung Chief Financial Officer (Principal Accounting Officer) April 15, 2024
Jade Leung

/s/ Jennifer Schrader President, Chief Operating Officer and Vice-Chairperson April 15, 2024
Jennifer Schrader

/s/ William J. Gerber Director April 15, 2024
William J. Gerber

/s/ Michael Trzupek Director April 15, 2024
Michael Trzupek

/s/ Dan Hansen Director April 15, 2024
Dan Hansen

/s/ Lawrence Taylor Director April 15, 2024
Lawrence Taylor
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of CaliberCos Inc. and subsidiaries

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CaliberCos Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity, and cash flows, for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively
referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December
31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our
audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Tempe, Arizona
April 15, 2024

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2020.
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CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Assets

Cash $ 940 $ 1,921 
Restricted cash 2,569 23 
Real estate investments, net 21,492 2,065 
Due from related parties 9,759 9,646 
Investments in unconsolidated entities 3,338 3,156 
Operating lease - right of use assets 193 1,411 
Prepaid and other assets 2,781 5,861 

Assets of consolidated funds
Cash 2,865 5,736 
Restricted cash 11,266 8,254 
Real estate investments, net 185,636 196,177 
Accounts receivable, net 1,978 2,228 
Notes receivable - related parties 34,620 28,229 
Operating lease - right of use assets 10,318 8,769 
Prepaid and other assets 11,677 5,358 

Total assets $ 299,432 $ 278,834 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Notes payable $ 53,799 $ 14,653 
Notes payable - related parties — 365 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 8,886 6,374 
Buyback obligation — 12,391 
Due to related parties 257 171 
Operating lease liabilities 119 1,587 
Other liabilities 420 64 

Liabilities of consolidated funds
Notes payable, net 129,684 134,256 
Notes payable - related parties 12,055 6,973 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 11,736 9,252 
Due to related parties 101 68 
Operating lease liabilities 13,957 12,461 
Other liabilities 2,400 3,030 
Total liabilities 233,414 201,645 

Commitments and Contingencies
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CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 22,500,000 authorized and no shares issued and outstanding as of

December 31, 2023 and 12,500,000 shares authorized and 1,651,302 shares of Series B Preferred Stock
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2022 — — 

Common stock Class A, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized, 13,872,671 and 10,790,787 shares
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively 14 11 

Common stock Class B, $0.001 par value; 15,000,000 shares authorized, 7,416,414 shares issued and
outstanding as December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 7 7 

Paid-in capital 39,432 33,108 
Less treasury stock, at cost, 277,342 shares repurchased and 3,432,351 forward repurchase shares as of

December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2023, there were 318,957 shares repurchased and no forward
repurchase shares — (13,626)

Accumulated deficit (36,830) (22,709)
Stockholders’ equity (deficit) attributable to CaliberCos Inc. 2,623 (3,209)
Stockholders’ equity attributable to noncontrolling interests 63,395 80,398 
Total stockholders’ equity 66,018 77,189 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 299,432 $ 278,834 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Revenues
Asset management revenues $ 10,571 $ 15,344 
Performance allocations 3,639 2,543 
Consolidated funds – hospitality revenues 68,905 59,564 
Consolidated funds – other revenues 7,822 6,505 

Total revenues 90,937 83,956 

Expenses
Operating costs 21,311 14,609 
General and administrative 6,770 6,679 
Marketing and advertising 1,052 1,179 
Depreciation and amortization 550 58 
Consolidated funds – hospitality expenses 80,669 60,667 
Consolidated funds – other expenses 9,162 9,213 

Total expenses 119,514 92,405 

Consolidated funds - gain on sale of real estate investments 4,976 21,530 

Other income, net 374 326 
Gain on extinguishment of debt — 1,421 
Interest income 350 178 
Interest expense (4,717) (1,055)
Net (loss) income before income taxes (27,594) 13,951 
Benefit from income taxes — — 
Net (loss) income (27,594) 13,951 
Net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interests (14,891) 11,931 
Net (loss) income attributable to CaliberCos Inc. $ (12,703) $ 2,020 

Basic net (loss) income per share attributable to common stockholders $ (0.63) $ 0.11 

Diluted net (loss) income per share attributable to common stockholders $ (0.63) $ 0.11 
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 20,087 18,003

Diluted 20,087 19,822

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

Preferred Stock Common Stock

Paid in Capital Treasury Stock
Accumulated

Deficit
Noncontrolling

Interests

Total
Stockholders’

Equity
Class A Class B

Shares Par Value Shares Par Value Shares Par Value
Balances as of December 31, 2021 1,650 — 10,523 10 7,416 7 29,249 (13,626) (24,729) 58,782 49,693 

Issuance of common stock — — 492 1 — — 3,311 — — — 3,312 
Repurchases of common stock — — (277) — — — — — — — — 
Equity based compensation expense — — 13 — — — 548 — — — 548 
Contributions from noncontrolling interest

holders — — — — — — — — — 26,389 26,389 
Redemptions of noncontrolling interest holders — — — — — — — — — (2,085) (2,085)
Distributions to noncontrolling interest holders — — — — — — — — — (4,364) (4,364)
Consolidation of VIE — — — — — — — — — 3,864 3,864 
Deconsolidation of VIEs — — — — — — — — — (14,119) (14,119)
Other 1 — 40 — — — — — — — — 
Net income (loss) — — — — — — — — 2,020 11,931 13,951 

Balances as of December 31, 2022 1,651 $ — 10,791 $ 11 7,416 $ 7 $ 33,108 $ (13,626) $ (22,709) $ 80,398 $ 77,189 

Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs — — 1,200 1 — — 2,598 — — — 2,599 
Repurchases of common stock — — (42) — — — — — — — — 
Conversions of preferred stock (1,651) — 1,651 2 — — — — — — 2 
Equity based compensation expense — — 273 — — — 3,726 — — — 3,726 
Contributions from noncontrolling interest

holders — — — — — — — — — 27,927 27,927 
Redemptions of noncontrolling interest holders — — — — — — — — — (10,045) (10,045)
Distributions to noncontrolling interest holders — — — — — — — — — (10,014) (10,014)
Consolidation of VIE — — — — — — — — — (20,805) (20,805)
Deconsolidation of VIEs — — — — — — — — — 10,825 10,825 
Retirement of treasury stock — — — — — — — 13,626 (1,418) — 12,208 
Net income (loss) — — — — — — — — (12,703) (14,891) (27,594)

Balances as of December 31, 2023 — $ — 13,873 $ 14 7,416 $ 7 $ 39,432 $ — $ (36,830) $ 63,395 $ 66,018 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net (loss) income $ (27,594) $ 13,951 
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 527 44 
Non-cash lease expense and gain on lease extinguishment (280) (125)
Non-cash performance allocations (2,382) — 
Equity-based compensation 3,726 547 
Gain on the disposition of real estate — (122)
Gain on extinguishment of debt — (1,421)
Loss on investments in unconconsolidated entities 1,339 — 
Amortization of above-market/below market leases and straight-line rent, net 203 — 
Amortization of deferred financing costs 34 — 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Due from related parties (1,897) (4,028)
Prepaid expenses, right-of-use assets and other assets 3,169 (6,225)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 931 3,145 
Due to related parties 86 (556)
Lease liabilities and other liabilities 94 1,286 

Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash from operating activities of consolidated funds:
Depreciation 10,358 9,293 
Non-cash lease expense (53) (106)
Gain on the disposition of real estate (4,976) (20,419)
Loss (gain) on extinguishment of debt 238 (3,131)
Loss (gain) on derivative instruments 515 (1,646)
Loss on disposal of furniture, fixtures and equipment 687 — 
Impairment — 144 
Amortization of advanced key money (75) (75)
Amortization of above-market/below market leases and straight-line rent, net (409) 40 
Amortization of deferred financing costs 1,543 643 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities of consolidated funds:

Accounts receivable, net (375) (1,012)
Due from related parties 3 190 
Prepaid expenses, right-of use assets and other assets (8,040) (9,414)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,141 969 
Due to related parties 1,503 170 
Lease liabilities and other liabilities 1,264 10,429 

Net cash used in the Company's operating activities (18,720) (7,429)

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Investments in real estate assets (250) (275)
Acquisition of real estate assets (3,015) — 
Proceeds from the sale of real estate assets 10 239 
Investments in unconsolidated entities (182) (774)
Funding of notes receivable - related party (980) — 
Payment received on notes receivable - related party 930 — 
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CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Cash Flows From Investing Activities of consolidated funds
Consolidation of VIEs $ 12,927 $ 1,393 
Deconsolidation of VIEs (12,952) (17,235)
Investments in real estate assets (13,744) (13,941)
Acquisition of real estate assets (6,643) (23,766)
Proceeds from the sale of real estate assets 26,075 30,734 
Funding of notes receivable - related party (15,963) (13,052)
Payment received on notes receivable - related party 8,423 4,925 

Net cash used in the Company's investing activities (5,364) (31,752)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Payment of deferred financing costs (253) — 
Proceeds from notes payable 26,605 10,390 
Repayments of notes payable (3,697) (1,148)
Proceeds from notes payable - related parties 4,000 — 
Repayments of notes payable - related parties (4,365) (490)
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs 2,599 13 
Payments of treasury stock - buyback obligation (183) (313)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities of consolidated funds
Payment of deferred financing costs (2,782) (510)
Proceeds from notes payable 69,654 35,563 
Repayments of notes payable (79,031) (28,285)
Proceeds from notes payable - related parties 10,008 15,901 
Repayments of notes payable - related parties (2,802) (12,478)
Contributions from noncontrolling interest holders 26,096 26,389 
Redemptions of noncontrolling interests (10,045) (2,085)
Distributions to noncontrolling interest holders (10,014) (4,364)

Net cash provided by the Company's financing activities 25,790 38,583 

Net Change in Cash and Restricted Cash 1,706 (598)
Cash and Restricted Cash at Beginning of Period 15,934 16,532 
Cash and Restricted Cash at End of Period $ 17,640 $ 15,934 

Reconciliation of Cash and Restricted Cash
Cash at beginning of period $ 7,657 $ 8,378 
Restricted cash at beginning of period 8,277 8,154 
Cash and restricted cash at beginning of period 15,934 16,532 

Cash at end of period $ 3,805 $ 7,657 
Restricted cash at end of period 13,835 8,277 
Cash and restricted cash at end of period 17,640 15,934 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-8



Table of Contents

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 – Organization and Liquidity

Organization

CaliberCos Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (the “Company”) is an alternative asset manager of private syndication and direct investment
real estate funds and provider of a full suite of traditional real estate services. The Company was formed in November 2014, and originally began as Caliber Companies, LLC,
an Arizona limited liability company, which commenced operations in January 2009. The Company provides various support services to the investments we manage including
asset management services, fund set-up services, lending support, construction and development management, and real estate brokerage. As of December 31, 2023, we had
operations in Alaska, Arizona, Colorado, and Texas.

In general, our private equity real estate funds are organized as operating partnerships, in which multiple unrelated passive investors own partnership interests. In addition,
we are designated as the manager and/or general partner of the partnership. Depending on the legal structure and arrangements between us and the funds, we may or may not
consolidate the partnerships for financial reporting purposes. For funds in which we are determined to be the controlling party or primary beneficiary for financial reporting
purposes, the fund is consolidated, and the passive investors’ ownership is presented as noncontrolling interest in the accompanying consolidated financial statements
(“Consolidated Funds”, and collectively with the Company, the “Consolidated Company”, “Caliber”, “we”, “our”, and “us”). For funds in which we are not determined to be the
controlling party for financial reporting purposes, the fund is not consolidated, and any fees earned from the fund are included in fund management revenue in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements. See Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for more detail.

Liquidity and Going Concern

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applicable to a going concern, which
contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business.

The Company had individual corporate notes aggregating $36.4 million at December 31, 2023 for which the maturity dates of the majority of these notes are within the 12-
month period subsequent to when the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 were issued. Additionally, the Company has incurred operating losses and
negative operating cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2023, and anticipates additional future operating losses and negative operating cash flows. The Company does
not have sufficient cash on hand to satisfy such obligations. As such, these conditions and events raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

In response to these conditions, management plans to i) negotiate extensions of such loans or refinance such debt, ii) obtain new financing, iii) reduce operating costs, iv)
collect receivables and return investments from the Consolidated Funds, and/or v) increase capital raise through continued expansion of fundraising channels. The Company has
commenced discussions with the various lenders in pursuit of extending or refinancing its loans. As of the date of these financial statements, management was able to extend
$12.3 million of corporate notes for an additional 13 months (see Note 6 – Notes Payable). Management’s plans include timely collection on the Company’s outstanding
accounts and notes receivable from affiliated entities for which management has influence and control and implementing strategies to reduce costs. As a result, the Company
has concluded that management’s plans are probable of being achieved to alleviate substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Accounting Policies of the Company

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The accompanying consolidated financial statements include our accounts, our consolidated subsidiaries, and legal entities in which
the Company is deemed to have a direct or indirect controlling financial interest based on either a variable interest model or voting interest model. The equity and net income or
loss attributable to noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries is shown separately in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, statements of operations, and statements of
changes in stockholders’ equity. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
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CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Variable Interest Entities

We determine if an entity is a variable interest entity (“VIE”) based on several factors, including whether the equity holders, as a group, lack the characteristics of a
controlling financial interest. We analyze any investments in VIEs to determine if we are the primary beneficiary. A reporting entity is determined to be the primary beneficiary
if it holds a controlling financial interest in a VIE.

Determining which reporting entity, if any, has a controlling financial interest in a VIE is primarily a qualitative analysis focused on identifying which reporting entity has
both (i) the power to direct the activities of the entity that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance and (ii) the obligation to absorb losses or the right to
receive benefits from such entity that could potentially be significant to such entity. Performance of that analysis requires the exercise of judgment. We consolidate any VIEs
for which we are the primary beneficiary and we disclose our maximum exposure to loss related to the consolidated VIEs. See Note 3 – VIEs for more detail.

Voting Interest Entities

Entities that do not qualify as VIEs are generally assessed for consolidation as voting interest entities (“VOEs”). For VOEs, we consolidate an entity if we have a
controlling financial interest. We have a controlling financial interest in a VOE if (i) for legal entities other than partnerships, we own a majority voting interest in the entity or,
for limited partnerships and similar entities, we own a majority of the entity’s kick-out rights through voting limited partnership interests and (ii) non-controlling shareholders or
partners do not hold substantive participating rights, and no other conditions exist that would indicate that we do not control the entity.

Reclassification

The asset management fees and transaction and advisory fees, previously presented in their own line items for prior periods presented, have been combined into one line
item, asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, to be consistent with the current year presentation. The reclassification does not
affect prior period’s total revenues or net income (loss).

Use of Accounting Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates are made and evaluated on an ongoing basis using
information that is currently available as well as various other assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ significantly from
those estimates.

Cash

Cash includes cash in bank accounts. The Company deposits cash with several high-quality financial institutions. These deposits are guaranteed by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Company (“FDIC”) up to an insurance limit of $250,000. At times, the Company’s cash balances may exceed FDIC limits. Although the Company bears risk on
amounts in excess of those insured by the FDIC, it has not experienced and does not anticipate any losses due to the high quality of the institutions where the deposits are held.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consists of held in escrow accounts by contractual agreement with lenders as part of financial loan covenant requirements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

If an entity is not a VIE, our determination of the appropriate accounting method with respect to our investments in limited liability companies and other investments is
based on voting control. For our managing member interests in limited liability companies, we are presumed to control (and therefore consolidate) the entity, unless the other
limited partners have substantive rights that overcome this presumption of control. These substantive rights allow the limited partners to remove the general partner with or
without cause or to participate in significant decisions made in the ordinary course of the entity’s business. We account for our non-controlling investments in these entities
under the equity method. Our investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries in which we have the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies, but
do not control, or entities which are VIE in which we are not the primary beneficiary are accounted for under the equity method. The equity method of accounting requires the
investment to be initially recorded at cost and subsequently adjusted for the Company’s share of equity in the equity method investment’s earnings and distributions. Our share
of the earnings or loss from equity method investments is included in other income (expenses), net on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Our determination of the appropriate accounting treatment for an investment in a subsidiary requires judgment of several factors including the size and nature of our
ownership interest and the other owners’ substantive rights to make decisions for the entity. If we were to make different judgments or conclusions as to the level of our control
or influence, it could result in a different accounting treatment. Consolidating an investment generally would have no impact on our net income or stockholders’ deficit
attributable to CaliberCos Inc. in any accounting period, but a different treatment would impact individual income statement and balance sheet line items, as consolidation
would effectively “gross up” our statement of operations and balance sheet.

As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the carrying amount of our investments in unconsolidated entities was $3.3 million and $3.2 million, respectively. In
certain situations, the Company has invested only a nominal amount of cash, or no cash at all, into a venture. As the manager of the venture, we are entitled to 15.0% – 35.0% of
the residual cash flow produced by the venture after the payment of any priority returns. Under the equity method, impairment losses are recognized upon evidence of other-
than-temporary losses of value. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had no impairment losses related to its investments in unconsolidated entities.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company acquired its headquarters office building, recording the real estate assets at cost. Building and building
improvements are depreciated over the estimated useful life of the respective asset, generally 15 to 40 years. Depreciation expense also includes costs associated with the
purchase of furniture and equipment, which are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the asset, generally three to
seven years beginning in the first full month the asset is placed in service. Intangible lease assets are amortized using the straight-line method over the lease term.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, depreciation expense for the Company was $0.5 million. Depreciation expense for the Company was an immaterial amount for the
year ended December 31, 2022.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Real estate and other long-lived assets to be held and used are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization, unless the carrying amount of the asset is
determined not to be recoverable. If events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a long-lived asset may not be recoverable, we test its recoverability by
comparing the carrying amount to our estimate of the undiscounted net future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset, excluding interest charges. If the carrying amount
exceeds the aggregate undiscounted future cash flows, we recognize an impairment loss to the extent the carrying amount exceeds the estimated fair value of the asset.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had no impairment losses related to its real estate and other long-lived assets.
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Concentration of Credit Risk

Substantially all of the Company’s revenues are generated from the management, ownership and/or operations of real estate assets located in Alaska, Arizona, Colorado,
and Texas. The Company mitigates the associated risk by:

• diversifying our investments in real estate assets across multiple asset types, including hospitality, commercial, single-family, multi-family, and self-storage properties;
• diversifying our investments in real estate assets across multiple geographic locations including different markets and sub-markets in which our real estate assets are

located;
• diversifying our investments in real estate assets across assets at differing points of stabilization, and in varying states of cash flow optimization; and
• maintaining financing relationships with a diversified mix of lenders (differing size and type), including large national banks, local community banks, private equity

lenders, and insurance companies.

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Real Estate Partnerships

We report the unaffiliated partners’ interests in the net assets of our consolidated real estate partnerships as noncontrolling interests within the accompanying consolidated
statements of changes in stockholders’ equity. Noncontrolling interests consist of equity interests held by limited partners in consolidated real estate partnerships. We attribute
to noncontrolling interests their share of income or loss of the consolidated partnerships based on their proportionate interest in the results of operations of the partnerships,
including their share of losses even if such attribution results in a deficit noncontrolling interest balance within our equity and partners’ capital accounts.

The terms of the partnership agreements generally require the partnerships to be liquidated following the sale of the underlying real estate assets. As the general partner in
these partnerships, we ordinarily control the execution of real estate sales and other events that could lead to the liquidation, redemption or other settlement of noncontrolling
interests. The terms of certain partnership agreements outline differing classes of equity ownership, some of which are redeemable by the partnership at the partnership
manager’s discretion.

Revenue Recognition

In accordance with the Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”), management applies the five-step
framework in determining the timing and amount of revenue to recognize. This framework requires an entity to: (i) identify the contract(s) with customers, (ii) identify the
performance obligations within the contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations within the contract, and
(v) recognize revenue when or as the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Revenues from contracts with customers includes fixed fee arrangements with related party affiliates to provide certain associated activities which are ancillary to and
generally add value to the assets we manage, such as set-up and fund formation services associated with marketing, soliciting, and selling member interests in the affiliated
limited partnerships, brokerage services, construction and development management services, loan placement and guarantees. The recognition and measurement of revenue is
based on the assessment of individual contract terms. For performance obligations satisfied at a point in time, there are no significant judgments made in evaluating when the
customer obtains control of the promised service.

For performance obligations satisfied over time, significant judgment is required to determine how to allocate transaction prices where multiple performance obligations
are identified; when to recognize revenue based on appropriate measurement of the Company’s progress under the contract; and whether constraints on variable consideration
should be applied due to uncertain future events. Transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance
obligation is satisfied. Variable consideration is included in the estimated transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue
recognized will not occur or when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved. The Company’s estimates of variable consideration and determination
of whether to include estimated amounts in transaction price are based largely on an assessment of its anticipated performance and all information that is reasonably available to
the Company. Revenues are recognized when control of the promised services is transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be
entitled to in exchange for those services.
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The following describes revenue recognition for the fees the Company earns from providing services under its asset management platform:

Fund set-up fees are a one-time fee for the initial formation, administration, and set-up of the private equity real estate fund. These fees are recognized at the point in time
when the performance under the contract is complete and are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Fund set-up
fees replaced fund formation fees that are earned at a point in time at a fixed rate based on the amount of capital raised into certain managed funds.

Fund management fees are generally based on 1.0% to 1.5% of the unreturned capital contributions in a particular fund and include reimbursement for costs incurred on
behalf of the fund, including an allocation of certain overhead costs. These customer contracts require the Company to provide management services, representing a
performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time. With respect to the Caliber Hospitality Trust (as defined in Note 3 – VIEs), the Company earns a fund
management fee of 0.70% of the Caliber Hospitality Trust’s enterprise value and is reimbursed for certain costs incurred on behalf of the Caliber Hospitality Trust. These
revenues are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Financing fees are earned for services the Company performs in securing third-party financing on behalf of our private equity real estate funds. These fees are recognized at
the point in time when the performance under the contract is complete, which is essentially upon closing of a loan. In addition, the Company earns fees for guarantying certain
loans, representing a performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time. These revenues are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations.

Development and construction revenues from contracts with customers include fixed fee arrangements with related party affiliates to provide real estate development
services as their principal developer, which include managing and supervising third-party developers and general contractors with respect to the development of the properties
owned by the funds. Revenues are generally based on 4.0% of the total expected costs of the development or 4.0% of the total expected costs of the construction project. Prior to
the commencement of construction, development fee revenue is recognized at a point in time as the related performance obligations are satisfied and the customer obtains
control of the promised service, including negotiation, due diligence, entitlements, planning, and design activities. During the construction period, development fee revenue is
recognized over time as the performance obligations are satisfied. These revenues are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations.

Brokerage fees are earned at a point in time at fixed rates for services performed related to acquisitions, dispositions, leasing, and financing transaction, and are included in
asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Performance allocations are an arrangement in which we are entitled to an allocation of investment returns, generated within the investment funds which we manage, based
on a contractual formula. We typically receive 15.0% to 35.0% of all cash distributions from (i) the operating cash flow of each fund, after payment to the related fund investors
of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns and repayment of preferred capital contributions; and (ii) the cash flow resulting from the sale or refinance of any real
estate assets held by each fund, after payment to the related fund investors of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns and repayment of initial preferred capital
contributions. Our funds’ preferred returns range from 6.0% to 12.0%, typically 6.0% for common equity or 10.0% to 12.0% for preferred equity, which does not participate in
profits. Performance allocations are related to services which have been provided and are recognized when it is determined that they are no longer probable of significant
reversal, which is generally satisfied when an underlying fund investment is realized or sold. These revenues are included in performance allocations in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.

Leases

Lessor

At the inception of a new lease arrangement, including new leases that arise from amendments, the Company assesses the terms and conditions to determine the proper
lease classification. When the terms of a lease effectively transfer control of the underlying asset, the lease is classified as a sales-type lease. When a lease does not effectively
transfer control of the underlying asset to the lessee, but the Company obtains a guarantee for the value of the asset from a third-party, the Company classifies the lease as a
direct financing lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases. The Company did not have any sales-type or direct financing leases as of December 31, 2023. For
operating leases with minimum scheduled rent increases, the consolidated
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funds recognize rental revenue on a straight-line basis, including the effect of any free rent periods, over the lease term when collectability of lease payments is probable.
Variable lease payments are recognized as rental revenue in the period when the changes in facts and circumstances on which the variable lease payments are based occur.

The Company identified two separate lease components as follows: i) land lease component, and ii) single property lease component comprised of building, land
improvements and tenant improvements. The Company’s leases also contain provisions for tenants to reimburse the consolidated funds for maintenance and other property
operating expenses, which are considered to be non-lease components. The Company elected the practical expedient to combine lease and non-lease components and the non-
lease components will be included with the single property lease component as the predominant component.

Lessee

To account for leases for which the Company is the lessee, contracts must be analyzed upon inception to determine if the arrangement is, or contains, a lease. A lease
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Lease classification tests and measurement procedures are
performed at the lease commencement date.

The lease liability is initially measured as the present value of the lease payments over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate is
readily determinable; otherwise, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used. The incremental borrowing rate is determined based on the estimated rate of interest that the
lessee would pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term at an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment. The lease term is the
noncancelable period of the lease and includes any renewal and termination options the Company is reasonably certain to exercise. The lease liability balance is amortized using
the effective interest method. The lease liability is remeasured when the contract is modified, upon the resolution of a contingency such that variable payments become fixed or
if the assessment of exercising an extension, termination or purchase option changes.

The right-of-use (“ROU”) asset balance is initially measured as the lease liability amount, adjusted for any lease payments made prior to the commencement date, initial
direct costs, estimated costs to dismantle, remove, or restore the underlying asset and incentives received.

The Company’s impairment assessment for ROU assets is consistent with the impairment analysis for the Company's other long-lived assets and is reviewed quarterly.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable primarily consists of reimbursable expenses from third-party development projects. The Company continually reviews receivables and determines
collectability by taking into consideration the history of past write-offs, collections, current credit conditions, payment history, and the financial condition of the related third-
party service providers. In the event that the collectability of a receivable is uncertain, the Company will record an increase in the allowance for doubtful accounts. Amounts
that are determined to be uncollectible with a high degree of certainty are written-off through bad debt expense, which is included in operating costs on the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. The Company did not record an allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to the Company by the weighted average number of
shares outstanding during each period. The computation of diluted income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders further assumes the potential dilutive effect of
potential common shares, which includes common shares, consisting of (a) stock options and warrants using the treasury stock method, and (b) convertible debt and preferred
stock using the if-converted method. To the extent the inclusion of potential common shares is anti-dilutive, the potential common shares are excluded from the computation of
diluted income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders. See Note 13 – Net Income (Loss) Per Share for the calculation of earnings per share.
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Related Parties

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into transactions with related parties. Related parties include affiliates of the entity, entities under common control of
the Company, significant stockholders and executive management, and other parties that can significantly influence the management and operating policies of the Company.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method in accordance with ASC 740, Accounting for Income Taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are determined based on temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are measured by applying enacted tax rates and laws and are released in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to be recovered or
settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances are
provided against deferred tax assets when it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

A valuation allowance is required to reduce the balance of a deferred tax asset if it is determined that it is more-likely-than-not that all or some portion of the deferred tax
asset will not be realized due to the lack of sufficient taxable income or other limitation on the Company’s ability to utilize the loss carryforward.

We recognize the impact of an income tax position, if that position is more-likely-than-not of being sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. Any
related interest and penalties would be classified as income taxes in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. See Note 10 – Income Taxes for more detail.

Share-Based Compensation

In July 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the 2017 Incentive Stock Plan (the “2017 Plan”), which was amended and restated in December 2021 to
authorize the issuance of up to 10.0 million shares of common stock. The Company estimates the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes valuation model, which
requires certain assumptions that can materially impact the estimation of fair value and related compensation expense. The assumptions used to estimate fair value include the
price of our common stock, the expected volatility of our common stock, the risk-free interest rate, and the expected term of stock option awards. Management elected to
recognize forfeitures as they occur pursuant to ASU 2016-09, Compensation — Stock Compensation. As a result, no forfeiture rate was assumed. The fair value of restricted
stock units is based on the fair value of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant.

Segments

Historically, the Company’s operations were organized into three reportable segments, fund management, development, and brokerage. During the three months ended
December 31, 2023, the Company reevaluated its reportable segments, considering (i) the evolution of the Company after closing its initial public offering and how the
Company’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, assesses performance and allocates resources, (ii) changes to the budgeting
process and in key personnel driven by the Company’s growth initiatives, and (iii) how management reports ongoing company performance to the Board of Directors. With the
evolution and growth of the Company, the Company’s CODM assesses performance and resource allocation on an aggregate basis under the Company’s asset management
platform, and no longer reviews operating results for development or brokerage activity separately. As such, management concluded that the Company operates through one
operating segment.

The Company’s CODM assesses revenue, operating expenses and key operating statistics to evaluate performance and allocate resources on a basis that eliminates the
impact of the consolidated investment funds (intercompany eliminations required by U.S. GAAP) and noncontrolling interests. Management concluded that the consolidated
investment funds do not meet the requirements in ASC 280, Segment Reporting, of operating segments, as The Company’s CODM does not review the operating results of
these investment funds for the purposes of allocating resources, assessing performance or determining whether additional investments or advances will be made to these funds.
The investment funds are consolidated based on the requirement in ASC 810, Consolidation, as the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary of each of these
variable interest entities since it has the power to direct the activities of the entities and the right to absorb losses, generally in the form of guarantees of indebtedness that are
significant to the individual investment funds.
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Accounting Policies of Consolidated Funds

Accounting for Real Estate Investments

Upon the acquisition of real estate properties, a determination is made as to whether the acquisition meets the criteria to be accounted for as an asset acquisition or a
business combination. The determination is primarily based on whether the assets acquired, and liabilities assumed meet the definition of a business. The determination of
whether the assets acquired, and liabilities assumed meet the definition of a business includes a single or similar asset threshold. In applying the single or similar asset threshold,
if substantially all the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets, the assets acquired, and liabilities
assumed are not considered a business. Most of our consolidated fund acquisitions meet the single or similar asset threshold, due to the fact that substantially all the fair value of
the gross assets acquired is attributable to the real estate assets acquired.

Acquired real estate properties accounted for as asset acquisitions are recorded at cost, including acquisition and closing costs. Our consolidated funds allocate the cost of
real estate properties to the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired based on their estimated relative fair values. Our consolidated funds determine the fair value of
tangible assets, such as land, building, furniture, fixtures and equipment, using a combination of internal valuation techniques that consider comparable market transactions,
replacement costs and other available information and fair value estimates provided by third-party valuation specialists, depending upon the circumstances of the acquisition.
Our consolidated funds determine the fair value of identified intangible assets or liabilities, which typically relate to in-place leases, using a combination of internal valuation
techniques that consider the terms of the in-place leases, current market data for comparable leases, and fair value estimates provided by third-party valuation specialists,
depending upon the circumstances of the acquisition.

If a transaction is determined to be a business combination, the assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and any identified intangibles are recorded at their estimated fair values
on the transaction date, and transaction costs are expensed in the period incurred.

Cost Capitalization and Depreciation

Our consolidated funds capitalize costs, including certain indirect costs, incurred in connection with their development and construction activities. Included in these
capitalized costs are payroll costs associated with time spent by site employees in connection with capital addition activities at the asset level. Interest, property taxes and
insurance are also capitalized during periods in which redevelopment, development and construction projects are in progress. Capitalization of costs, including certain indirect
costs, incurred in connection with our capital addition activities, commence at the point in time when activities necessary to get the assets ready for their intended use are in
progress. This includes when assets are undergoing physical construction, as well as when apartment homes are held vacant in advance of planned construction, provided that
other activities such as permitting, planning and design are in progress. Our consolidated funds cease the capitalization of costs when the assets are substantially complete and
ready for their intended use, which is typically when construction has been completed and apartment homes or other properties are available for occupancy. Cost of ordinary
repairs, maintenance and resident turnover are charged to operating expense, as incurred.

Depreciation for all tangible real estate assets is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives of our real
estate assets are as follows:

Building and building improvements 15 – 40 years
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 3 – 7 years

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, depreciation expense was $10.4 million and $9.3 million, respectively.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Real estate and other long-lived assets to be held and used are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization, unless the carrying amount of the asset is
determined to not be recoverable. If events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a long-lived asset may not be recoverable, we make an assessment of its
recoverability by comparing the carrying amount to our estimate of the undiscounted net future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset, excluding interest charges. If the
carrying amount exceeds the aggregate undiscounted future cash flows, our consolidated funds recognize an impairment loss to the extent the carrying amount exceeds the
estimated fair value of the asset.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, our consolidated funds did not record an impairment loss related to its real estate and other long-lived assets.

Cash

Cash includes cash in bank accounts. The consolidated funds deposit cash with several high-quality financial institutions. These deposits are guaranteed by the FDIC up to
an insurance limit of $250,000. At times, cash balances may exceed FDIC limits. Although the consolidated funds bear risk on amounts in excess of those insured by the FDIC,
they have not experienced and do not anticipate any losses due to the high quality of the institutions where the deposits are held.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consists of tenant security deposits and cash reserves required by certain loan agreements for capital improvements and repairs. As improvements and
repairs are completed, related costs incurred by the consolidated funds are funded from the reserve accounts. Restricted cash also includes cash held in escrow accounts by
mortgage companies on behalf of the consolidated funds for payment of property taxes, insurance, and interest.

Advance Key Money

Our consolidated funds have entered into certain arrangements in which hotel franchisors or their affiliates have provided the consolidated funds with financing as part of a
franchise arrangement. The consolidated funds have been advanced funds upon entering into a franchise agreement and are not required to repay the funds as long as the
franchise agreement is not terminated prior to its scheduled maturity. The potential amount of funds that would be required to be repaid decreases with the passage of time. The
consolidated funds record a liability equal to the initial amount of funds received, which is amortized over the term of the franchise agreement and recorded as a reduction of
franchise fee expense, which is included in consolidated funds - hospitality expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs represent costs incurred in connection with obtaining long-term debt and are capitalized and amortized over the term of the related debt obligation
using the straight-line method. Capitalized deferred financing costs, net of accumulated amortization, are offset against and included in notes payable, net in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.

Consolidated Fund Revenues

In accordance with ASC 606, our consolidated funds apply the five-step framework in determining the timing and amount of revenue to recognize. This framework requires
an entity to: (i) identify the contract(s) with customers, (ii) identify the performance obligations within the contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the
transaction price to the performance obligations within the contract, and (v) recognize revenue when or as the entity satisfies a performance obligation. Our consolidated funds’
revenues primarily consist of hospitality revenues, rental income and interest income.

Consolidated funds – hospitality revenue

Hospitality revenues are comprised of charges for room rentals, food and beverage sales, and other hotel operating activities. Revenues are recognized as earned, which is
defined as the date upon which a guest occupies a room or utilizes the hotel’s services. Revenues are recorded net of sales tax.
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Our consolidated funds have performance obligations to provide accommodations and other ancillary services to hotel guests. As compensation for such goods and services,
the consolidated funds are typically entitled to a fixed nightly fee for an agreed upon period and additional fixed fees for any ancillary services purchased. These fees are
generally payable at the time the hotel guest checks out of the hotel. The consolidated funds generally satisfy the performance obligations over time and recognize the revenue
from room sales and from other ancillary guest services on a daily basis, as the rooms are occupied, and the services have been rendered.

For food and beverage, revenue is recognized upon transfer of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the consolidated
funds received in exchange for those services, which is generally when payment is tendered at the time of sale.

The consolidated funds receive deposits for events and rooms. Such deposits are deferred and included in other liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
The deposits are credited to consolidated funds – hospitality revenue when the specific event takes place.

Consolidated funds – other revenue

Consolidated funds – other revenue includes rental revenue of $4.0 million and $3.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Rental revenue
includes the revenues generated primarily by the rental operations of the residential (multi-family and single-family) and commercial properties of our consolidated funds.

Upon adoption of ASC 842, Leases (“ASC 842”), effective January 1, 2022, at the inception of a new lease arrangement, including new leases that arise from amendments,
the Company assesses the terms and conditions to determine the proper lease classification. When the terms of a lease effectively transfer control of the underlying asset, the
lease is classified as a sales-type lease. When a lease does not effectively transfer control of the underlying asset to the lessee, but the Company obtains a guarantee for the value
of the asset from a third-party, the Company classifies the lease as a direct financing lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases. The consolidated funds did not
have any sales-type or direct financing leases as of December 31, 2023. For operating leases with minimum scheduled rent increases, the consolidated funds recognize rental
revenue on a straight-line basis, including the effect of any free rent periods, over the lease term when collectability of lease payments is probable. Variable lease payments are
recognized as rental revenue in the period when the changes in facts and circumstances on which the variable lease payments are based occur.

The Company identified two separate lease components as follows: i) land lease component, and ii) single property lease component comprised of building, land
improvements and tenant improvements. The Company’s leases also contain provisions for tenants to reimburse the consolidated funds for maintenance and other property
operating expenses, which are considered to be non-lease components. The Company elected the practical expedient to combine lease and non-lease components and the non-
lease components will be included with the single property lease component as the predominant component.

In addition, consolidated funds - other revenue includes interest income of $3.7 million and $2.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively,
which is generated by a consolidated fund’s lending activity. Interest income is recognized on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with the lending agreements over the
term of the respective loan agreement.

Consolidated Fund Expenses

Consolidated fund expenses consist primarily of costs, expenses and fees that are incurred by, or arise out of the operation and activities of or otherwise related to, our
consolidated funds, including, without limitation, operating costs, depreciation and amortization, interest expense on debt held by our consolidated funds, gain on
extinguishment of debt, gain on derivative instruments, insurance expenses, professional fees and other costs associated with administering and supporting those funds.
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Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable primarily consists of amounts due from guests or groups for hotel rooms and services provided by the hotel properties. Accounts receivable also
include due, but unpaid, rental payments. Our consolidated funds continually review receivables and determine collectability by taking into consideration the history of past
write-offs, collections, current credit conditions, tenant payment history, the financial condition of the tenants, business conditions in the industry in which the tenant operates
and economic conditions in the area in which the property is located. In the event that the collectability of a receivable is uncertain, our consolidated funds will record an
increase in the allowance for doubtful accounts. Amounts that are determined to be uncollectible with a high degree of certainty are written-off through bad debt expense, which
is included in consolidated funds – hospitality expenses and consolidated funds – other expenses on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Our consolidated
funds had no allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Derivative Instruments

The consolidated funds record all derivative instruments on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value of the derivative and
the effect on the financial statements depends on its hedge designation and whether the hedge is highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in the fair value of cash flows of
the asset or liability hedged. If the consolidated fund elects not to apply hedge accounting treatment, any changes in the fair value of the derivative instruments is recognized
immediately in consolidated funds - hospitality expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. If the derivative is designated and qualifies for hedge accounting
treatment, the change in fair value of the derivative is recorded in other comprehensive income (loss).

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of financial instruments is disclosed in accordance with ASC 825, Financial Instruments. The fair value of our financial instruments is estimated using
available market information and established valuation methodologies. The estimates of fair value are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the consolidated funds could
realize on disposition of the financial instruments. The use of different market assumptions and/or valuation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair
value amounts.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value measurements and disclosures consist of a three level valuation hierarchy. The valuation hierarchy categorizes assets and liabilities measured at fair value into
one of three different levels depending on the ability to observe the inputs employed in the measurement using market participant assumptions at the measurement date. An
asset’s or liability’s categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The three levels are
defined as follows:

• Level 1 – Inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that can be accessed at the measurement date.
• Level 2 – Inputs include quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly. If the asset or liability has a

specified (contractual) term, a Level 2 input must be observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.
• Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. These unobservable inputs reflect assumptions about what market participants would use to price the asset or

liability and are developed based on the best information available in the circumstances (which might include the reporting company’s own data)
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The Company adopted ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses and subsequent amendments (collectively, “Topic 326”), effective January 1, 2023. Topic 326
was intended to improve financial reporting by requiring more timely recognition of credit losses on loans and other financial instruments that are not accounted for at fair value
through net income and required that financial assets measured at amortized cost be presented at the net amount expected to be collected, through an allowance for credit losses
that was deducted from the amortized cost basis. The amendments in Topic 326 required the Company to measure all expected credit losses based upon historical experience,
current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the collectability of the financial assets and eliminated the “incurred loss” methodology under current
U.S. GAAP. Loans and receivables between entities under common control are not within the scope of this guidance. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In August 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2020-06, Debt – Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and
Derivatives and Hedging – Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40) , which simplifies the accounting for convertible instruments by reducing the number of
accounting models for convertible debt instruments and convertible preferred stock, removes certain settlement conditions that are required for equity contracts to qualify for
the derivative scope exception and also simplifies the diluted earnings per share calculation in certain areas. The amendments in ASU 2020-06 are effective for the Company for
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2023, including interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted beginning after December 15, 2020. We
are currently evaluating the impact of ASU 2020-06, but do not believe the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In November 2023, FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which serves to improve reportable
segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses on both an annual and interim basis. The guidance does not
change the definition of a segment, the method for determining segments, or the criteria for aggregating operating segments into reportable segments and is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. We are currently
evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2023-07 on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (Topic 740, Income Taxes). ASU 2023-09, which serves to enhance income
tax disclosures by requiring a tabular rate reconciliation and additional information on income taxes paid. The guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2023-09 on our consolidated financial statements.

Note 3 – VIEs

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company deconsolidated five hospitality funds which were contributed to the Caliber Hospitality, LP, whose sole general
partner is Caliber Hospitality Trust, Inc. (the “Caliber Hospitality Trust”). In addition, the Company deconsolidated two VIEs, one that sold its investment in a commercial
property and the Company was no longer determined to be the primary beneficiary upon repayment of the loan secured by the property, and one that was developing a multi-
family property and the Company was no longer determined to be the primary beneficiary upon refinancing the loan agreement. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the
Company deconsolidated two VIEs, one that sold its investment in a multi-family residential property, repaid the loan secured by the property and therefore the Company was
no longer determined to be the primary beneficiary and one that was developing a multi-family property and the Company was no longer determined to be the primary
beneficiary upon refinancing the loan agreement. We aggregate and report the results of operations of these VIEs in consolidated fund revenues and consolidated fund expenses
within the accompanying consolidated statements of operations through the date of deconsolidation.
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The Company consolidated Caliber Hospitality, LP and the Caliber Hospitality Trust, which include activity from five previously consolidated hospitality funds and one
previously unconsolidated fund during the year ended December 31, 2023 because the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary as it has the power to direct the
activities and the obligation to absorb their losses through its guarantee of the indebtedness secured by the hospitality assets, which is significant to Caliber Hospitality Trust and
Caliber Hospitality, LP. In addition, the Company consolidated West Frontier Holdco, LLC (“West Frontier”) as the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary as
we have the power to direct the activities of West Frontier and the obligation to absorb their losses through its guarantee of their indebtedness which is significant to the fund.
The consolidation of the Caliber Hospitality Trust and West Frontier consisted of the following, excluding intercompany eliminations at the time of consolidation (in
thousands):

Assets
Real estate investments, net $ 87,897 
Cash 3,667 
Restricted cash 9,260 
Accounts receivable, net 4,348 
Notes receivable - related parties 10,411 
Due from related parties 40 
Investments in unconsolidated entities 84,076 
Operating lease - right of use assets 8,775 
Prepaid and other assets 5,953 

Total assets $ 214,427 

Liabilities
Notes payable, net $ 80,278 
Notes payable - related parties 34,786 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 7,858 
Due to related parties 10,302 
Operating lease liabilities 12,441 
Other liabilities 2,158 

Total liabilities 147,823 

Stockholders’ equity 66,604 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 214,427 

F-21



Table of Contents

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company consolidated Northsight Crossing AZ, LLC (“Northsight”) and Southpointe Fundco, LLC (“Southpointe”)
because the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary as we have the power to direct the activities of Northsight and Southpointe and the obligation to absorb their
losses through its guarantee of their indebtedness which is significant to the fund. The consolidation of Northsight and Southpointe consisted of the following (in thousands) at
the time of consolidation:

Assets
Real estate investments, net $ 23,611 
Cash 233 
Restricted cash 1,325 
Prepaid and other assets 748 

Total assets $ 25,917 

Liabilities
Notes payable, net $ 15,824 
Notes payable - related parties 5,301 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 109 
Due to related parties 7 
Other liabilities 688 

Total liabilities 21,929 

Stockholders’ equity 3,988 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 25,917 

Management has determined that the equity holders in our consolidated entities, as a group, lack the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the entity’s
economic performance and/or have disproportionate voting rights relative to their equity. The Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary of each of these entities
since it has the power to direct the activities of the entities and the right to absorb losses, generally in the form of guarantees of indebtedness that are significant to the individual
entities.

Generally, the assets of the individual consolidated VIEs can be used only to settle liabilities of each respective individual consolidated VIEs and the liabilities of the
individual consolidated VIEs are liabilities for which creditors or beneficial interest holders do not have recourse to the general credit of the Company. When the VIE is
consolidated, we reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and cash flows of the consolidated funds on a gross basis, and the interests in the VIEs are included in non-
controlling interest in the consolidated financial statements. The Company has provided financial support to certain consolidated VIEs in the form of short-term financing and
guarantees of the debts of certain VIEs. In general, our maximum exposure to loss due to involvement with the consolidated VIEs is limited to the amount of capital investment
in the VIE, if any, or the potential obligation to perform on the guarantee of debts.
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Note 4 – Real Estate Investments

Real Estate Investments of the Company

Asset Acquisitions

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company acquired its headquarters office building for an aggregate purchase price of $19.5 million with the acquisition
being accounted for as an asset acquisition under U.S. GAAP. There were no asset acquisitions by the Company during the year ended December 31, 2022.

The allocation of the purchase price among the assets acquired at their relative fair value as of the acquisition date, consisted of the following for the year ended
December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023

Real estate investments, at cost
Land and land improvements $ 9,131 
Building and building improvements 9,332 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 959 
Intangible lease assets 398 
Intangible lease liabilities (348)

Total purchase price of assets acquired $ 19,472 

Real Estate Investments of the Consolidated Funds

Asset Acquisitions by Consolidated Funds

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the consolidated funds acquired one multi-family residential property for an aggregate purchase price of $6.6 million with the
acquisition being accounted for as an asset acquisition under U.S. GAAP. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the consolidated funds acquired one commercial building
and one property with vacant land for an aggregate purchase price of $23.8 million with the acquisition being accounted for as an asset acquisition under U.S. GAAP.

The allocation of the purchase price among the assets acquired at their relative fair value as of the acquisition date, consisted of the following for the years ended December
31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Real estate investments, at cost
Land and land improvements $ 599 $ 13,185 
Building and building improvements 3,938 10,458 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 2,106 — 
Tenant improvements — 123 

Total purchase price of assets acquired $ 6,643 $ 23,766 

Dispositions by Consolidated Funds

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the consolidated funds sold its investment in one commercial property located in Scottsdale, Arizona, with a cost basis of
$21.7 million, resulting in a gain of $5.0 million, which is included in consolidated funds - gain on sale of real estate assets on the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the consolidated funds sold its investment in one multi-family apartment building located in Phoenix, Arizona, with a
cost basis of $9.1 million, resulting in a gain of $21.5 million, which is included in consolidated funds - gain on sale of real estate assets on the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations.
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Note 5 – Prepaid and Other Assets

Prepaid and Other Assets of the Company

Prepaid and other assets consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Pursuit costs $ 1,081 $ 4,495 
Prepaid expenses 981 704 
Accounts receivable, net 205 62 
Deposits 63 46 
Other assets 451 554 

Total prepaid and other assets $ 2,781 $ 5,861 

(1) Pursuit costs represent expenses incurred related to new fund formation, primarily for professional, legal, consulting, accounting and tax services. As the funds raise
equity investments and operating cash flow, as applicable, these costs are reimbursed by the respective funds to the Company. The Company assesses collectability and
expenses any amounts in which collectability is not reasonably assured.

Prepaid and Other Assets of the Consolidated Funds

Prepaid and other assets of the consolidated funds consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Prepaid expenses $ 1,735 $ 1,511 
Derivative assets 1,216 1,646 
Pursuit costs 1,102 549 
Deposits 669 742 
Deferred franchise fees, net 278 372 
Intangibles, net 184 361 
Inventory 142 138 
Other assets 6,351 39 

Total prepaid and other assets $ 11,677 $ 5,358 

__________________________________
(1) Pursuit costs represent expenses incurred related to new fund formation and potential hospitality asset acquisitions, primarily for professional, legal, consulting, accounting

and tax services. As the funds raise equity investments and operating cash flow, as applicable, these costs are reimbursed by the respective funds to the consolidated fund.
Management assesses collectability and expenses any amounts in which collectability is not reasonably assured.

(2) Other assets as of December 31, 2023, primarily represents incremental costs, including professional, legal, consulting, accounting and tax services, directly attributable to
Caliber Hospitality Trust that are deferred and will be charged against the gross proceeds of the offering.

(1)

 (1)

(2)
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Note 6 – Notes Payable

Notes Payable of the Company

Notes payable consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Notes Payable December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 Interest Rate Maturity Date 
Corporate notes $ 36,442 $ 13,279 10.00% - 12.00% January 2024 - March 2025
Convertible corporate notes 1,324 1,374 8.25% April 2024
Real estate and other loans 16,252 — 4.30% - 9.07% August 2024 - November 2029
Total notes payable 54,018 14,653 
Deferred financing costs, net (219) — 
Total notes payable, net $ 53,799 $ 14,653 

__________________________________
(1) As of December 31, 2023.

Real Estate Loans

The terms of the loan agreements described below include, among other things, certain financial covenants, as defined in the respective loan agreements, including key
financial ratios and liquidity requirements.

Gateway II HoldCo, LLC

On January 31, 2023, Caliber assumed a loan which is secured by the Company’s headquarters office building (see Note 4 – Real Estate Investments). The terms of the
note require monthly principal and interest payments, with a balloon payment due at maturity. The loan has a fixed interest rate of 4.30% in effect through the maturity date in
November 2029. The terms of the loan do not allow the prepayment of the outstanding balance in part or in whole at any time prior to the maturity date. The terms of the loan
agreement include covenant clauses, which require certain key financial ratios and liquidity be met. As of December 31, 2023, the debt service coverage ratio required by the
loan agreement was not satisfied, which per the terms of the agreement required the Company to transfer funds to a cash management account.

Corporate Notes and Convertible Corporate Notes

The Company has entered into multiple general corporate financing arrangements with third parties. The arrangements are generally evidenced in the form of a promissory
note and require monthly or quarterly interest-only payments until maturity. Certain corporate notes are secured by the otherwise unencumbered assets of the Company. The
loans generally have a 12-month term and may be extended upon the mutual agreement of the lender and the borrower. Management believes it can come to a mutual agreement
with each lender to extend the maturities of the notes for an additional 12-month term.

As of December 31, 2023, there were 222 individual corporate notes outstanding, with an average outstanding principal balance of $0.2 million, interest rates ranging from
8.25% to 12.00%, with weighted average interest rate of 11.42%, and maturity dates ranging from January 2024 to March 2025. During the year ended December 31, 2023,
there were no conversions of debt into common stock. In April 2024, the Company entered into a loan extension agreement with certain corporate note holders to extend the
respective maturity dates of multiple individual corporate notes, aggregating $12.3 million, for an additional 13 months months, resulting in maturity dates of these corporate
notes ranging from May 2025 to April 2026.

As of December 31, 2022, there were 124 individual corporate notes outstanding, with an average outstanding principal balance of $0.1 million, interest rates ranging from
8.25% to 12.00%, with a weighted average interest rate of 10.19%, and maturity dates ranging from April 2023 to June 2024.

The Company has issued corporate notes with a conversion feature. The conversion price is $7.57 per share of common stock. The holders of the convertible corporate
notes can elect to convert all or any portion of the balance at any time. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the value of the conversion feature was zero.

(1) (1)
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Payroll Protection Program Loans

In January 2021, management was granted a Payroll Protection Program loan totaling $1.4 million and in August 2022, the loan and related interest was forgiven.

Future Minimum Payments

The following table summarizes the scheduled principal repayments of our indebtedness as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Year Amount
2024 $ 37,984 
2025 391 
2026 304 
2027 317 
2028 330 
Thereafter 14,692 
Total $ 54,018 

Deferred Financing Costs

Amortization of deferred financing costs for the Company was an immaterial amount and there were no deferred financing cost write-offs during the year ended December
31, 2023. There were no deferred financing costs or related amortization as of or during the year ended December 31, 2022.
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Notes Payable of the Consolidated Funds

Notes payable of the consolidated funds consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively (in thousands):

Notes Payable December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 Interest Rate Maturity date 
Real Estate Loans
Hampton Inn & Suites Hotel $ 5,939 $ 6,136 6.12% July 2025
Four Points by Sheraton Hotel 11,000 11,000 18.00% September 2023
Holiday Inn Ocotillo Hotel 9,250 9,250 11.34% February 2024
Airport Hotel Portfolio 55,631 56,470 13.75% January 2025
DoubleTree by Hilton Tucson Convention Center 18,418 18,856 4.22% August 2027
Hilton Tucson East 11,901 — 6.25% November 2025
DT Mesa Holdco II, LLC 3,000 3,000 7.34% February 2024
Circle Lofts, LLC — 4,889 N/A N/A
Northsight Crossings AZ, LLC — 14,320 N/A N/A
Southpointe Fundco, LLC 1,050 1,050 11.99% March 2024
West Frontier Holdco, LLC 4,636 — 6.35% February 2038

Total Real Estate Loans 120,825 124,971 
Revolving line of credit 4,500 4,500 8.75% October 2024
Member notes 5,600 5,025 10.00% June 2025
Economic injury disaster and other loans 475 450 3.75% - 12.05% March 2024 - June 2050

Total notes payable 131,400 134,946 
Deferred financing costs, net (1,716) (690)

Total notes payable, net $ 129,684 $ 134,256 

__________________________________
(1) As of December 31, 2023.
(2) During the year ended December 31, 2023, the hotel ceased operations as the Company is converting the property into a multi-family residential assets.
(3) In March 2023, the asset was contributed to Caliber Hospitality, LP and the fund was consolidated because the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary as we

have the power to direct the activities and the obligation to absorb their losses through its guarantee of the indebtedness secured by the hospitality assets, which is significant
to Caliber Hospitality, LP and the Caliber Hospitality Trust.

(4) During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company deconsolidated Circle Lofts, LLC, as the Company was no longer determined to be the primary beneficiary of the
fund upon refinancing the loan agreement.

(5) In October 2023, Northsight Crossings AZ, LLC sold its investment in the commercial property and paid its existing property loan in full. As a result, the Company
determined it was no longer the primary beneficiary of the fund and therefore the fund was deconsolidated.

(6)    In March 2023, the fund was consolidated as the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary as we have the power to direct the activities of West Frontier and
the obligation to absorb their losses through its guarantee of their indebtedness which is significant to the fund.

(1) (1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)
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Real Estate Loans

The terms of the loan agreements described below include, among other things, certain financial covenants, as defined in the respective loan agreements, including key
financial ratios and liquidity requirements. Unless otherwise noted below, the consolidated funds were in compliance with the required financial covenants as of December 31,
2023.

Hampton Inn & Suites Hotel

In July 2015, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a leasehold deed of trust and assignment of leases and rents of a hotel property in
Scottsdale, Arizona. The terms of the note require monthly principal and interest payments, with a balloon payment due at maturity. The loan has a fixed interest rate of 6.12%
in effect through the maturity date in July 2025. The terms of the loan allow the prepayment of the outstanding balance in part or in whole at any time prior to the maturity date.
The loan is guaranteed by an individual who is an affiliate of the Company. The terms of the loan agreement include covenant clauses, which require certain key financial ratios
and liquidity be met. As of December 31, 2023, liquidity required by the loan agreement was not satisfied. However, compliance was reestablished in January 2024 and the
lender has not declared an event of default as of April 15, 2024.

Four Points by Sheraton Hotel

In June 2018, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of leases and rents of a hotel property in Phoenix,
Arizona. The loan requires monthly interest-only payments until maturity. The loan is guaranteed by the Company and matured in September 2023. Per the terms of this
agreement, the interest rate on the loan is equal to US Prime Rate plus 2.25%, with a floor rate of 9.65%, until August 31, 2023, at which time, the interest rate increased to 18%
until the loan is paid in full or replaced with construction financing from the lender. The lender has not called the loan as of April 15, 2024 and the consolidated fund is current
on monthly interest payments. The Company is negotiating a construction loan and expects to repay the loan upon execution of the construction loan.

Holiday Inn Ocotillo Hotel

In July 2018, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of leases and rents of a hotel property in Chandler,
Arizona. The loan requires monthly interest-only payments. The interest rate on the loan is equal to 1-month LIBOR plus 6.00%, with a floor rate of 11.00% until maturity in
May 2023. In May 2023, the loan agreement was amended and restated with the lender, extending the maturity date to November 2023 and amending the interest rate to SOFR
plus 600 basis points, with a floor rate of 11.00%. In November 2023, the loan agreement was amended with the lender, extending the maturity date to February 1, 2024 The
loan is guaranteed by the Company. In February 2024, the loan agreement was amended with the lender, extending the maturity date to May 2024.

Airport Hotel Portfolio

In September 2018, the consolidated fund entered into a portfolio loan agreement which was secured by a deed of trust and assignment of leases and rents of the Airport
Hotel Portfolio. The loan had a variable interest rate equal to one-month LIBOR plus 3.75% and the loan required interest-only payments until maturity. The loan was
guaranteed by the Company and individuals who are affiliates of the Company. In January 2023, the consolidated fund paid the loan amount outstanding in full.

In January 2023, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of leases and rents of the Airport Hotel Portfolio.
Per the terms of the loan agreement, the loan has a variable interest rate equal to SOFR plus 8.75% and matures in January 2025. In connection with the loan, the consolidated
fund entered into an interest rate cap agreement, which sets the maximum SOFR rate for the loan at 5.00% through January 2024. The loan requires interest-only payments until
maturity. The terms of the loan do not allow the prepayment of the outstanding balance in part prior to the maturity date but can be prepaid in whole subject to certain
conditions, terms and fees outlined in the loan agreement. The terms of the loan agreement require an exit fee equal to 1.25% of the original principal amount of the loan and a
minimum return equal to 30.0% of the original principal amount of the loan less any interest payments made at the time the loan is repaid in full. The exit fee was accrued upon
entering into the loan and recorded as a deferred financing cost to be amortized over the life of the loan. The loan is guaranteed by the Company and individuals who are
affiliates of the Company.
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DoubleTree by Hilton Tucson Convention Center

In August 2019, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of rents of the DoubleTree by Hilton Tucson
Convention Center located in Tucson, Arizona. The loan has a variable interest rate per annum equal to LIBOR plus 2.50%. In connection with the loan, the consolidated fund
entered into an interest rate swap agreement, which sets the interest at a fixed rate of 4.22% from September 2022 through August 2027. The loan required interest-only
payments until September 2022 and principal and interest payments thereafter until maturity. The terms of the loan allow for the prepayment of the outstanding balance in whole
or in part at any time prior to the maturity date. The loan matures in August 2027 and is guaranteed by the Company.

Hilton Tucson East

In November 2021, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by the deed of trust and assignment of rents of the Hilton Tucson East hotel
located in Tucson, AZ. The loan has a fixed interest rate of 6.25% and matures in November 2025. The loan required interest-only payments until June 1, 2023 and principal
and interest payments thereafter until maturity. The loan amount may be prepaid prior to maturity subject to certain conditions and terms and a prepayment fee as outlined in the
agreement. The terms of the loan agreement include covenant clauses, which require certain key financial ratios and liquidity be met. As of December 31, 2023, the debt service
coverage ratio required by the loan agreement was not satisfied. However, the lender has not declared an event of default as of April 15, 2024.

DT Mesa Holdco II, LLC

In November 2019, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by the deed of trust of three commercial building in Mesa, Arizona. The loan
requires interest-only payments until maturity and the terms of the loan allow the prepayment of the outstanding balance in part or in whole at any time prior to the maturity date
with no prepayment penalty. In December 2022, the terms of the loan agreement were renegotiated, extending the maturity date of the loan to November 2023 and amending
the interest rate to the greater of (i) the federal home loan bank rate plus 2.75%% or (ii) 6.50%. In November 2023, the loan agreement was amended with the lender, extending
the maturity date to February 2024. The loan is guaranteed by the Company. In February 2024, the loan agreement was amended with the lender, extending the maturity date to
May 2024 and waiving the minimum liquidity covenant default.

Circle Lofts, LLC

In July 2020, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of rents of a multi-family property located in
Scottsdale, Arizona. The loan bore interest at a fixed annual rate of 5.25% until August 1, 2023. On August 1, 2023, and each six months thereafter until the maturity date in
August 2050, the interest rate was adjusted to a rate which is equal to the sum of the six-month LIBOR plus 3.75%. The loan required interest-only payments until July 2021
and principal and interest payments thereafter until maturity. The loan was guaranteed by individuals who are affiliates of the Company. In October 2023, the consolidated fund
paid the loan amount outstanding in full.

In October 2023, the consolidated fund entered into a $6.3 million loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of leases and rents of a multi-family
property located in Scottsdale, Arizona. Per the terms of the loan agreement, the loan has a fixed interest rate of 7.42% and requires interest-only payments until maturity in
November 2028. The terms of the loan allow the prepayment of the outstanding balance prior to the maturity date, subject to certain conditions, terms and fees outlined in the
loan agreement. The loan is not guaranteed by the Company or any individuals who are affiliates of the Company, therefore, the Company deconsolidated Circle Lofts, LLC as
the Company was no longer determined to be the primary beneficiary upon refinancing the loan agreement.

Northsight Crossings AZ, LLC

In January 2022, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of rents of a commercial property in Scottsdale,
Arizona. The loan bore interest at an annual rate of 3.75% for the first five years, thereafter, the interest rate would adjust annually to a rate which is equal to the sum of the
published prime rate as defined by the agreement and a margin of 0.5% with a floor of 3.75%. The maturity date of the loan was February 2029. The loan was guaranteed by the
Company. In October 2023, the consolidated fund sold its investment in the commercial property and paid its existing property loan in full.
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Southpointe Fundco, LLC

In June 2022, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of rents of a residential development property in
Phoenix, Arizona. The loan has a fixed rate per annum equal to 9.99%. In May 2023, an extension agreement was executed with the lender, extending the maturity date to
December 2023. In November 2023, an extension agreement was executed with the lender, extending the maturity date to March 2024 and amending the interest to a fixed rate
of 11.99%. The terms of the loan allow the prepayment of the outstanding balance in part or in whole at any time prior to the maturity date with no prepayment penalty. The
loan is guaranteed by an individual who is an affiliate of the Company. In February 2024, an extension agreement was executed with the lender, extending the maturity date to
September 2024.

West Frontier Holdco, LLC

In March 2023, the consolidated fund entered into a construction loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of rents of a multi-family residential
property in Payson, Arizona. Upon completion of the construction project, subject to conditions in the agreement, the loan converts to a term loan. The loan requires interest-
only payments until March 2025 and principal and interest payments until March 2028, at a fixed interest rate of 6.35%. In April 2028, the loan requires principal and interest
payments until maturity in February 2038, at a rate of the five year Treasury Constant Federal Reserve Index plus 2.50%. The terms of the loan allow the prepayment of the
outstanding balance in part or in whole at any time prior to the maturity date with no prepayment penalty. The loan is guaranteed by individuals who are affiliates of the
Company.

Revolving Line of Credit

In August 2019, a consolidated fund entered into a revolving line of credit (“LOC”) with a maximum borrowing amount of $4.5 million. The LOC is secured by the
consolidated fund’s assets and is guaranteed by the Company. The LOC has a variable interest rate equal to the greater of (i) Wall Street Journal Prime Rate plus 0.25% per
annum or (ii) 4.75%, resulting in a rate of 8.75% as of December 31, 2023. The Company is required to pay a fee of 0.20% of the unused revolving balance. In August 2023, the
agreement was amended extending the maturity date of the LOC to October 2024 and removing certain restrictive covenants. The terms of the LOC include certain financial
covenants and as of December 31, 2023, the consolidated fund was in compliance with all such covenants.

Member Notes

During 2022 and the year ended December 31, 2023, the consolidated fund, Southpointe Fundco, LLC, entered into 10.0% unsecured promissory notes with individual
investors. The notes mature in June 2025 and may be extended up to two additional 12-month periods by the fund manager. The notes require quarterly interest-only payments.
The terms of the notes allow the prepayment of the outstanding balance in part or in whole at any time prior to the maturity date with no prepayment penalty.

Economic Injury Disaster Loans

In June 2020, the consolidated funds were granted Economic Injury Disaster Loans, which are secured by the assets of the respective funds and have a fixed interest rate of
3.75% and mature in June 2050. At each of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the outstanding principal balance was $0.5 million. Fixed monthly installment
payments began in December 2022 with payments applied first to accrued interest and then the balance, if any, will be applied to principal outstanding. The loans allow for
prepayment of principal plus accrued interest prior to maturity. The loan agreements contain certain usual and customary restrictions and covenants relating to, among other
things, insurance, and other indebtedness. In addition, the terms of the loans include a cross-default provision whereby the Small Business Administration may, in its discretion,
without notice or demand require immediate payment of all amounts outstanding under the loans.
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Future Debt Maturities

As of December 31, 2023, the future aggregate principal repayments due on the Company’s notes payable are as follows (in thousands):

Year Amount
2024 $ 29,698 
2025 79,174 
2026 555 
2027 17,051 
2028 72 
Thereafter 4,850 
Total $ 131,400 

Deferred Financing Costs

Amortization of deferred financing costs was $1.5 million and $0.7 million during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. There was $0.4 million and
$0.1 million of deferred financing cost write-offs during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Note 7 – Related Party Transactions

Related Party Transactions of the Company

Revenues

The table below shows the consolidated revenues earned for providing services under the Company’s asset management platform as described in the Revenue Recognition
section of Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Fund set-up fees $ 370 $ 5,897 
Fund management fees 5,115 4,497 
Financing fees 221 721 
Development and construction fees 4,025 2,444 
Brokerage fees 840 1,785 

Total asset management 10,571 15,344 
Performance allocations 3,639 2,543 

Total related party revenue $ 14,210 $ 17,887 

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, amounts due to the Company from related parties for services performed under the Company’s asset management platform was
$7.8 million, which is included in due from related parties on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Other

In the normal course of business, the Company has various amounts due from and/or due to related parties, including affiliate entities and individuals, for various expenses
paid for by the Company on their behalf and other charges. These amounts are generally unsecured, interest-free, and due on demand. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, other
amounts due from related parties was $1.9 million, which is included in due from related parties on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2023
and 2022, other amounts due to related parties from the Company were $0.3 million and $0.2 million, respectively, which are included in due to related parties on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Notes Receivable

The Company entered into unsecured promissory notes with related parties. No payments are required prior to the maturity of the notes. The notes may be prepaid in whole,
or in part, without penalty.

The following table summarizes the notes payable – related parties as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Notes Receivable - Related Parties December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 Interest Rate Maturity Date 
Olathe Behavioral Health $ 25 $ — 12.00% May 2025
DFW Behavioral Health LLC 25 — 14.00% May 2025
Total Notes Receivable - Related Parties $ 50 $ — 

__________________________________
(1) As of December 31, 2023.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company earned an immaterial amount of interest in connection with the notes, which is included in interest income on the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Interest that accrues on certain related party notes receivable can be added to the principal outstanding balance, due at the
respective loan maturity date and incurs interest at the respective interest rate. There was an immaterial amount of interest due to the Company as of December 31, 2023.

Notes Payable

The Company entered into unsecured promissory notes with related parties. The notes may be repaid in whole, or in part, without penalty.

The following table summarizes the notes payable – related parties as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Notes Payable - Related Parties December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 Interest Rate Maturity Date 
Caliber Residential Advantage Fund, LP $ — $ 365 7.50% May 2024
Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Fund II, LLC — — 12.00% January 2024
Total Notes Payable - Related Parties $ — $ 365 

__________________________________
(1) As of December 31, 2023.
(2) The Company entered into a $4.0 million unsecured promissory note with a related party and subsequently repaid the note during the year ended December 31, 2023.

During each of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company incurred an immaterial amount of interest expense in connection with the notes payable –
related parties, which is included in interest expense on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. There was no interest payable due to related parties as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022.

(1) (1)

(1) (1)

 (2)
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Related Party Transactions of the Consolidated Funds

Notes Receivable

The consolidated funds entered into unsecured promissory notes with related parties. The notes may be repaid in whole, or in part, without penalty. The notes receivable –
related parties consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Notes Receivable - Related Parties December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 Interest Rate Maturity Date
SF Alaska, LP $ 14,976 $ 11,671 12.00% May 2025
The Ketch, LLC 7,198 5,152 12.00% May 2024
Caliber Hospitality LP (Tucson East) — 3,780 12.00% May 2024
J-25 Development Group, LLC 4,804 3,794 12.00% May 2024
Caliber Diversified Opportunity Fund II, LP 109 449 12.00% March 2024
Encore, LLC — 1,014 12.00% December 2024
Ridge II, LLC 846 845 12.00% December 2024
Southridge, LLC 2,187 — 13.00% July 2025
Ironwood, LLC 2,703 1,524 13.00% September 2025
Circle Lofts, LLC 1,797 — 12.00% May 2024
Total Notes Receivable - Related Parties $ 34,620 $ 28,229 

__________________________________
(1) As of December 31, 2023.
(2) In March 2023, the asset was contributed to Caliber Hospitality, LP and the fund was consolidated because the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary as we

have the power to direct the activities and the obligation to absorb their losses through its guarantee of the indebtedness secured by the hospitality assets, which is significant
to Caliber Hospitality, LP and the Caliber Hospitality Trust.

(3) During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company deconsolidated Circle Lofts, LLC, as the Company was no longer determined to be the primary beneficiary of the
fund upon refinancing the loan agreement.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the consolidated fund earned $3.7 million and $2.9 million, respectively, of interest in connection with the notes,
which is included in consolidated funds – other revenues on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Interest that accrues on certain related party notes
receivable, in which the consolidated fund and respective borrower mutually agreed, is added to the principal outstanding balance, due at the respective loan maturity date and
incurs interest at the respective interest rate. No interest was due to the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

(1) (1)

(2)

(3)
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Notes Payable

The consolidated funds entered into unsecured promissory notes with related parties. The notes may be repaid in whole, or in part, without penalty. The notes payable –
related parties consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Notes Payable - Related Parties December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 Interest Rate Maturity Date
Roosevelt III HOLDCO, LLC $ — $ 2,748 12.00% March 2024
CDIF, LLC — 1,725 12.00% May 2024
Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Zone Fund, LP 8,012 2,500 12.00% June 2025
Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Zone Fund II, LP 4,043 — 12.00% October 2024
Total Notes Payable - Related Parties $ 12,055 $ 6,973 

__________________________________
(1) As of December 31, 2023.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the consolidated funds incurred $1.2 million and $0.9 million, respectively, of interest expense in connection with the
notes payable – related parties, which is included in consolidated funds – hospitality expenses and consolidated funds – other expenses on the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there was $0.1 million of interest expense payable which is included in due to related parties on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. Management expects to extend these notes at maturity.

Other

In the normal course of business, the consolidated funds have various amounts due from and/or due to related parties, including affiliate entities and individuals, for various
expenses paid by the funds on their behalf and other charges. These amounts are generally unsecured, interest-free, and due on demand. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
there were an immaterial amount of other amounts due from related parties. As of December 31, 2023 there was an immaterial amount of other amounts due to related parties
and as of December 31, 2022, there were no other amounts due to related parties.

Note 8 – Leases

Lessee - Company

As of December 31, 2023, the Company is the lessee under one corporate office lease which meets the criteria of an operating lease. The operating lease has a remaining
lease term of 3.8 years and a 9.4% discount rate as of December 31, 2023. As the Company’s lease does not specifically state an implicit rate, the Company uses a discount rate
indicative of synthetic credit rate based on a market-specific analysis, and applied based on the lease term as of the lease commencement date or upon a remeasurement event
when calculating the present value of the remaining lease payments. Therefore, the incremental borrowing rate used reflects the cost to borrow on a securitized basis. The
remaining lease term does not reflect all renewal options available to the Company, only those renewal options that the Company has assessed as reasonably certain of being
exercised. The operating lease agreement does not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. As of December 31, 2023, the Company does
not have any material operating or financing leases with related parties or that have not yet commenced, or any sale-leaseback arrangements. During the year ended December
31, 2023, there was $0.1 million of fixed lease expense and an immaterial amount of variable lease expense, which is included in operating costs on the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. During the year ended December 31, 2022, there was $0.5 million of fixed lease expense and an immaterial amount of variable lease
expense, which is included in operating costs on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Variable lease expense are primarily costs related to common area
maintenance. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, there was $0.1 million and $0.6 million, respectively, of cash paid for amounts included in the measurement
of operating lease liabilities. There were no lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets or lease modifications during the year ended December 31, 2023. During
the year ended December 31, 2022, there was $0.3 million of lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets or modifying the lease agreements.

(1) (1)
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The following represents maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Year Amount
2024 $ 35 
2025 37 
2026 38 
2027 32 
2028 — 
Thereafter — 
Total lease payments 142 
Less: interest (23)
Total $ 119 

Lessee - Consolidated Funds

As of December 31, 2023, the consolidated funds are the lessee under two ground lease arrangements that meet the criteria of an operating lease. The operating leases have
a weighted average remaining lease term of 55.7 years and a 9.6% weighted average discount rate as of December 31, 2023. As the consolidated funds leases do not specifically
state an implicit rate, the consolidated funds use discount rates indicative of synthetic credit rate based on a market-specific analysis, and applied based on the lease term as of
the lease commencement date or upon a remeasurement event when calculating the present value of the remaining lease payments. Therefore, the incremental borrowing rate
used reflects the cost to borrow on a securitized basis. The remaining lease term does not reflect all renewal options available to the consolidated funds, only those renewal
options that the consolidated funds has assessed as reasonably certain of being exercised. The operating lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees
or material restrictive covenants. As of December 31, 2023, the consolidated funds do not have any material operating or financing leases with related parties or that have not
yet commenced, or any sale-leaseback arrangements. During the year ended December 31, 2023, there was $1.4 million and $0.1 million of fixed and variable lease expense,
respectively, which is included in consolidated funds – hospitality expenses on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. During the year ended December 31,
2022, the there was $1.1 million of fixed lease expense and an immaterial amount of variable lease expense, which is included in operating costs on the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. Variable lease expense are primarily costs related to common area maintenance. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
there was $1.3 million and $1.2 million, respectively, of cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities. During the year ended December 31,
2023 there was $1.5 million of lease liabilities arising from lease modifications. There were no lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets or lease modifications
during the year ended December 31, 2022.

The following represents maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Year Amount
2024 $ 1,336 
2025 1,336 
2026 1,336 
2027 1,336 
2028 1,336 
Thereafter 68,849 
Total lease payments 75,529 
Less: interest (61,572)
Total $ 13,957 
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Lessor - Company

Rental revenue of the Company includes the revenues generated by the rental operations of one commercial office property, which was acquired in January 2023. As of
December 31, 2023, the leases have non-cancelable remaining lease terms from 1.2 years to 3.4 years. Certain leases contain options to extend the term of the lease and impose
financial penalties, including paying all future payments required under the remaining term of the lease, if the tenant terminates the lease. The leases do not contain any lessee
purchase options. As of December 31, 2023, the Company does not have any material related party leases as a lessor. During the year ended December 31, 2023, there was
$1.6 million and an immaterial amount of fixed and variable rental revenue, respectively, which is included in other income, net on the accompanying consolidated statements
of operations. The Company had no rental revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022. Variable rental revenue are primarily costs reimbursed related to common area
maintenance.

Future minimum lease payments due to the Company under non-cancellable operating leases over the next five years and thereafter as of December 31, 2023 are as follows
(in thousands):

Year Amount
2024 $ 1,359 
2025 977 
2026 679 
2027 206 
2028 — 
Thereafter — 
Total $ 3,221 

Lessor - Consolidated Funds

Rental revenue of the consolidated funds includes the revenues generated primarily by the rental operations of three multi-family residential properties, including Circle
Lofts which was deconsolidated during the year ended December 31, 2023 and GC Square Apartments which was sold in March 2022, and two commercial properties, including
Northsight Crossing which was sold in October 2023. As of December 31, 2023, the leases have non-cancelable remaining lease terms from 0.1 years to 9.7 years. Certain
leases contain options to extend the term of the lease and impose financial penalties, including paying all future payments required under the remaining term of the lease, if the
tenant terminates the lease. The leases do not contain any lessee purchase options. As of December 31, 2023, the consolidated funds do not have any material related party
leases as a lessor. The components of rental revenue for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands) are presented in the table below. Variable rental revenue
are primarily costs reimbursed related to common area maintenance.

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Fixed $ 3,520 $ 3,066 
Variable 525 531 
Total $ 4,045 $ 3,597 
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Future minimum lease payments due to the consolidated funds under non-cancellable operating leases over the next five years and thereafter as of December 31, 2023 are as
follows (in thousands):

Year Amount
2024 $ 1,025 
2025 679 
2026 690 
2027 569 
2028 584 
Thereafter 2,888 
Total $ 6,435 

Note 9 – Other Liabilities

Other Liabilities of the Company

Other liabilities consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Below market leases, net $ 171 $ — 
Tenant improvement allowance 99 — 
Deposits 113 23 
Other 37 41 

Total other liabilities $ 420 $ 64 

_________________________________
(1) Includes tenant security deposits.

Other Liabilities of the Consolidated Funds

Other liabilities of the consolidated funds consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Advance key money, net $ 825 $ 900 
Deposits 531 710 
Sales tax payable 674 566 
Below market leases, net — 461 
Other 370 393 

Total other liabilities $ 2,400 $ 3,030 

______________________________
(1) Includes hotel advance deposits and tenant security and pet deposits.

(1)

(1)
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Note 10 – Income Taxes

The following table shows the components of the income tax provision (benefit) from total operations for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Current income tax provision (benefit)
Federal $ — $ — 
State — — 

Total — — 

Deferred income tax provision (benefit)
Federal (2,887) 159 
State (451) (25)

Total (3,338) 134 

Adjustment to valuation allowance 3,338 (134)
Total income tax provision (benefit) $ — $ — 

The following table reconciles the U.S. federal statutory tax rate to the effective income tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022

U.S. federal statutory tax rate 21.0 % 21.0 %
State taxes, net of federal benefit 3.6 % 1.6 %
Income passed through to noncontrolling interest, federal tax (11.3)% (18.0)%
Income passed through to noncontrolling interest, state tax (2.0)% (1.4)%
Permanent differences, VIEs (0.8)% 0.5 %
Prior period return-to-provision adjustments 1.9 % (0.8)%
Nondeductible expenses (0.3)% (2.0)%
Change in valuation allowance (12.1)% (0.9)%

Effective income tax rate 0.0 % 0.0 %
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The following table summarizes the components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 13,632 $ 13,638 
Sec 362 basis Step-up 439 438 
Deferred compensation 1,780 1,490 
Fixed assets — 121 
Employee stock based compensation 820 — 
Allowance for doubtful accounts — — 
Other 1,769 673 

Total deferred tax assets 18,440 16,360 
Deferred tax liabilities:

Passthrough income/loss from partnerships (9,399) (11,103)
Fixed assets (447) — 
Other (1,622) (1,623)

Total deferred tax liabilities (11,468) (12,726)
Valuation allowance (6,972) (3,634)

Net deferred tax assets $ — $ — 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had approximately $55.4 million and $53.5 million of federal and state net operating losses (“NOL”), respectively, available to
offset future taxable income. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had approximately $55.1 million each of federal and state NOL available to offset future taxable income.
The federal NOLs arising in 2017 and prior, if not utilized, begin expiring in the year 2035. Federal NOLs arising in tax years ending after December 31, 2017 can be carried
forward indefinitely but are subject to an 80% of taxable income limitation. The Arizona state NOLs arising in 2015, if not utilized, begin expiring in the year 2035. In
accordance with Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, deductibility of the Company’s federal NOL carryovers may be limited in the event of a change in control of
ownership.

In assessing the need for a valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets, the Company considers both positive and negative evidence related to the likelihood of
realization of the deferred tax assets to determine, based on the weight of available evidence, whether it is more-likely-than-not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will
not be realized. In evaluating the need for a valuation allowance, the Company considered cumulative tax losses as a significant piece of negative evidence and established a full
valuation allowance of $7.0 million and $3.6 million against the Company’s net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The changes to the Company’s valuation allowance during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Valuation allowance at the beginning of the year $ 3,634 $ 3,768 
Changes in valuation allowance recorded during the year 3,338 (134)
Valuation allowance at the end of the year $ 6,972 $ 3,634 

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to the following significant taxing jurisdictions: U.S., Alaska, Arizona, California, Colorado, Florida, Illinois, Minnesota,
Missouri, New York, Oregon, South Carolina, Texas, and Utah. The Company is currently not under income tax examination in any tax jurisdiction.
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Although we believe our tax returns are correct, the final determination of tax examinations and any related litigation could be different from what was reported on the tax
returns. We are currently open to audit under the statute of limitations by the United States Internal Revenue Service as well as state taxing authorities for the past four years
(three years in some states). However, due to NOL carryforwards not being utilized, all periods are open to potential examinations. Any penalties and interest related to
unrecognized tax benefits would be classified as income tax expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

We apply U.S. GAAP related to accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, which prescribes a recognition threshold that a tax position is required to meet before
recognition in the financial statements and provides guidance on derecognition, measurement, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and
transition issues. We do not believe that there are any positions taken by the Company which would require recognition or disclosure in these financial statements for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Note 11 – Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures

Supplemental cash flow information consisted of the following for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):
Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid for interest, none of which was capitalized for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively $ 4,875 $ 1,444 
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information of Consolidated Funds
Cash paid for interest, net of capitalized interest of $33 and $18 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively 14,731 9,582 

Supplemental Disclosures of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities
Real estate investments moved from held for sale — 1,703 
Accounts receivable - related party eliminated in consolidation of VIEs 1,853 — 
Assumption of note payable 16,457 — 
Extinguishment of operating lease right-of-use assets 1,059 — 
Extinguishment of operating lease liabilities 1,340 — 
Cost of real estate investments included in accounts payable 242 — 
Investments in unconsolidated entities included in accrued expenses 1,339 — 
Issuance of common stock in connection with legal settlement — 3,200 
Issuance of common stock in lieu of cash payment for accounts payable — 100 
Establishment of operating right-of-use assets — 1,765 
Establishment of finance right-of-use assets — 55 
Establishment of operating lease liabilities — 2,067 
Establishment of finance lease liabilities — 55 
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Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Supplemental Disclosures of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities of Consolidated Funds
Real estate investments moved to held for sale — 21,282 
Real estate investments moved from held for sale — 21,761 
Note receivable eliminated in consolidation 2,946 — 
Cost of real estate investments included in accounts payable 382 268 
Cost of real estate investments included in due to related parties 10 299 
Contributions from noncontrolling interests in connection with settlement of notes payable - related party 1,831 — 
Establishment of operating right-of-use assets or increase from lease modifications 1,516 8,742 
Establishment of operating lease liabilities or increase from lease modifications 1,516 12,540 
Consolidation of VIEs

Real estate investments, net 86,402 — 
Accounts receivable, net 4,348 — 
Due from related parties 2 — 
Operating lease - right of use assets 8,775 — 
Prepaid and other assets 2,042 568 
Notes payable, net 80,449 — 
Notes payable - related parties 6,589 — 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 8,148 130 
Due to related parties 28 — 
Operating lease liabilities 12,441 — 
Other liabilities 2,158 688 
Noncontrolling interests 33,732 1,972 

Deconsolidation of VIEs
Real estate investments, net 85,239 15,905 
Accounts receivable, net 4,973 2 
Operating lease - right of use assets 8,775 — 
Prepaid and other assets 1,658 53 
Due from related parties 2 — 
Due to related parties 1,218 791 
Notes payable, net 74,643 16,953 
Notes payable - related parties 6,882 1,615 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 7,139 298 
Operating lease liabilities 12,441 — 
Other liabilities 1,980 4 
Noncontrolling interests 23,777 2,882 
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Note 12 – Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments and Contingencies of the Company

Environmental Matters

In connection with the ownership and operation of real estate assets, the Company may potentially be liable for costs and damages related to environmental matters. The
Company believes it is in material compliance with current laws and regulations and do not know of any existing environmental condition and has not been notified by any
governmental authority of any non-compliance, liability or other claim, in each case, that could result in a material effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Fund LP

Caliber O-Zone Fund Manager, LLC (the “CTAF Fund Manager”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and general partner and manager of Caliber Tax
Advantaged Opportunity Fund LP (“CTAF”). In the event of a dissolution, winding-up, or termination, if the aggregate amount received by the CTAF limited partners does not
equal or exceed an amount equal to a 6% IRR for the limited partners, the CTAF Fund Manager shall immediately contribute to CTAF funds in order to meet this minimum
requirement for payment to the CTAF limited partners. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company estimated the fair value of CTAF was less than the 6% IRR for the
limited partners.

Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Fund II LLC

Caliber O-Zone Fund II Manager, LLC (the “CTAF II Fund Manager”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and general partner and manager of Caliber Tax
Advantaged Opportunity Zone Fund II LLC (“CTAF II”). In the event of a dissolution, winding-up, or termination, if the aggregate amount received by the CTAF II investor
members does not equal or exceed an amount equal to a 6% IRR for the investor members, the CTAF II Fund Manager shall immediately contribute to CTAF II funds in order
to meet this minimum requirement for payment to the CTAF II investor members. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company estimated the fair value of CTAF II was
less than the 6% IRR for the investor members.

Buyback Program

In September 2018, the Company agreed to repurchase 3,709,693 shares (“Buyback Program”) owned by one of its non-participating founders for $4.54 per share of
common stock in exchange for an amendment to such non-participating founder’s shareholder voting rights and other Company protections. Due to the length of time of the
liability, the Company recorded a liability of $13.6 million and a corresponding reduction to equity in treasury stock at the inception of the Buyback Program using a present
value discount rate of 10.00%. As of December 31, 2022, remaining number of shares to be repurchased was 3,432,351 and the balance of the liability was $12.4 million, which
is included in buyback obligation on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company repurchased 41,615 shares of
Class A common stock pursuant to the Buyback Program and on May 19, 2023, the Company’s Class A common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Capital Market, at
which point the buyback obligation was relieved and no further amounts were due under the Buyback Program.

Commitments and Contingencies of the Consolidated Funds

Franchise Agreements and Advance Key Money

The consolidated hospitality funds are parties to various franchise agreements where, pursuant to the respective agreements, the respective fund is required to pay monthly
fees, generally consisting of royalty, service contribution, technology, program and/or marketing fees. The franchise agreements expire on various dates from June 2025 through
August 2033. The consolidated funds recognized total franchise fees of $5.0 million and $3.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

As a part of one franchise agreement, the consolidated funds received an advance of $1.5 million (“Advance Key Money”) for the consolidated funds to retain the
franchisor on the hotel property for 20 years. The consolidated funds are not required to repay any part of the Advance Key Money unless the franchise agreement is cancelled
before the termination date of August 2033.
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Note 13 – Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income attributable to common shareholders by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding
plus the dilutive impact of all potential dilutive common shares, consisting of stock options and warrants using the treasury stock method, and convertible debt and preferred
stock using the if-converted method.

The Company considered the two-class method in calculating the basic and diluted earnings per share, however, it was determined that there was no impact to the
calculation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders as Class A and Class B common stock share in the same earnings and profits,
thus, having no impact on the calculation.

The Company has calculated the basic and diluted earnings per share during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Numerator:
Net (loss) income attributable to CaliberCos Inc. $ (12,703) $ 2,020 
Convertible debt interest 88 90 
Net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders of CaliberCos Inc. $ (12,615) $ 2,110 

Denominator:
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic 20,087 18,003
Dilutive shares - options, net — 1,637
Dilutive shares - convertible debt, net — 182
Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted 20,087 19,822

Basic net (loss) income per share attributable to common shareholders $ (0.63) $ 0.11 

Diluted net (loss) income per share attributable to common shareholders $ (0.63) $ 0.11 

The number of antidilutive shares consisted of the potential exercise of stock options and potential conversion of convertible debt. The following table summarizes these
potential exercises and conversions during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, which have been excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share
attributable to common shareholders (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Additional common shares, if stock options were exercised 2,267 —
Additional common shares, if convertible debt were converted 175 —

2,442 —

______________________________
(1) There were no antidilutive shares for the year ended December 31, 2022.

(1)
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Note 14 – Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair Value of Financial Instruments of the Company

Fair values of financial instruments held by the Company are estimated using available market information and established valuation methodologies. Accordingly, the
estimates presented are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Company could realize on disposition of the financial instruments. The use of different market assumptions
and/or valuation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

Financial instruments that approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of the instruments consist of cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable.
The fair values of debt have been estimated based on current rates available for similar instruments with similar terms, maturities, and collateral. The fair value of the
Company’s fixed rate debt were measured with Level 2 inputs. The estimated fair value of the Company’s real estate loan was determined by management based on a
discounted future cash-flow model. As of December 31, 2023 the Company’s real estate loan had a carrying value of $16.2 million and a fair value of $9.5 million.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments of the Consolidated Funds

Fair values of financial instruments held by consolidated funds are estimated using available market information and established valuation methodologies. Accordingly, the
estimates presented are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the consolidated funds could realize on disposition of the financial instruments. The use of different market
assumptions and/or valuation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

Financial instruments that approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of the instruments consist of cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable.
The fair values of debt, advance key money, and interest rate caps have been estimated based on current rates available for similar instruments with similar terms, maturities, and
collateral. The carrying values of the consolidated funds’ variable rate debt and advance key money as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 approximated fair value.
The fair value of the consolidated funds’ fixed rate debt were measured with Level 2 inputs. The estimated fair values for the instruments below were determined by
management based on a discounted future cash-flow model (in thousands).

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Note Payable
Carrying

Value Fair Value
Carrying

Value Fair Value
Hampton Inn & Suites Hotel $ 5,939 $ 4,762 $ 6,136 $ 4,594 
Northsight Crossing AZ, LLC — — 14,319 9,302 
Southpointe Fundco, LLC 1,050 1,050 1,050 1,004 
Circle Lofts, LLC — — 4,889 1,915 
Tucson East, LLC 11,901 11,067 — — 
West Frontier, LLC 4,636 3,795 — — 

______________________________
(1) In October 2023, Northsight Crossings AZ, LLC sold its investment in the commercial property and paid its existing property loan in full. As a result, the Company
determined it was no longer the primary beneficiary of the fund and therefore the fund was deconsolidated.
(2) During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company deconsolidated Circle Lofts, LLC, as the Company was no longer determined to be the primary beneficiary of the
fund upon refinancing the loan agreement.

 (1)

(2)
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Note 15 – Derivative Instruments

Risk Management Objective of Using Derivatives

The consolidated funds utilize derivative instruments, including interest rate caps and swaps, to reduce interest rate risk associated with its borrowings. Our consolidated
funds do not intend to utilize derivatives for purposes other than interest rate risk management.

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company did not have any derivatives designated as hedging instruments.

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments

The consolidated funds have entered into interest rate caps and swaps. The following table summarizes the consolidated funds non-designated derivatives as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022 (dollar amounts in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Type of Derivative
Number of

Instruments Notional Amount
Number of

Instruments Notional Amount
Interest rate swap 1 $ 18,418 1 $ 18,856 
Interest rate cap 1 55,000 — — 
Total $ 73,418 $ 18,856 

The following table presents the fair value of the consolidated funds’ non-designated derivatives, as well as their classification in the consolidated balance sheets, as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Type of Derivative Balance Sheet Location December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Interest rate swap Consolidated funds - Prepaid and other assets $ 1,206 $ 1,646 
Interest rate cap Consolidated funds - Prepaid and other assets 10 — 
Total $ 1,216 $ 1,646 

The following table presents the gain or loss recognized in consolidated funds – hospitality expenses in the consolidated statements of operations for years ended December
31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Statement of Operations Location
Years Ended December 31,

Type of Derivative 2023 2022
Interest rate swap Consolidated funds - hospitality expenses $ (440) $ — 
Interest rate cap Consolidated funds - hospitality expenses (75) — 
Total $ (515) $ — 

Note 16 – Stockholders’ Equity and Share-Based Payments

In May 2023, the Company filed a third amended and restated certificate of incorporation. The Company is authorized to issue 137,500,000 shares consisting of: (a)
115,000,000 shares of common stock consisting of (i) 100,000,000 shares of Class A common stock with a par value of $0.001 per share, (ii) 15,000,000 shares of Class B
common stock with a par value of $0.001 per share; and (b) 22,500,000 shares of preferred stock with a par value of $0.001 per share.

The Class B common stock is identical in all respects to Class A common stock, except it is entitled to 10 votes per share and is convertible at any time on a one-for-one
basis into shares of Class A common stock. All other rights, privileges, and rank will be shared equally and be identical in all respects as to all matters.
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Common Stock

The holders of common stock shall be entitled to receive dividends when, as, and if declared by the board of directors. The holders of common stock shall at all times vote
together as one class on all matters. Class A common stock shall be entitled to one vote for each share of common stock and Class B common stock shall be entitled to 10 votes
for each share of common stock. No holder of shares of common stock shall have the right to cumulate votes. In the event of liquidation, subject to the prior rights of holders of
preferred stock to share ratably in the Company’s assets, the holders of common stock and holders of any shares of preferred stock which are not entitled to any preference in
liquidation shall share equally and ratably in the Company’s assets available for distribution after giving effect to any liquidation preference of shares of preferred stock. The
holders of Class A common stock shall not have any conversion, redemption, or other preemptive rights. The holders of Class B common stock are entitled to a conversion
upon notice or an automatic conversion upon transfer at which time the Class B Common stockholder will be entitled to one fully paid and nonassessable share of Class A
common stock. In addition, Class B common stock shall not have any redemption or other preemptive rights.

2017 Incentive Stock Plan

The Company may award stock options to employees under the Amended and Restated 2017 Incentive Stock Plan (“2017 Plan”). The 2017 Plan allows the Company to:
(i) grant stock awards, (ii) grant stock options, and (iii) offer restricted stock purchases to directors, executives and selected employees, consultants, and advisors. Options will
vest if the recipient maintains constant employment through the end of the requisite service period. The following inputs and assumptions were used to calculate the weighted
average fair values of the options granted for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

December 31,
2023 2022

Expected term (in years) 6.13 6.13
Volatility 36% - 40% 30% - 40%
Dividend Yield 0.00 % 0.00 %
Risk-free rate 4.42% - 4.61% 0.97% - 4.10%
Grant date fair value $ 0.38 $ 2.79

Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the service period. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized $3.7
million and $0.5 million, respectively, in compensation expense, related to the 2017 Plan. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there was $0.6 million and $1.0 million,
respectively, of unrecognized compensation expense related to the 2017 Plan stock options.

The following tables detail the activity of the 2017 Plan during the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Stock Options

Stock Options
Weighted Average

Exercise Price

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Term
(in Years)

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value

(in thousands)
Outstanding December 31, 2021 2,053,931 $ 4.51 3.43 $ 3,166 

Granted - Employee 126,631 7.56 — — 
Granted - Nonemployee 14,863 9.25 — — 
Exercised (1,784) 6.73 — — 
Forfeited (153,105) 6.73 — — 
Expired (37,448) 6.71 — — 

Outstanding December 31, 2022 2,003,088 4.58 5.15 2,098 
Granted - Employee 330,967 2.47 — — 
Forfeited (25,046) 6.40 — — 
Expired (23,408) 6.47 — — 

Outstanding December 31, 2023 2,285,601 $ 4.23 4.89 $ 535 
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Restricted Stock Units
Restricted

Stock Units
Weighted Average

Fair Value
Unvested restricted stock units at December 31, 2021 286,971 $ 6.73 

Granted - Employee 109,984 6.73 
Unvested restricted stock units at December 31, 2022 396,955 6.73 

Granted - Employee 2,282,086 1.36 
Vested (272,197) 6.57 
Forfeited (20,058) 1.49 

Unvested restricted stock units at December 31, 2023 2,386,786 $ 1.66 

The restricted stock units are subject to forfeiture if the participant does not meet certain conditions such as continued employment and/or the attainment of the specified
performance target over the specified service period. The performance target related to the outstanding restricted stock units is the completion of an initial public offering or
exchange listing. As of December 31, 2023, there was $3.4 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to the restricted stock units. The restricted stock units have a
remaining term of 3.0 years as of December 31, 2023.

Note 17 – Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 22,500,000 shares of preferred stock pursuant to its third amended and restated certificate of incorporation. As of December 31,
2023, no shares of preferred stock were issued and outstanding.

Note 18 – Subsequent Events

Management has evaluated events and transactions that occurred after December 31, 2023 through April 15, 2024, the date these consolidated financial statement were
available to be issued. In addition to those matters discussed in Note 6 – Notes Payable, the following is a summary of the significant events and transactions that took place
during this period:

• On March 7, 2024, a subsidiary of Caliber Hospitality Trust closed on the first of nine hotels as part of the contribution agreement with L.T.D. Hospitality Group LLC
(“L.T.D”) for $28.6 million and entered into a $14.1 million loan securing the property. As part of the settlement, Caliber Hospitality, LP issued $9.6 million of Caliber
Hospitality, LP operating partnership units to LTD.

• The Company’s board of directors approved the issuance of $25.0 million to $35.0 million of corporate notes to pay off maturing notes.
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DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES

General

The following description summarizes the most important terms of our capital stock. This summary does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the
provisions of Caliber’s third amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws. For a complete description of Caliber’s capital stock, you
should refer to the third amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws and to the applicable provisions of Delaware law.

We are authorized to issue up to 137,500,000 shares of capital stock, of which (i) 100,000,000 shares are Class A common stock with a par value $0.001 per share; (ii)
15,000,000 shares are Class B common stock with a par value $0.001 per share; and (iii) 22,500,000 shares are preferred stock with a par value of $0.001 per share.

Class A common stock

Voting. The holders of the Class A common stock are entitled to one (1) vote for each share of Class A common stock held at all meetings of stockholders (and written
actions in lieu of meetings). The Class A common stock is not subject to cumulative voting. The Class A common stock and Class B common stock vote together as a single
class on all matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders, except as may otherwise be required by law.

Dividends. Subject to the preferences applicable to the Preferred Stock, the holders of the Class A common stock are entitled to, on an equal basis with the holders of Class
B common stock, receive dividends when and if declared by the Company’s board of directors out of funds legally available therefor, subject to any statutory or contractual
restrictions on the payment of dividends and to any restrictions on the payment of dividends imposed by the terms of any outstanding preferred stock.

Class B common stock

Voting. The holders of the Class B common stock are entitled to ten (10) votes for each share of Class B common stock held at all meetings of stockholders (and written
actions in lieu of meetings). The Class B common stock is not subject to cumulative voting. The Class A common stock and Class B common stock vote together as a single
class on all matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders, except as may otherwise be required by law.

Dividends. Subject to the preferences applicable to the preferred stock, the holders of the Class B common stock are entitled to, on an equal basis with the holders of Class
A common stock, receive dividends when and if declared by the Company’s board of directors out of funds legally available therefor, subject to any statutory or contractual
restrictions on the payment of dividends and to any restrictions on the payment of dividends imposed by the terms of any outstanding preferred stock.

Shares of Class B common stock will automatically convert into Shares of Class A common stock on a share-for-share basis at the earlier of: (i) the date of the sale of all or
substantially all of the stock or assets of the Corporation; (ii) transfer or sale of such shares to any person or entity not a holder of such Shares of Class B common stock on the
date of adoption of the third amended and restated certificate of incorporation other than a trust or other entity established by a current holder of such Shares of Class B common
stock for bona fide estate planning purposes; or (iii) three years following the date the common stock is first publicly traded.

Preferred Stock

The third amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes the Board to establish one or more series of preferred stock. The Board has the discretion to
determine the preferences and relative, participating, optional and other special rights, including voting rights, dividend rights, conversion rights, redemption privileges and
liquidation preferences of each series of preferred stock.

Anti-Takeover Provisions
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Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws and Class B Common Stock

Because our stockholders do not have cumulative voting rights, our stockholders holding a majority of the outstanding shares of common stock outstanding will be able to
elect all of our directors.

The foregoing provisions will make it more difficult for our existing stockholders to replace our Board of Directors as well as for another party to obtain control of us by
replacing our Board of Directors. Since our board of directors has the power to retain and discharge our officers, these provisions could also make it more difficult for existing
stockholders or another party to effect a change in management. In addition, the authorization of undesignated preferred stock makes it possible for our Board of Directors to
issue preferred stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could impede the success of any attempt to change our control.

These provisions are intended to enhance the likelihood of continued stability in the composition of our Board of Directors and its policies and to discourage certain types
of transactions that may involve an actual or threatened acquisition of us. These provisions are also designed to reduce our vulnerability to an unsolicited acquisition proposal
and to discourage certain tactics that may be used in proxy fights. However, such provisions could have the effect of discouraging others from making tender offers for our
shares and may have the effect of deterring hostile takeovers or delaying changes in our control or management.

In addition, the control vested in our founders by virtue of their holding of Class B common stock may discourage or impede takeover activities.

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law

We are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any business combination with any
interested stockholder for a period of three years after the date that such stockholder became an interested stockholder, with the following exceptions:

• before such date, the board of directors of the corporation approved either the business combination or the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an
interested stockholder;

• upon closing of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of
the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction began, excluding for purposes of determining the voting stock outstanding (but not the outstanding voting stock
owned by the interested stockholder) those shares owned by (i) persons who are directors and also officers and (ii) employee stock plans in which employee participants
do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or

• on or after such date, the business combination is approved by the board of directors and authorized at an annual or special meeting of the stockholders, and not by
written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2⁄3% of the outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder.

In general, Section 203 defines business combination to include the following:

• any sale, transfer, pledge or other disposition of 10% or more of the assets of the corporation involving the interested stockholder;

• subject to certain exceptions, any transaction that results in the issuance or transfer by the corporation of any stock of the corporation to the interested stockholder;



• any transaction involving the corporation that has the effect of increasing the proportionate share of the stock or any class or series of the corporation beneficially owned
by the interested stockholder; or

• the receipt by the interested stockholder of the benefit of any loss, advances, guarantees, pledges or other financial benefits by or through the corporation.

In general, Section 203 defines an “interested stockholder” as an entity or person who, together with the person’s affiliates and associates, beneficially owns, or within
three years prior to the time of determination of interested stockholder status did own, 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation.

Exclusive forum for adjudication of disputes provision which limits the forum to the Delaware Court of Chancery for certain stockholder litigation matters actions
against the Company, which may limit an investor’s ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with the Company or its directors, officers, employees or
stockholders.

Section 7.06(a) of Article VII of our Bylaws dictates that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Delaware Court of Chancery (or, if the
Delaware Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the State of Delaware) is, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the sole and exclusive forum
for certain actions including derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company; an action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty owed by an officer, director,
employee or to the stockholders of the Company; any claim arising under Delaware corporate law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and
restated bylaws; and any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of
capital stock of the Company shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to the provisions of Section 7.06 of Article VII of our Bylaws.

However, Section 7.06(a) of Article VII of our Bylaws will not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Exchange Act or any other claim for
which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. To the extent that any such claims may be based upon federal law claims, Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive
federal jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder.

Furthermore, unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America will be the
exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act, or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. We note,
however, that Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the
Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. There is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce this provision and that investors cannot waive compliance with
the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.

A Delaware corporation is allowed to mandate in its corporate governance documents a chosen forum for the resolution of state law-based stockholder class actions,
derivative suits and other intra-corporate disputes. With respect to such state law claims, the Company’s management believes limiting state law based claims to Delaware will
provide the most appropriate outcomes as the risk of another forum misapplying Delaware law is avoided, Delaware courts have a well-developed body of case law and limiting
the forum will preclude costly and duplicative litigation and avoids the risk of inconsistent outcomes. Additionally, Delaware Chancery Courts can typically resolve disputes on
an accelerated schedule when compared to other forums.

The choice of forum provisions contained in the Company’s Bylaws may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes
with the Company or any of its directors, officers, other employees or stockholders, which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims. Alternatively, the enforceability
of similar choice of forum provisions in other issuers’ bylaws and certificates of incorporation has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that in connection
with any applicable action brought against the Company, a court could find the choice of forum provisions contained in the Company’s Bylaws to be inapplicable or
unenforceable in such action. As a result, the Company could incur additional costs associated with resolving such actions in other jurisdictions, which could harm the
Company’s business, operating results and financial condition.
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CODE OF ETHICS FOR THE CEO, COO, AND SENIOR FINANCIAL OFFICERS

OF

CALIBERCOS INC.

CaliberCos Inc. (the “Company”) has a Code of Conduct applicable to all directors, officers, and employees of the Company. The Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, and all senior financial officers, including the Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer, are bound by the provisions set forth therein relating to ethical conduct, conflicts of interest, and compliance with law. In addition to
the Code of Conduct, the Chief Executive Officer and senior financial officers are subject to the following additional specific policies:

1. The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, and all senior financial officers are responsible for full, fair, accurate, timely, and
understandable disclosure in the periodic reports required to be filed by the Company with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission. Accordingly, it is the responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, and each senior financial
officer promptly to bring to the attention of the Audit Committee any material information of which he or she may become aware that
affects the disclosures made by the Company in its public filings or otherwise assist the Audit Committee in fulfilling their
responsibilities.

2. The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, and each senior financial officer shall promptly bring to the attention of the Audit
Committee any information he or she may have concerning (a) significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls that
could adversely affect the Company's ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial data or (b) any fraud, whether or not
material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company's financial reporting, disclosures, or
internal controls.

3. The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, and each senior financial officer shall promptly bring to the attention of the Audit
Committee any information he or she may have concerning any violation of this Code of Ethics or the Company's Code of Conduct,
including any actual or apparent conflicts of interest between personal and professional relationships, involving any management or other
employees who have a significant role in the Company's financial reporting, disclosures, or internal controls.

4. The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, and each senior financial officer shall promptly bring to the attention of the Audit
Committee any information he or she may have concerning evidence of a material violation of the securities or other laws, rules, or
regulations applicable to the Company and the operation of its business, by the Company or any agent thereof, or of violation of the Code
of Conduct or of these additional procedures.
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5. The Board of Directors (the “Board”) shall determine, or designate appropriate persons to determine, appropriate actions to be taken in
the event of violations of the Code of Conduct or of these additional procedures by the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer,
and the Company's senior financial officers. Such actions shall be reasonably designed to deter wrongdoing and to promote
accountability for adherence to the Code of Conduct and to these additional procedures, and may include written notices to the individual
involved that the Board has determined that there has been a violation, censure by the Board, demotion or re-assignment of the individual
involved, suspension with or without pay or benefits (as determined by the Board), and termination of the individual's employment. In
determining the appropriate action in a particular case, the Board or such designee shall take into account all relevant information,
including the nature and severity of the violation, whether the violation was a single occurrence or repeated occurrences, whether the
violation appears to have been intentional or inadvertent, whether the individual in question had been advised prior to the violation as to
the proper course of action, and whether or not the individual in question had committed other violations in the past.
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AMENDED AND RESTATED
POLICY ON INSIDE INFORMATION AND INSIDER TRADING

OF
CALIBERCOS INC.

(Effective August 8, 2023)

1.    PURPOSE

In the course of your relationship with CaliberCos Inc. (the “Company”) or one or more of its subsidiaries, you may have access to
information about the Company that is not generally available to the public. One of the principal purposes of the federal securities laws is to
prohibit so-called “insider trading.” Insider trading occurs when a person uses material non-public information (also called “inside
information”) about a company to make decisions to buy, sell, or otherwise trade the company’s securities (including common stock, debt
securities, and stock options) or to provide that information (“tip”) to others outside the company. See Section 7 for further discussion of the
terms “material,” “non-public,” and “inside” information.

Because of your relationship with the Company, you have certain responsibilities under the federal securities laws with respect to inside
information. The purpose of this Policy on Inside Information and Insider Trading (this “Policy”) is to describe the Company’s policies
regarding the protection of material non-public information and trading and tipping, as well as the expected standards of conduct each member
of the Board of Directors of the Company (a “Director”), each person required to file reports under Section 16 (a “Section 16 officer”) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) regardless of whether that person has been classified by the Board of
Directors of the Company as an executive officer, and each employee of the Company with respect to these highly sensitive matters. This
Policy explains your obligations under the law and the Company’s policies. You should read this Policy carefully and comply with this Policy
at all times.

2.    SCOPE

This Policy applies to every Director and Section 16 officer of the Company, to every employee of the Company, and to any family
members who reside in the household of any such person. Therefore, all references to “you” in this Policy mean you as well as any family
members who reside in your household.

Section 3 of this Policy prohibits trading in certain circumstances and applies to all Directors, Section 16 officers, and employees.
Section 4 of this Policy imposes special additional restrictions and applies to all of the following:

• Directors,
• Section 16 officers, and
• “restricted employees,” which includes the personnel listed on Exhibit A, hereto.

1
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From time to time, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company may designate
others as restricted employees or make other changes in the classification of individuals as restricted employees, in each case upon written
notice to them. The Company will maintain a list of all restricted employees, which will be updated from time to time after consultation with
the Company’s Chief Financial Officer. The term “non-restricted employees” is defined to include all employees other than Section 16 officers
and restricted employees.

From time to time, the Board of Directors may designate persons as Section 16 officers whether or not those persons have been
designated as executive officers.

3.    POLICY FOR DIRECTORS, SECTION 16 OFFICERS, RESTRICTED EMPLOYEES, AND non‑RESTRICTED EMPLOYEES

3.1    Applicability.

This Section 3 applies to all Directors, Section 16 officers, and employees of the Company as well as any family members who reside in
the household of any such person, unless otherwise stated herein.

3.2    General Policy Regarding Trading and Tipping.

3.2.1    You may not trade in securities of the Company (or any other entity, such as a customer, supplier, or possible acquisition
target of the Company) at any time that you possess material non-public information about the Company (or about such other
entity). This restriction applies both to securities purchases (to make a profit based on good news) and securities sales (to avoid a
loss based on bad news), regardless of how or from whom the material non-public information has been obtained. Because trades
made in accordance with a pre-existing written plan, contract, instruction, or arrangement under Rule 10b5-1 of the Exchange Act
(a “Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan”) that has been previously approved in accordance with Section 5 are not really voluntary trades,
the Company understands that a trade under such a Plan may actually be made at a time that you possess such material non-public
information.

3.2.2    If you are a non-restricted employee, you may trade in securities of the Company at any time and without prior approvals
provided that you are not in possession of material non-public information concerning the Company.

3.2.3    If you are a non-restricted employee and wish to enter into, amend, modify, or terminate a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan, you
must follow the procedures set forth in Section 5.3 and are subject to the restrictions set forth in Section 5.2.
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3.2.4    You may not convey (or “ tip”) material non-public information regarding the Company (or any other entity, such as a
customer, supplier, or possible acquisition target of the Company) to any other person. The concept of unlawful tipping includes
passing on such information to friends, family members, or acquaintances. You may, of course, provide such information to other
Company employees or representatives on a “need to know” basis in the course of performing your job with the Company.

3.2.5.    You may not engage in derivatives trading or hedging involving the Company’s securities or pledging or margining the
Company’s common stock, which include trading in call or put options involving the Company’s securities as well as “short
sales” of the Company’s securities. The Company prohibits these types of transactions involving the Company’s securities
because of the complexity of reporting puts, calls, derivatives, and shorts as well as the difficulty of ensuring that these types of
transactions are managed in accordance with applicable securities laws and the possibility of inadvertent violations of the
securities laws or this Policy.

3.2.6    You must promptly report to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, or legal department any
trading in the Company’s securities by Company personnel or disclosure of material non-public information by Company
personnel that you believe may violate this Policy or the securities laws of the United States.

3.2.7    As and when circumstances require, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer or legal department may implement
additional restrictions (including “blackout periods” as discussed in Section 4.2) on non-restricted employees who are asked to
work on sensitive projects or transactions, or who gain access to material non-public information in connection with a specific
project or transaction.

3.3    Certain Securities Acquired Through Company Equity Plans.

3.3.1    Stock Options – All sales of securities acquired through the exercise of employee stock options granted by the Company
are subject to this Policy. The exercise of employee stock options granted by the Company is exempt from this Policy if the
exercise price and statutory tax withholdings are paid in cash or on a “net share basis” in which the Company withholds a portion
of the shares underlying the options. This Policy, however, does apply in the case of a Broker-Assisted Cashless Exercise. A
Broker-Assisted Cashless Exercise is the exercise of a stock option through a broker in which a portion of the exercised shares are
sold into the market and the requisite amount of the sale proceeds are used to pay the exercise price, tax obligations, or both.

3.3.2    Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units – The prohibitions of this Policy do not apply to the deduction of shares by the
Company to satisfy the statutory tax withholding liability upon the vesting or delivery of restricted stock or restricted stock units
(“RSUs”).
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3.3.3.    Gifts – Bona fide gifts are not subject to this Policy as long as (a) the gift is made to an established charity or (b) the
recipient of the gift is subject to this Policy.

3.4    Safeguarding Material Non-Public Information.

3.4.1    Care must be taken to safeguard the confidentiality of internal information. For example, sensitive documents should not
be left lying on desks, and visitors should not be left unattended in offices containing internal Company documents.

3.4.2    Before material information relating to the Company or its business has been disclosed to the general public, it must be
kept in strict confidence. Such information should be discussed only with persons who are employed by or represent the
Company who have a “need to know” and should be confined to as small a group as possible. The utmost care and
circumspection must be exercised at all times. Therefore, conversations in public places, such as elevators, restaurants, and
airplanes, should be limited to matters that do not involve information of a sensitive or confidential nature and conversations on
mobile phones should be conducted with care. In addition, you should not transmit confidential information through the Internet,
including social media sites, blogs, or online forums, or any electronic mail system that is not secure.

3.4.3    To ensure the Company’s confidences are protected to the maximum extent possible, no individuals other than
specifically authorized personnel may release material information to the public or respond to inquiries from the media, analysts,
or others outside the Company. If you are contacted by the media or by an analyst seeking information about the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and if you have not been expressly authorized by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial
Officer to provide information to the media or to analysts, you should refer the call to the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, or
Chief Executive Officer.

4.    ADDITIONAL RESTRICTIONS FOR DIRECTORS, SECTION 16 OFFICERS, AND/or RESTRICTED EMPLOYEES

4.1    Applicability.

Except as specifically set forth below, this Section 4 applies to all Directors, Section 16 officers, and restricted employees as well as any
family members who reside in the household of any of them.

4 . 2    Blackout Periods. To avoid improper conduct or the appearance of impropriety, Directors, Section 16 officers, and restricted
employees are prohibited from trading in the Company’s securities and entering into, amending, or modifying Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans
during times when the Company is most likely to have (or is presumed to have) material non-public information available. These
“blackout periods” (also called “trading freezes”) will be imposed because these persons generally have access to a range of financial
and other sensitive information about the Company. These blackout periods may vary in length.
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4.2.1    Quarterly Blackout Periods – Trading in the Company’s securities and entering into, amending, or modifying Rule 10b5-1
Trading Plans are prohibited during the period beginning on the fourteenth business day following the public release of the
Company’s quarterly earnings for the Company’s preceding fiscal quarter and ending 72 hours after the public release of the
Company’s quarterly earnings of the Company’s current fiscal quarter.

4.2.2    Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan Blackout Periods for Directors and Section 16 Officers  – If you are a Director or a Section 16
officer, you may not trade, even in accordance with a previously approved Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan, commencing on the first
day of the two-week period prior to an earnings announcement by the Company and continuing until 48 hours thereafter.

4.2.3    Other Blackout Periods – The Company, from time to time, may impose additional special blackout periods on Directors,
Section 16 officers, and restricted employees as a result of significant unannounced corporate developments. If the Company
imposes a special blackout period, it will notify the Directors, Section 16 officers, and restricted employees affected.

4.3    Trading Windows.

4.3.1    Quarterly Trading Windows – Generally, you may trade in the Company’s securities or enter into, amend, or modify a
Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan during the period beginning 48 hours after the public release of the Company’s quarterly and annual
earnings and ending at the close of the market on the last day of the calendar month immediately preceding the Company’s next
fiscal quarter end (the “trading window” or “open window”).

4.3.2    Exceptions

Except as set forth in Section 4.2.2 for Directors and Section 16 officers, trading windows are not applicable with respect
to trading pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan, provided you have obtained pre-clearance from the Company’s Chief
Financial Officer or legal department that such trading plan would not violate this Policy.

4.3.3.    In certain very limited circumstances, the Company may waive the requirement that trades be made and Rule 10b5-1
Trading Plans be entered into, amended, or modified only during the trading window.

4.4    Restricted Employees. If you are a restricted employee, except for trades made in accordance with an existing Rule 10b5-1 Trading
Plan, you may trade in securities of the Company only (a) during a trading window, subject to limited case-by-case waivers by the
Company’s Chief Financial Officer or legal department and (b) after you have obtained pre-clearance from the Company’s Chief
Financial Officer or Chief Executive Officer.
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4.5    Directors and Section 16 Officers. If you are a Director or a Section 16 officer:

4.5.1    In an open window for transactions that will be completed in not less than two days following the placement of the order
with the transacting broker (an “Immediate Trade”) provided that (a) the transaction is done through the broker selected by the
Company for such transactions (the “Designated Broker,” currently E-Trade), and (b) all stock of the Company owned by such
Director or Section 16 Officer and held in any account by the Designated Broker is treated by the Designated Broker as available
for sale only during an open window, (c) the Director or Section 16 Officer will be responsible directly or through the broker to
report, not later than the opening of market on the day following the transaction, the date of the transaction, the number of shares
involved in the transaction, and the price per share of the shares involved in the transaction, and (d) the Director or Section 16
Officer must not possess any material non-public information regarding the Company at the time of the transaction.

4.5.2    In an open window for transactions that will be completed in not less than two days following the placement of the order
with the transacting broker (an “Immediate Trade”) provided that (a) the Director or Section 16 Officer has requested and
received an e-mail from either the Chief Financial Officer or Chief Executive Officer of the Company that the Company is in an
open window for the sale of a designated number of shares, (b) the broker has agreed in writing to the Company that (i) it will not
complete a transaction for the Director or Section 16 Officer until it has received a copy of the foregoing e-mail confirming that
there is an open window and (ii) the broker will report the date of the transaction, the number of shares involved in the
transaction, and the price per share of the shares involved in the transaction, (c) the Director or Section 16 Officer will be
responsible directly or through the broker to report, not later than the opening of market on the day following the transaction, the
date of the transaction, the number of shares involved in the transaction, and the price per share of the shares involved in the
transaction, and (d) the Director or Section 16 Officer must not possess any material non-public information regarding the
Company.

4.5.3    Through a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan (as described below in Section 5) that may be entered into (a) during an open
window, subject to limited case-by-case waivers by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer after consultation with legal
department and (b) after you have obtained pre-clearance of the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan from the Company’s Chief Financial
Officer. The Company’s Chief Financial Officer and the Company’s legal department must obtain pre‑approval from the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer for her or his own Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan).

4.5.4    Pursuant to Section 4.2.2, you may not trade, even in accordance with a previously approved Rule 10b5-1 trading plan,
commencing on the first day of the two-week period prior to an earnings announcement by the Company and continuing until 48
business hours thereafter.
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5.    RULE 10B5-1 TRADING PLANS

5.1    If you are a Director, Section 16 officer, or employee (non-restricted or restricted) and you are not effecting an Immediate Trade as
set forth in Section 4.5.1.1 above, you may (i) enter into, amend, or modify a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan at any time you are not in
possession of material non-public information about the Company and (ii) enter into, amend, or modify a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan only
after you have obtained pre‑clearance from the Company’s Chief Financial Officer or legal department that such Rule 10b5-1 Trading
Plan would not violate this Policy (“pre-clearance”). Even if you receive pre-clearance, you may enter into, amend, or modify a Rule
10b5-1 Trading Plan only so long as you are not in possession of material non-public information about the Company. If you are a
Director, Section 16 officer, or restricted employee, you are also subject to the provisions in Section 4 with respect to entering into,
amending, or modifying a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan.

5.2    No trade shall be made pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan by or on behalf of any Section 16 officer or employee (restricted or
unrestricted) until (a) the date the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan (or any amendment or modification thereof) is cleared by the Company’s
Chief Financial Officer or legal department (or the Company’s Chief Executive Officer for the Chief Financial Officer or legal
department’s own Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan) if such plan (or any amendment or modification thereof) is cleared by the Company’s
Chief Financial Officer, legal department or Chief Executive Officer, as applicable, on a date that is during an “open window” (as
defined in Section 4.3.1); or (b) the first day of the next open window if the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan (or any amendment or
modification thereof) is cleared by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, Chief Executive Officer, or legal department, as applicable,
on a date that is not during an open window.

5.3    If you have a previously approved Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan in place, the Company will not sign any request to amend or modify
such plan following any date you cease being a Director, Section 16 officer, or employee, subject to limited case-by-case waivers by the
Company’s Chief Financial Officer after consultation with the Company’s legal department. Keep in mind, however, you may not trade
in the Company’s securities while in possession of material non-public information even after you are no longer are a Director, Section
16 officer, or employee.

5.4    You are prohibited from having more than one Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan in effect at any time, subject to limited case-by-case
waivers by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer after consultation with the Company’s legal department.

6.    PENALTIES FOR INSIDER TRADING VIOLATIONS

6.1    Penalties for trading on or communicating material non-public information can be severe; both for individuals involved in such
unlawful conduct and their supervisors, may include prison sentences, criminal fines, civil penalties, and civil enforcement injunctions.
Given the severity of the potential penalties, compliance with this Policy is absolutely mandatory at all times.
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6.2    Trading on inside information is a crime. The seriousness of insider trading is reflected in the penalties that it carries. If an
individual Director’s, Section 16 officer’s, or employee’s insider trading is found to be a willful violation of the insider trading rules
promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), he or she may be penalized up to $5,000,000 (up to $25,000,000
for a non-natural person) and imprisoned for up to 20 years.

6.3    The SEC also has the authority to seek a civil monetary penalty of up to three times the amount of the profit gained or loss avoided
as a result of an individual’s insider trading. The SEC may also impose control person liability on the Company for up to the greater of
$1,000,000 or three times the amount of profit gained or loss avoided by insider trading. “Profit gained” or “loss avoided” is defined as
the difference between the purchase or sale price of the security and its value as measured by the trading information. The SEC is
authorized to pay a bounty to persons who provided the information leading to the imposition of such penalty. In addition to civil
penalties, the SEC may seek other relief such as an injunction against future violations and disgorgement of profits resulting from illegal
trading. Finally, private parties may bring actions against any person purchasing or selling a security while in the possession of material
non-public information.

6.4    On occasion, it may be necessary for legitimate business reasons to disclose material non-public information to persons outside the
Company. Such persons might include outside Company auditors and legal department, commercial bankers, investment bankers, and
companies seeking to engage in a joint venture, a merger, a common investment, or other joint goal with the Company. In such
circumstances, the information should not be conveyed until an express agreement has been reached to maintain the information in
confidence, to provide that such information is not to be used for trading purposes, and to mandate that such may not be further disclosed
other than for legitimate business reasons.

6.5    Any Director, Section 16 officer, or employee who violates the prohibitions against insider trading or knows of such violation by
any other persons must report the violation immediately to the Company’s Chief Financial Officer or legal department. Upon learning of
any such violations, the Company will determine whether it should publicly release any material non-public information or whether the
Company should report the violation to the appropriate governmental authority.

6.6    The SEC, the Department of Justice, and the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) have committed large staffs,
computer investigative techniques, and other resources to the detection and prosecution of insider trading cases. Criminal prosecution
and the imposition of fines and/or imprisonment is commonplace.

6.7    For all of these reasons, both you and the Company have a significant interest in ensuring that insider trading is scrupulously
avoided.

6.8    Your failure to comply with this Policy at all times will be grounds for disciplinary action by the Company, up to and including
dismissal for cause.
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7.    DEFINITIONS

7.1    “Inside (or “non-public”) Information.”

7.1.1    Inside (or “non-public”) information is material information about the Company that has not been disclosed through wide
dissemination to the public. Information generally becomes public when it has been disclosed by the Company or third parties to
achieve broad, non-exclusionary distribution to the investing public through recognized channels of distribution, without favoring
any person or group and public investors have had a reasonable period of time to absorb and react to the information. Generally,
information which has not been available to the investing public for at least 48 business hours time during which the Nasdaq
stock market is open for trading, after formal release is considered to be non-public. In other words, there is a presumption that
the public needs 48 hours to receive and absorb such information in order for it be considered public. Recognized channels of
distribution include press releases or other public statements, including any publicly disclosed filing with the SEC.

7.1.2    Inside or non-public information may include, among other things, strategic plans; significant capital investment plans;
negotiations concerning acquisitions or dispositions; major new contracts (or the loss of a major contract); other favorable or
unfavorable business or financial developments; projections or prospects; a change in control or a significant change in
management; impending securities splits, securities dividends, or changes in dividends to be paid; a call of securities for
redemption; and, most frequently, financial results. Furthermore, non-public information may be information available to a select
group of analysts or brokers or institutional investors; undisclosed facts that are the subject of rumors, even if the rumors are
widely circulated; and information that has been entrusted to the Company on a confidential basis until a public announcement of
the information has been made and enough time has elapsed for the market to respond to a public announcement of the
information (normally 48 hours).

7.2    “Material Information.”

7.2.1    Information is material if there is a likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider it important in deciding whether
to buy, hold, or sell the Company’s securities. Any information that could reasonably be expected to affect the price of the
Company’s securities is material for these purposes. In this regard, potential market reaction or sensitivity to the information is a
key consideration. Moreover, although multiple pieces of information may not be material individually, if the aggregate effect of
those pieces, when they become public, would alter the “total mix” of available information and result in a reevaluation of the
Company’s securities, then such pieces of information are considered material. Material information can be positive or negative.
While it is not possible to identify in advance all information that will be deemed to be material, some examples of potentially
material information include the following:
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▪ Financial results, including earnings information and quarterly results;
▪ Known but unannounced future earnings or losses;
▪ Guidance on earnings estimates;
▪ Execution or termination of a significant financing arrangement;
▪ Information relating to a pending or proposed merger or other acquisition, disposition, or joint venture;
▪ Information relating to the disposition or acquisition of significant assets;
▪ Changes in financial liquidity;
▪ Events regarding the Company’s securities, including defaults on senior securities, calls of securities for redemption,

repurchase plans, stock splits, changes in dividend policy, and changes to rights of securityholders;
▪ New equity or debt offerings (public or private);
▪ Significant increases or decreases in the amount of outstanding securities or indebtedness;
▪ Significant developments (whether positive or negative) in material pending litigation;
▪ Significant litigation exposure because of actual or threatened litigation;
▪ Changes in auditors or a determination that the Company’s financial statement can no longer be relied upon;
▪ Changes in senior management;
▪ Significant changes in compensation policy and the granting of options or payment of other compensation to Directors or

Company officers;
▪ Significant non-routine transactions with Directors, Company officers, or principal security holders; and
▪ Bankruptcies, receiverships, or reorganizations.
▪ Any other occurrence such as securing a major new, or losing a major, source of business by the Company or any of its

subsidiaries.

7.2.2    It can sometimes be difficult to know whether information would be considered “material.” The determination of whether
information is material is almost always clearer after the fact, when the effect of that information on the market can be quantified.
Although you may have information about the Company that you do not consider to be material, federal regulators and others
may conclude (with the benefit of hindsight) that such information was material. Therefore, trading in the Company’s securities
when you possess non-public information about the Company can be risky. When doubt exists, the information should be
presumed to be material. If you are unsure whether information of which you are aware is material or non-public, you should
consult with the Company’s Chief Financial Officer or legal department.

8.    REFERENCE

See also:

INVESTOR-001A Pre-Clearance Form for Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans – Restricted Employees and Section 16 Officers other
than Outside Directors

INVESTOR-001B Pre-Clearance Form for Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans – Outside Directors
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9.    CERTIFICATION

9.1    Please sign, date, and return the attached Certification stating that you received the Company’s Policy on Inside Information and Insider
Trading regarding insider trading and the preservation of the confidentiality of material non-public information and related procedures, and that
you agree to comply with it. The Company will deem you to be bound by this Policy whether or not you sign the Certification.
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CERTIFICATION
I hereby certify as follows:

a . I have read and understand this Policy on Inside Information and Insider Trading and related procedures, a copy of which was
distributed with this Certificate;

b. I have complied with the foregoing policy and procedures;
c. I will continue to comply with this policy and procedures set forth in this Policy;
d. I will either (i) effect an Immediate Trade during an open window or (ii) request prior clearance of all Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans for

all proposed sales or acquisitions of securities of the Company except for an Immediate Trade; and
e. I will report all transactions in securities of the Company in writing to the Company’s Chief Financial Officer or legal department.

Signature:

Name:
(Please print)

Department or Title:

Employee #:

Date:

NOTE: Certifications “d” and “e” above relate only to Directors, Section 16 officers, and restricted employees. They do not relate to non-
restricted employees.
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Frequently Asked Questions on Insider Trading

Transactions Subject to this Policy

Does this policy apply only to trades in the Company’s common stock?

No. This policy also applies to any “equity equivalent” for the Company’s common stock. You may not engage in derivatives
trading or hedging involving the Company’s securities, which includes traded options (puts or calls) and any other security whose market value
is tied to the value of the Company’s common stock. In addition, this policy applies to the securities of the Company’s customers, suppliers,
and possible acquisition targets.

Does this policy apply to the exercise of employee stock options?

The exercise of employee stock options is exempt from the policy, because the exercise price of an option is fixed at the time of
grant and does not fluctuate with the market. As a result, you may always adopt an “exercise and hold” strategy. However, the sale of the
underlying stock is subject to the policy. Thus, the sale of Company stock to pay the exercise price and satisfy the minimum tax withholding
requirements upon the exercise of an option through a Broker-Assisted Cashless Exercise of an option is also subject to the policy. Directors
and Company executive officers may be subject to further requirements with respect to the “cashless exercise” of options.

Can I trade in options or other derivative securities involving the Company’s securities?

No. The policy prohibits trading in options or other derivative securities involving the Company’s securities. The options we are
referring to are “put” and “call” options, whether or not market-traded, and any similar instruments, and not the employee stock options
granted to you by the Company.

Does this policy apply to open-end mutual funds?

No. The policy does not apply to trading in open-end mutual funds.

Tipping

What is tipping?

Tipping refers to the transmission of material non-public information from an insider to another person. Sometimes this involves
a deliberate conspiracy in which the tipper passes on information in exchange for a portion of the “tippee’s” illegal trading profits. Even if
there is no expectation of profit, however, a tipper can have liability if he or she has reason to know that the information may be misused.
Tipping inside information to another person is like putting your life in that person’s hands. The safest choice is: Don’t.
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Materiality

I know all sorts of things about the Company. How do I know what’s “material?”

The Supreme Court says that information is material if a reasonable investor would consider it important in deciding whether to
buy or sell a security. At the Company, we have determined that our quarterly earnings information is generally material. Other information —
acquisitions, financing transactions, etc. — is evaluated by management on a case-by-case basis. Examples of potentially material information
are listed in Section 5.2.1 of this Policy. [Note: The Company traditionally has not considered new product or customer information as
material.]

If you are at all unsure about whether you have material non-public information, the safe approach is to discuss it with the
Company’s Chief Financial Officer or legal department.

Other Considerations

The policy prohibits trading in the securities of the Company’s customers, suppliers, potential acquisition targets, and other companies while
in possession of material non-public information about the Company or such other company. Will I be asked to sell shares I hold in these
companies?

No. This is a trading restriction, not an ownership restriction. The policy only prohibits trading in the securities of the
Company’s customers, suppliers, potential acquisition targets, and competitors while in possession of material non-public information about
such other company. If you are privy to information and such information is not public knowledge, you should not trade in the securities of the
other company until 48 business hours after the information has been announced.

You will not be required to sell securities of a corporation that you hold at any time simply because the Company establishes a
relationship or otherwise commences negotiations with that company.

My spouse is employed by a publicly traded corporation, and we own stock in my spouse’s employer. Does the policy prohibit us from trading
in stock of my spouse’s employer?

The policy would not prohibit you or your spouse from trading in securities of your spouse’s employer, unless the Company is
at that time engaged in negotiations with your spouse’s employer to which you or your spouse are privy. However, you should carefully review
the policy of your spouse’s employer to be sure that you are complying with both policies in all of your trades. Furthermore, you should never
trade in the securities of any company while in possession of material non-public information about such company.
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Enforcement Practices

I only own a few hundred shares. The SEC doesn’t go after small fish like me, right?

Wrong. The SEC has prosecuted numerous cases involving relatively small amounts of money.

If I pass information to others but don’t trade myself, no one will be able to figure it out, right?

Wrong again. The SEC has sophisticated and ingenious methods for identifying unusual trading patterns and tracing them to
their source. They have the ability to subpoena telephone records, bank and brokerage statements, personal files, electronic mail files, and
anything else that may help them to make a case. Whether it’s your second cousin in New Jersey or your college roommate’s stepfather, the
SEC has the resources to establish the connection to you.

Further Information

Who should I contact if I have questions regarding the policy?

The Company’s Chief Financial Officer or legal department.

Where do I go for the most current version of the policy?

The Company’s Chief Financial Officer or legal department.
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EXHIBIT A

The term “restricted employees” is defined to include the following:

For CaliberCos Inc.

• officers who are not Section 16 officers,
• personnel who are director-level or above,
• sales managers,
• financial and accounting personnel,
• legal personnel,
• executive assistants to any of the foregoing, and
• any other personnel who have access to a material amount of the Company’s consolidated financial information, or other material

information about the Company, as determined by the Company’s CFO or legal department.

For subsidiaries

• subsidiary officers,
• any member of the subsidiary’s “executive team” as determined by the President of the Division that includes the subsidiary, and

communicated to the Company’s CFO or legal department,
• executive assistants to any of the foregoing, and
• any other subsidiary personnel who have access to (i) a material amount of the Company’s consolidated financial information, or (ii)

other material information about the Company, each as determined by the Company’s CFO or legal department.
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ANNEX A
MEMORANDUM

TO: Directors, Section 16 Officers, and “Restricted Employees” Subject to the Policy on Inside Information and Insider Trading (the
“Insider Trading Policy”) of CaliberCos Inc. and its Subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”)

Re: SEC Rule 10b5-1 Trading Arrangements

SEC Rule 10b5-1 protects Directors, Section 16 officers, and employees from insider trading liability under Rule 10b-5 for transactions under a
previously established contract, plan, or instruction. The rule presents an opportunity for insiders to establish arrangements to sell (or purchase)
Company stock without the sometimes arbitrary restrictions imposed by windows and blackout periods—even when there is undisclosed
material information. Such 10b5-1 arrangements may include blind trusts, other trusts, pre-scheduled stock option exercises and sales, pre-
arranged trading instructions, and other brokerage and third-party arrangements. A well-conceived program might also help reduce negative
publicity that can result when key executives or Directors sell. But there can be pitfalls.

Potential Pitfalls

First, the arrangement must satisfy the requirements of Rule 10b5-1. The plan must be documented, bona fide, and previously established (at a
time when the insider did not possess inside information) and must specify the price, amount, and date of trades or provide a formula or
mechanism to be followed.

Secondly, Rule 10b5-1 only provides an “affirmative defense” (which must be proven) in the event there is an insider trading lawsuit. It does
not prevent someone from bringing a lawsuit. And, it does not prevent the media from writing about the sales.

The Insider Trading Policy permits transactions that comply with Rule 10b5-1. The Company does not want to impede your ability to engage in
purchases or sales of Company stock (e.g., for financial and estate planning purposes). However, in order to reduce the risk of litigation and
bad press, and to preserve the hard-earned good name of our Company and our people, we have adopted procedural requirements that are
essentially an extension of the Company’s current pre-clearance procedure for transactions in Company stock:

Except in the case of an Immediate Trade for which pre-clearance is never required but for which notice must be given to the Chief Financial
Officer on the day of the transaction the Company must pre-approve any plan, arrangement, or trading instructions involving potential sales (or
purchases) or stock or option exercises and sales (including, but not limited to, blind trusts, discretionary accounts with banks or brokers, and
limit orders under a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan). You must still adhere to this prior approval procedure even when, for example, you are assured
that a major law firm has blessed the trading arrangement that a brokerage firm or bank may be suggesting. (Note that the actual transactions
effected pursuant to a pre-approved plan will not be subject to the Company’s blackout periods—except for Directors and Section 16 officers
during the two-week period prior to an earnings announcement by the Company and continuing until 48 business hours thereafter week—or
pre-clearance procedures for transactions in Company stock.)
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We will want to:

1. Review the Proposed Arrangement. We must satisfy ourselves that the arrangement will not place the Company’s good name or yours in
jeopardy.

2. Add Additional Safeguards. To reduce exposure, we will need to make sure, for example, that at the time you enter into an arrangement (or
at any time that you wish to amend or modify a prior instruction or plan), there is no material information about the Company that has
not been publicly disclosed. If there is undisclosed material information (even if you aren’t aware of it), you would need to wait until
that information has been disclosed. In addition, no trade can be made pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 trading plan by or on behalf of any
Section 16 officer or employee from (a) the date the Rule 10b5-1 trading plan (or any amendment or modification thereof) is cleared by
the Company’s Chief Financial Officer or legal department (or the Company’s Chief Executive Officer for the Chief Financial Officer
or legal department’s own Rule 10b5-1 trading plan) if such trading plan (or any amendment or modification thereof) is cleared by the
Company’s Chief Financial Officer, Chief Executive Officer, or legal department, as applicable, on a date that is during an open
window; or (b) the first day of the next open window if the Rule 10b5-1 trading plan (or any amendment or modification thereof) is
signed by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, Chief Executive Officer, or legal department, as applicable, on a date that is not
during an open window. A Director or a Section 16 officer may not trade, even in accordance with a previously approved Rule 10b5-1
trading plan, commencing on the first day of the two-week period prior to an earnings announcement by the Company and continuing
until 48 business hours thereafter. In general, the plans should also be established only during the Company’s released trading window
periods (the period beginning 48 business hours after the public release of the Company’s earnings and ending on the last business day
of the month before the end of each quarter).

3. Consider a Public Announcement . We will consider in each case whether public announcement of a trading plan should be made (via press
release, the Company’s website, or otherwise). In addition, when applicable, a statement should be included in your Forms 4 and 144
indicating that sales are pursuant to a pre-existing plan.

4. Establish Section 16, Rule 144, etc., Procedures with Parties. Also, we will need to establish a procedure with whoever is handling your
transactions to ensure the following:

a. Prompt filings of SEC Form 4 after transactions take place. Failure to file on time results in unwanted proxy statement disclosure of
filing violations by the selling director or executive;

b. Compliance with SEC Rule 144 at the time of any sale; and

c. Cessation of any sales during the pendency of material transactions or any other period when a lock-up is imposed on insiders.
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Some of the Opportunities

A pre-arranged trading program (in which your instructions are irrevocable), properly structured, can be a safer way to insulate Directors,
Section 16 officers, and employees from potential insider trading liability.

An Ongoing Periodic Sale Program

With a trading plan, for example, it becomes clearer to the investing public (and potential plaintiffs) that your sales are simply part of a pre-
established plan and are not being prompted by your knowledge of current developments within the Company, or your feelings about the
Company’s prospects. Indeed, for some executives who may have been reluctant to sell any stock for fear of the message it might send to the
market, Rule 10b5-1 may well present an opportunity to establish an acceptable diversification program. Pre-arranged sales over a period of
time would also reduce any argument by a plaintiff’s attorney that there was incentive at a particular time for the Company to manipulate
earnings or disclosures in connection with a Director, Section 16 officer, or employee’s sale.

Stock Option Exercises and Sales

A program could include instructions for periodic exercise/same-day sales of your stock options, which could be conditioned on a minimum
stock price established in your instructions. For example, you could specify that sales be limited to the number of shares necessary to cover the
option exercise price and taxes due.

Discretionary Accounts and Other Arrangements with Brokers

A true discretionary account (like a blind trust where the trustee has complete discretion) should satisfy Rule 10b5-1. Good-until-canceled
orders, as well as limit orders, should also work (as long as the instruction is not changed at a time when there is undisclosed material, inside
information). While discretionary accounts might work in theory, the Company would not be inclined to approve such an arrangement where
the broker has a close relationship with the executive/client that could undermine the affirmative defense in the event of litigation.

Derivatives Trading, Hedging, Pledging, and Margining Transactions

The Company prohibits Directors, Section 16 officers, employees, and any family members who reside in your household from engaging in
derivatives trading or hedging involving the Company’s securities or pledging or margining the Company’s common stock. Those types of
transactions can send a poor message to the marketplace about your belief in, and commitment to, the Company’s future.

A Final Word

There will be ongoing interpretations of what can and cannot be done. Needless to say, some brokers, investment bankers, and advisors may
approach you suggesting a variety of arrangements. Please do not forget: the Company’s prior approval is essential.  If you have any
questions, please contact the Company’s Chief Financial Officer or legal department.
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SUBSIDIARIES OF CALIBERCOS INC.

Name of Subsidiary State
44th & McDowell Hotel Group, LLC DE
44th and McDowell Holding, LLC DE
47th Street Phoenix Airport Manager, LLC AZ
47th Street Phoenix Airport, LLC DE
47th Street Phoenix Fund, LLC DE
47th Street Phoenix Mezzanine, LLC DE
Blue Spruce Ridge ManageCo, LLC AZ
Caliber Airport Investment Company, LLC DE
Caliber Airport Mezzanine, LLC DE
Caliber ARC1ManageCo, LLC DE
Caliber Auction Homes, LLC AZ
Caliber Companies, LLC AZ
Caliber Core+ Growth Income Fund GP, LLC DE
Caliber Development, LLC AZ
Caliber Fixed Income Fund III, LP DE
Caliber Hospitality Management Co. LLC DE
Caliber Hospitality, LLC AZ
Caliber Lending, LLC AZ
Caliber O-Zone Fund Manager, LLC AZ
Caliber Phoenix Airport Portfolio LLC DE
Caliber Realty Group, LLC AZ
Caliber Securities, LLC AZ
Caliber Services, LLC AZ
CBH 1 Phoenix MANAGECO, LLC AZ
CFIF III GP, LLC DE
CH Ocotillo Inv Fund LLC DE
CH Ocotillo Manager, LLC AZ
CH Ocotillo, LLC DE
CHPH Holdings LLC DE
CHPH Manager, LLC DE
CHPH, LLC DE
Circle Lofts Manager, LLC AZ
Commons ManageCo, LLC AZ
CRA Manager, LLC AZ
DFW Behavioral Health MANAGECO, LLC AZ
Diversified II GP, LLC DE
DT Mesa HOLDCO II, LLC AZ
DT Mesa MANAGECO, LLC AZ
Elliot & 51st Street Manager, LLC AZ
Elliot & 51st Street, LLC DE
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SUBSIDIARIES OF CALIBERCOS INC.

Name of Subsidiary State
Elliot 10 Fund, LLC DE
Encore ManageCo, LLC AZ
HI Hotel Manager, LLC AZ
IBHG, Inc. AZ
Indian Bend Hotel Group, LLC AZ
Ironwood ManageCo, LLC AZ
J-25 Development Group, LLC DE
Lorca ManageCo, LLC AZ
Northsight Crossing ManageCo, LLC DE
Olathe Behavioral Health ManageCo, LLC AZ
Pima Center MANAGECO, LLC AZ
Ridge II ManageCo, LLC DE
Riverwalk Development 1 ManageCo, LLC AZ
Riverwalk Development 2 ManageCo, LLC AZ
Riverwalk Development 3 ManageCo, LLC AZ
Riverwalk Development 4 ManageCo, LLC AZ
Riverwalk Development 5 ManageCo, LLC AZ
Riverwalk Land ManageCo, LLC AZ
Roosevelt III MANAGECO, LLC AZ
Roosevelt Tempe Manager, LLC AZ
Saddleback Ranch, LLC AZ
SF Alaska Manager, LLC DE
Southpointe FundCo, LLC DE
Southpointe HoldCo, LLC AZ
Southpointe ManageCo, LLC AZ
Southpointe MezzCo, LLC DE
Southridge ManageCo, LLC CO
TCC Hotel I, LLC DE
TCC Hotels Manager, LLC AZ
TCC Inv Fund I, LLC DE
Tucson East Holding LLC DE
Tucson East Manager, LLC AZ
Tucson East, LLC DE
West Frontier FundCo, LLC DE
West Frontier HoldCo, LLC AZ
West Frontier ManageCo, LLC AZ
West Frontier MezzCo, LLC DE
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-272078 on Form S-8 of our report dated April 15, 2024,
relating to the financial statements of CaliberCos Inc. appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Tempe, Arizona
April 15, 2024
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EXHIBIT 31.1
Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, John C. Loeffler, II, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of CaliberCos Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: April 15, 2024 By: /s/ John C. Loeffler, II
John C. Loeffler, II
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 31.2
Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Jade Leung, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of CaliberCos Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: April 15, 2024 By: /s/ Jade Leung
Jade Leung
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of CaliberCos Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, John C. Loeffler, II, Chief Executive Officer of CaliberCos Inc., certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss.1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Date: April 15, 2024 By: /s/ John C. Loeffler, II
John C. Loeffler, II
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of CaliberCos Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Jade Leung, Chief Financial Officer of CaliberCos Inc., certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss.1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Date: April 15, 2024 By: /s/ Jade Leung
Jade Leung
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 97.1

CaliberCos Inc.
Executive Officer Clawback Policy

Approved by the Board of Directors November 2023 (the “Adoption Date”)

I.    Purpose

This Executive Officer Clawback Policy describes the circumstances under which Covered Persons of CaliberCos Inc. and any of its direct or indirect subsidiaries (the
“Company”) will be required to repay or return Erroneously-Awarded Compensation to the Company.

This Policy and any terms used in this Policy shall be construed in accordance with any SEC regulations promulgated to comply with Section 954 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 and the rules adopted by Nasdaq.

Each Covered Person of the Company shall sign an Acknowledgement and Agreement to the Executive Officer Clawback Policy in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A as a
condition to his or her participation in any of the Company’s incentive-based compensation programs.

II.    Definitions

For purposes of this Policy, the following capitalized terms shall have the meaning set forth below:

(a)    “Accounting Restatement” shall mean an accounting restatement (i) due to the material noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting requirement under the
securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial restatements that is material to the previously issued
financial statements (a “Big R” restatement), or (ii) that corrects an error that is not material to previously issued financial statements, but would result in a material
misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period (a “little r” restatement).

(b)    “Adoption Date” shall have the meaning set forth under the title of this Policy.

(c)    “Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company.

(d)    “Clawback-Eligible Incentive Compensation” shall mean, in connection with an Accounting Restatement, any Incentive-Based Compensation Received by a Covered
Person (regardless of whether such Covered Person was serving at the time that Erroneously-Awarded Compensation is required to be repaid) (i) on or after the Nasdaq
Effective Date, (ii) after beginning service as a Covered Person, (iii) while the Company has a class of securities listed on a national securities exchange or national
securities association, and (iv) during the Clawback Period.

(e)    “Clawback Period” shall mean, with respect to any Accounting Restatement, the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the Restatement Date and any
transition period (that results from a change in the Company’s fiscal year) of less than nine months within or immediately following those three completed fiscal years.

(f)    “Committee” Compensation Committee of the Board.

(g)    “Company” shall have the meaning set forth in Section I above.

(h)    “Covered Person” shall mean any person who is, or was at any time, during the Clawback Period, an Executive Officer of the Company. For the avoidance of doubt,
Covered Person may include a former Executive Officer that left the Company, retired, or transitioned to an employee role (including after serving as an Executive
Officer in an interim capacity) during the Clawback Period.
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(i)    “Erroneously-Awarded Compensation” shall mean the amount of Clawback-Eligible Incentive Compensation that exceeds the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation
that otherwise would have been Received had it been determined based on the restated amounts. This amount must be computed without regard to any taxes paid.

(j)    “Executive Officer” shall mean the Company’s president, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer (or if there is no such accounting officer, the controller),
any vice-president in charge of a principal business unit, division, or function (such as sales, administration, or finance), any other officer who performs a policy-making
function, or any other person (including an officer of the Company’s parent(s) or subsidiaries) who performs similar policy-making functions for the Company. For the
sake of clarity, at a minimum, all persons who would be executive officers pursuant to Rule 401(b) under Regulation S-K shall be deemed “Executive Officers.”

(k)    “Financial Reporting Measures” shall mean measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing the Company’s
financial statements, and all other measures that are derived wholly or in part from such measures. For purposes of this Policy, Financial Reporting Measures shall
include stock price and total shareholder return (and any measures that are derived wholly or in part from stock price or total shareholder return).

(l)    “Incentive-Based Compensation” shall have the meaning set forth in Section III below.

(m)    “Nasdaq” shall mean The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC.

(n)    “Nasdaq Effective Date” shall mean October 2, 2023.

(o)    “Policy” shall mean this Executive Officer Clawback Policy, as the same may be amended and/or restated from time to time.

(p)    “Received” shall mean Incentive-Based Compensation received, or deemed to be received, in the Company’s fiscal period during which the Financial Reporting Measure
specified in the Incentive-Based Compensation is attained, even if the payment or grant occurs after the fiscal period.

(q)    “Repayment Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in Section V(d) below.

(r)    “Restatement Date” shall mean the earlier of (i) the date the Board, a committee of the Board, or the officers of the Company authorized to take such action if Board action
is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, or (ii) the date that a court,
regulator, or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare an Accounting Restatement.

(s)    “SARs” shall mean stock appreciation rights.

(t)    “SEC” shall mean the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

III.    Incentive-Based Compensation

“Incentive-Based Compensation” shall mean any compensation that is granted, earned, or vested wholly or in part upon the attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure.

For purposes of this Policy, specific examples of Incentive-Based Compensation include, but are not limited to:

• Non-equity incentive plan awards that are earned, wholly or in part, based on satisfaction of a Financial Reporting Measure performance goal;
• Bonuses paid from a “bonus pool,” the size of which is determined, wholly or in part, based on satisfaction of a Financial Reporting Measure performance goal;
• Other cash awards based on satisfaction of a Financial Reporting Measure performance goal;
• Restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance share units, stock options, and SARs that are granted or become vested, wholly or in part, on satisfaction of a

Financial Reporting Measure performance goal; and
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• Proceeds received upon the sale of shares acquired through an incentive plan that were granted or vested based, wholly or in part, on satisfaction of a Financial Reporting
Measure performance goal.

For purposes of this Policy, Incentive-Based Compensation excludes:

• Any base salaries (except with respect to any salary increases earned, wholly or in part, based on satisfaction of a Financial Reporting Measure performance goal);
• Bonuses paid solely at the discretion of the Committee or Board that are not paid from a “bonus pool” that is determined by satisfying a Financial Reporting Measure

performance goal;
• Bonuses paid solely upon satisfying one or more subjective standards and/or completion of a specified employment period;
• Non-equity incentive plan awards earned solely upon satisfying one or more strategic measures or operational measures; and
• Equity awards that vest solely based on the passage of time and/or satisfaction of one or more non-Financial Reporting Measures.

IV.    Determination and Calculation of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation

In the event of an Accounting Restatement, the Committee shall promptly (and in all events within ninety (90) days after the Restatement Date) determine the amount of any
Erroneously-Awarded Compensation for each Executive Officer in connection with such Accounting Restatement and shall promptly thereafter provide each Executive Officer
with a written notice containing the amount of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation and a demand for repayment or return, as applicable.

( a )    Cash Awards. With respect to cash awards, the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation is the difference between the amount of the cash award (whether payable as a lump
sum or over time) that was Received and the amount that should have been received applying the restated Financial Reporting Measure.

( b )    Cash Awards Paid From Bonus Pools. With respect to cash awards paid from bonus pools, the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation is the pro rata portion of any
deficiency that results from the aggregate bonus pool that is reduced based on applying the restated Financial Reporting Measure.

(c)    Equity Awards. With respect to equity awards, if the shares, options, or SARs are still held at the time of recovery, the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation is the number
of such securities Received in excess of the number that should have been received applying the restated Financial Reporting Measure (or the value in excess of that
number). If the options or SARs have been exercised, but the underlying shares have not been sold, the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation is the number of shares
underlying the excess options or SARs (or the value thereof). If the underlying shares have already been sold, then the Committee shall determine the amount which
most reasonably estimates the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation.

(d)    Compensation Based on Stock Price or Total Shareholder Return. For Incentive-Based Compensation based on (or derived from) stock price or total shareholder return,
where the amount of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in the applicable Accounting
Restatement, the amount shall be determined by the Committee based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Accounting Restatement on the stock price or total
shareholder return upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation was Received (in which case, the Committee shall maintain documentation of such determination of
that reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to Nasdaq in accordance with applicable listing standards).

V.    Recovery of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation

Once the Committee has determined the amount of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation recoverable from the applicable Covered Person, the Committee shall take all
necessary actions to recover the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, the Committee shall pursue the recovery of Erroneously-
Awarded Compensation in accordance with the below:
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(a)    Cash Awards. With respect to cash awards, the Committee shall either (i) require the Covered Person to repay the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation in a lump sum in
cash (or such property as the Committee agrees to accept with a value equal to such Erroneously-Awarded Compensation) reasonably promptly following the Restatement
Date or (ii) if approved by the Committee, offer to enter into a Repayment Agreement. If the Covered Person accepts such offer and signs the Repayment Agreement within
a reasonable time as determined by the Committee, the Company shall countersign such Repayment Agreement.

(b)    Unvested Equity Awards . With respect to those equity awards that have not yet vested, the Committee shall take all necessary action to cancel, or otherwise cause to be
forfeited, the awards in the amount of the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation.

(c)    Vested Equity Awards. With respect to those equity awards that have vested and the underlying shares have not been sold, the Committee shall take all necessary action to
cause the Covered Person to deliver and surrender the underlying shares in the amount of the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation.

In the event that the Covered Person has sold the underlying shares, the Committee shall either (i) require the Covered Person to repay the Erroneously-Awarded
Compensation in a lump sum in cash (or such property as the Committee agrees to accept with a value equal to such Erroneously-Awarded Compensation) reasonably
promptly following the Restatement Date or (ii) if approved by the Committee, offer to enter into a Repayment Agreement. If the Covered Person accepts such offer and
signs the Repayment Agreement within a reasonable time as determined by the Committee, the Company shall countersign such Repayment Agreement.

(d)    Repayment Agreement. “Repayment Agreement” shall mean an agreement (in a form reasonably acceptable to the Committee) with the Covered Person for the repayment
of the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation as promptly as possible without unreasonable economic hardship to the Covered Person.

( e )    Effect of Non-Repayment. To the extent that a Covered Person fails to repay all Erroneously-Awarded Compensation to the Company when due (as determined in
accordance with this Policy), the Company shall, or shall cause one or more other members of the Company to, take all actions reasonable and appropriate to recover such
Erroneously-Awarded Compensation from the applicable Covered Person. The applicable Covered Person shall be required to reimburse the Company for any and all
expenses reasonably incurred (including legal fees) by the Company in recovering such Erroneously-Awarded Compensation in accordance with the immediately
preceding sentence.

The Committee shall have broad discretion to determine the appropriate means of recovery of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation based on all applicable facts and
circumstances and taking into account the time value of money and the cost to shareholders of delaying recovery. However, in no event may the Company accept an
amount that is less than the amount of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation in satisfaction of a Covered Person’s obligations hereunder.

VI.    Discretionary Recovery

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company shall not be required to take action to recover Erroneously-Awarded Compensation if any one of the following
conditions are met and the Committee determines that recovery would be impracticable:

(i)    The direct expenses paid to a third party to assist in enforcing this Policy against a Covered Person would exceed the amount to be recovered, after the Company has made a
reasonable attempt to recover the applicable Erroneously-Awarded Compensation, documented such attempts, and provided such documentation to Nasdaq;

(ii)    Recovery would violate home country law where that law was adopted prior to November 28, 2022, provided that, before determining that it would be impracticable to
recover any amount of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation based on violation of home country law, the Company has obtained an opinion of home country counsel,
acceptable to Nasdaq, that recovery would result in such a violation and a copy of the opinion is provided to Nasdaq; or
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(iii)    Recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to employees of the Company, to fail to meet the
requirements of 26 U.S.C. 401(a)(13) or 26 U.S.C. 411(a) and regulations thereunder.

VII.    Reporting and Disclosure Requirements

The Company shall file all disclosures with respect to this Policy in accordance with the requirements of the federal securities laws, including the disclosure required by the
applicable filings required to be made with the SEC.

VIII.    Effective Date

This Policy shall apply to any Incentive-Based Compensation Received on or after the Nasdaq Effective Date.

IX.    No Indemnification

The Company shall not indemnify any Covered Person against the loss of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation and shall not pay, or reimburse any Covered Persons for
premiums, for any insurance policy to fund such Covered Person’s potential recovery obligations.

X.    Administration

The Committee has the sole discretion to administer this Policy and ensure compliance with Nasdaq Rules and any other applicable law, regulation, rule, or interpretation of the
SEC or Nasdaq promulgated or issued in connection therewith. Actions of the Committee pursuant to this Policy shall be taken by the vote of a majority of its members. The
Committee shall, subject to the provisions of this Policy, make such determinations and interpretations and take such actions as it deems necessary, appropriate, or advisable. All
determinations and interpretations made by the Committee shall be final, binding, and conclusive.

XI.    Amendment; Termination

The Board may amend this Policy from time to time in its discretion and shall amend this Policy as it deems necessary, including as and when it determines that it is legally
required by any federal securities laws, SEC rule, or the rules of any national securities exchange or national securities association on which the Company’s securities are then
listed. The Board may terminate this Policy at any time. Notwithstanding anything in this Section XI to the contrary, no amendment or termination of this Policy shall be
effective if such amendment or termination would (after taking into account any actions taken by the Company contemporaneously with such amendment or termination) cause
the Company to violate any federal securities laws, SEC rule, or the rules of any national securities exchange or national securities association on which the Company’s
securities are then listed.

XII.    Other Recoupment Rights; No Additional Payments

The Committee intends that this Policy will be applied to the fullest extent of the law. The Committee may require that any employment agreement, equity award agreement, or
any other agreement entered into on or after the Adoption Date shall, as a condition to the grant of any benefit thereunder, require a Covered Person to agree to abide by the
terms of this Policy. Any right of recoupment under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other rights under applicable law, regulation, or rule or pursuant to the
terms of any similar policy in any employment agreement, equity plan, equity award agreement, or similar arrangement and any other legal remedies available to the Company.
However, this Policy shall not provide for recovery of Incentive-Based Compensation that the Company has already recovered pursuant to Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act or other recovery obligations. From the date hereof, this Policy shall replace and supersede any prior standalone clawback policy of the Company.

XIII.    Successors

This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Covered Persons and their beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators, or other legal representatives.
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Exhibit A

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND AGREEMENT
TO THE

EXECUTIVE OFFICER CLAWBACK POLICY
OF

CALIBERCOS INC.

By signing below, the undersigned acknowledges and confirms that the undersigned has received and reviewed a copy of the CaliberCos Inc. Executive Officer Clawback
Policy (the “Policy”). Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined in this Acknowledgement and Agreement (this “Acknowledgement Form”) shall have the meanings
ascribed to such terms in the Policy.

By signing this Acknowledgement Form, the undersigned acknowledges and agrees that the undersigned is and will continue to be subject to the Policy and that the Policy will
apply both during and after the undersigned’s employment with the Company. Further, by signing below, the undersigned agrees to abide by the terms of the Policy, including,
without limitation, by returning any Erroneously-Awarded Compensation (as defined in the Policy) to the Company to the extent required by, and in a manner permitted by, the
Policy.

Signature

Name

Date
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